## Categories of Weight Modules for Unrolled Quantum Groups and Connections to Vertex Operator Algebras

by

Matthew Rupert

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Mathematics

## Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences Univerity of Alberta

© Matthew Rupert, 2020

### Abstract

Recently, numerous connections between the categories of modules  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} \mathcal{M}(r)$  for the singlet vertex operator algebra  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  at 2r-th root of unity have been established. This has led to the conjecture that these categories are ribbon equivalent. In this thesis, we focus on extending the known connections between the singlet vertex algebra and unrolled quantum groups to the  $B_r$  vertex algebra, and developing unrolled quantum groups in higher rank. In the first portion of this thesis, we use the conjectural ribbon equivalence between  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} \mathcal{M}(r)$  to identify algebra objects  $\mathcal{A}_r$  associated to the  $B_r$  vertex operator algebra and show that the properties of its category of local modules,  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r$ , compare nicely to that of  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} B_r$ .

For the second portion of this thesis, we begin by showing that the category of weight modules  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  associated to a simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  is generically semisimple and ribbon with trivial Müger center. We then construct families of commutative (super) algebra objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  and study their categories of local modules. Their irreducible modules are determined and conditions for these categories being finite, non-degenerate, and ribbon are derived. Among these commutative algebra objects are examples whose categories of local modules are expected to compare nicely to module categories of the higher rank triplet  $W_Q(r)$  and  $B_Q(r)$  vertex algebras. Lastly, we restrict to the case of  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . The structure and characters of irreducible modules are found.

### Preface

The content of Chapters 2, 3, and 4 are based on three articles

[ACKR] - J. Auger, T. Creutzig, S. Kanade, M. Rupert, Braided Tensor Categories related to Bp Vertex Algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. (2020).

[CRu] - T. Creutzig and M. Rupert, Uprolling Unrolled Quantum Groups, [arXiv:1910.05922].

[R] - M. Rupert, Categories of Weight Modules for Unrolled Restricted Quantum Groups at Roots of Unity, [arXiv:1910.05922].

Although the first two articles are coauthored, I was responsible for the majority of manuscript and proof writing. The content of Chapter 5 will appear in an article coauthored with Thomas Creutzig and David Ridout. I am responsible for the proofs appearing in this chapter.

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisor Thomas Creutzig for all of the time he has spent answering my questions and the insight he has provided throughout the course of my graduate studies, this work wouldn't have been possible without his guidance and advice. I would like to thank my wife, Prachi Loliencar, for all of her support, encouragement, and understanding. I would also like to thank the University of Alberta for providing an excellent learning environment, and I thank my supervisory committee.

# Contents

1	Introduction					
	1.1	Results	4			
		1.1.1 Chapter 2 - Braided tensor categories for $B_r$ vertex algebras $\ldots$	4			
		1.1.2 Chapter 3 - The category of weight modules for $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$	13			
		1.1.3 Chapter 4 - Algebra objects and simple currents in $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$	15			
		1.1.4 Chapter 5 - Projective modules for $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$	17			
		1.1.5 Connections to vertex operator algebras	22			
2	Bra	ided Tensor Categories for $B_r$ Vertex Operator Algebras	<b>25</b>			
	2.1	Preliminaries	25			
		2.1.1 Vertex Operator Algebras	30			
	2.2	The $B_r$ -algebra as a simple current extension	38			
	2.3	Modular data for typical modules	43			
		2.3.1 Typical modules	43			
	2.4	Modular data for atypical modules	50			
		2.4.1 Structure of Grothendieck rings	50			
		2.4.2 Comparison for odd $r$	54			
		2.4.3 Comparison for even $r$	58			
	2.5	The characters of $B_r$ and of a QH-reduction $\ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots \ldots$	60			
3	Cat	Categories of Weight Modules for Unrolled Restricted Quantum Groups				
at Roots of Unity						
	3.1	Preliminaries	66			
	3.2	The Unrolled Restricted Quantum Group $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$	67			
		3.2.1 Braid Group Action on $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$	70			
	3.3	Representation Theory of $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$	74			

		3.3.1 Categorical Structure	78
		3.3.2 Duality	82
4	Alg	ebra Objects and Simple Currents in $\operatorname{Rep}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})^{wt}$	86
	4.1	Preliminaries	86
	4.2	Simple Current Extensions	88
	4.3	Examples	96
		4.3.1 Braided Tensor Categories for $W_Q(r)$	100
		4.3.2 Braided Tensor Categories for $B_Q(r)$	101
5	Pro	jective modules for $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$	104
	5.1	Irreducible and Verma modules	104
	5.2	Projective Modules	111
	5.3	Tensor Structure	120

# Chapter 1

# Introduction

The unrolled quantum groups  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  associated to a finite dimensional simple complex Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  were initially introduced and studied, primarily at odd roots of unity, as examples for producing link invariants through their categories of weight modules (see [GP1, GP2, GPT1]). Further connections between the unrolled quantum groups, knot invariants, and topological quantum field theories have been explored in [BCGP, D, DGP]. The study of these quantum groups has favored odd roots of unity in part due to the belief that topological applications won't differ much from those at even roots of unity. Recently, however, interest in unrolled quantum groups at even roots of unity has grown due to their potential connections to vertex operator algebras.

Relationships between module categories of vertex operator algebras and quantum groups have been studied since the early 1990's, starting with the pioneering work of Kazhdan-Lusztig [KL1, KL2, KL3, KL4]. They gave a braided equivalence between module categories for affine Lie algebras and corresponding quantum groups. These module categories for affine Lie algebras were later realized as module categories over certain affine vertex operator algebras [Fi, Zha, H5]. Motivated by logarithmic conformal field theory, the Kazhdan-Lusztig correspondence was explored in the context of the triplet vertex algebra  $\mathcal{W}(r)$  ( $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ ) and the restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$  at 2r-th root of unity through the work of Feigin, Gainutdinov, Semikhatov and Tipunin [FGST1, FGST2, FGST3, FGST4]. Stated therein was the conjecture that certain module categories over the triplet and restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  are ribbon equivalent, and an abelian equivalence for these categories was later proven by Nagatomo and Tsuchiya for arbitrary r [NT]. It turns out, however, that the category of modules for the restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  is not braidable for r > 2 [KS], while the triplet's module category is braided, so there cannot be a ribbon equivalence between these categories. Progress on this problem was made by Creutzig, Gainutdinov, and Runkel in [CGR] via the construction of a factorizable quasi-Hopf modification  $\overline{U}_q^{\Phi}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  of  $\overline{U}_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ . This quasi-Hopf algebra was reconstructed as the quantum group realizing the category of local modules of some algebra object in the category  $\mathcal{C}$  of weight modules for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ . This approach was motivated by recently established connections between  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and the singlet vertex algebra  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  [CMR]. In fact, it follows from the results of [CGR] that if the module categories of  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  and  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  are ribbon equivalent, then the module categories for  $\mathcal{W}(r)$  and  $\overline{U}_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  are ribbon equivalent as well.

The singlet vertex operator algebras  $\mathcal{M}(r)$   $(r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2})$  are a very prominent family of VOAs studied by many authors [A1, AM1, AM2, AM4, CM2, CMW]. The fusion rules for  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ are known only for r = 2, but there is a conjecture for r > 2 [CM1]. It has been shown (see [CMR]) that if the fusion rules are as conjectured, then there exists an identification

$$\phi: \operatorname{Irr}(\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})) \to \operatorname{Irr}(\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle}\mathcal{M}(r))$$
(1.0.1)

between sets of irreducible modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and the category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} \mathcal{M}(r)$  of modules generated by irreducible  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  modules, which induces an isomorphism of Grothendieck rings. This map can be extended to indecomposables in a way which preserves Loewy diagrams [CGR] (see Definition 5.1.3). We also know [CMR, Theorem 1] that the regularized asymptotic dimensions of irreducible  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ -modules coincide exactly with normalized modified traces of open hopf links for the corresponding (under  $\phi$ )  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ -module. The map  $\phi$  was the key ingredient in the construction of the quasi-Hopf algebra  $\overline{U}_q^{\Phi}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  of [CGR]. There are a number of very interesting vertex algebras which can be constructed from the singlet, among them are the triplet  $\mathcal{W}(r)$  and  $B_r$  ( $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ ) vertex algebras. The techniques in [CGR] demonstrated that the relationship between the triplet and singlet could be exploited together with the map  $\phi$  to construct braided tensor categories which compare nicely to the representation category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} \mathcal{W}(r)$  generated by irreducible  $\mathcal{W}(r)$ -modules. Naturally, we expect the same to be true for the  $B_r$  vertex algebra, which is the subject of Chapter 2. Constructing the quasi-Hopf algebra which serves as a candidate for the Kazhdan-Lusztig dual of  $B_r$  is an interesting problem for future study.

The higher rank analogues of the singlet  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ , triplet  $\mathcal{W}(r)$ , and  $B_r$  vertex algebras were

introduced in [FT, C3, CM2] (see also [BM, Mi]) and are denoted by  $W_Q^0(r)$ ,  $W_Q(r)$ , and  $B_Q(r)$  respectively where Q is the root lattice of a simple finite dimensional complex Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  of ADE type and  $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ . Vertex algebras in higher rank are notoriously difficult. Recently, however, some of the Feigin-Tipunin conjectures have been solved by Shoma Sugimoto for the higher rank triplet algebra  $W_Q(r)$  [Su], and some connections to quantum groups have been explored by Lentner and Flandoli [Le, FL]. As in the rank one cases, their representation categories are expected to coincide with categories constructed from the category of weight modules of the corresponding unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  at 2r-th root of unity. Understanding this category is therefore prerequisite to many interesting problems relating to the  $W_Q^0(r)$ ,  $W_Q(r)$ , and  $B_Q(r)$  vertex operator algebras, and is the subject of Chapters 3, 4, and 5. We now briefly describe the contents of the thesis before stating results explicity.

Argyres-Douglas theories are 4-dimensional supersymmetric field theories associated to pairs of Dynkin diagrams. The  $B_r$  vertex operator algebras appear as chiral (vertex) algebras for Argyres-Douglas theories of type  $(A_1, A_{2r-3})$  [C3]. In Chapter 2 we construct and study a family of braided tensor categories associated to the  $B_r$  vertex algebras from the category of local modules of some corresponding algebra object. The categories constructed allow us to further probe the relationship between non-rational vertex algebras and quantum groups, and we test a conjectural Verlinde formula for the  $B_r$  algebras. Further, we show that the character of the  $B_r$  vertex operator algebra coincides with that of a Quantum-Hamiltonian reduction, as stated in [C2, Remark 5.6]. It has since been proven [ACGY, Theorem 12] that the  $B_r$  algebra is indeed a Quantum-Hamiltonian reduction, and the proof uses our result and additional results from [CHJRY].

The expected Kazhdan-Lusztig correspondence between vertex algebras and quantum groups occurs at even roots of unity, but most of the work done on unrolled quantum groups has been at odd roots of unity. It was shown in [GP1, GP2] that the category  $\mathcal{C} := \operatorname{Rep}_{wt} U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ (see Definition 3.3.1) of finite dimensional weight modules for  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  at odd roots is ribbon and generically semi-simple (see Definition 3.1.1). In Chapter 3, we study the category of weight modules  $\mathcal{C}$  for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  at arbitrary roots of unity and show that this category remains ribbon and generically semi-simple. We also establish certain self-duality properties of projective modules in  $\mathcal{C}$  with respect to an appropriate duality functor (see Subsection 3.3.2). These properties are used extensively in Chapter 5 to determine the structure of projective modules in the category of weight modules for  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . The braided tensor categories corresponding to the rank one triplet  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  and  $B_r$  vertex operator algebras are realized as categories of local modules for particular commutative algebra objects. In Chapter 4, we classify commutative algebra objects and supercommutative superalgebra objects built from simple currents (see subsection 2.1.1) in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  and study their categories of local modules. This yields a wealth of examples of non-degenerate ribbon categories of both finite and non-finite type. We take particular care with the examples which we expect to correspond to the higher rank vertex algebras  $W_Q(r)$  and  $B_Q(r)$ . We also expect that some of the categories constructed in this way should be closely related to the representation categories of quantum groups constructed in [N, GLO].

In Chapter 5 we specialize to the case of  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$  to study properties of projective covers of irreducible modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . We determine the structure of all irreducible modules and Loewy diagrams (see Definition 5.1.3) of Verma modules. The main result of this Chapter is a proof determining Loewy diagrams of all projective covers in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . This result is then used to determine tensor decompositions for all tensor products of irreducibles involving a projective irreducible module.

### 1.1 Results

We now present our results and then discuss further connections to vertex algebras in the following section. Readers unfamiliar with vertex algebras, quantum groups, or algebra objects in braided tensor categories may find it helpful to first read the background material in Subsection 2.1 of Chapter 2.

### **1.1.1** Chapter 2 - Braided tensor categories for $B_r$ vertex algebras

In this subsection, we summarise the results of Chapter 2 concerning the construction of braided tensor categories related to the  $B_r$  vertex operator algebra. These results are published in [ACKR]. Let r be a positive integer at least 2 and let  $q = e^{-\pi i/r}$ . Define the category  $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus} \boxtimes \operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  to be the Deligne product of a category  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus}$  of  $i\mathbb{R}$ -graded complex vector spaces (see Subsection 2.1.1 for details) and the weight category of the quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ .  $\mathcal{C}$  contains simple currents  $F_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H$  where  $\lambda_r$  satsifies  $\lambda_r^2 = -r/2$  and it is shown in Section 2.2 that the object in  $\mathcal{C}$  corresponding to  $B_r$  under the identification  $\phi$  of equation (1.0.1) is

$$\mathcal{A}_r := \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (\mathbf{F}_{k\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{kr}^H) \in \mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$$
(1.1.1)

where  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  denotes an appropriate direct sum completion of  $\mathcal{C}$  (see [AR]).  $\mathcal{A}_r$  is a commutative algebra object with unique (up to isomorphism) algebraic structure (see Proposition 2.2.2). Hence, one can define the corresponding representation categories of modules and local modules  $\operatorname{Rep}(\mathcal{A}_r)$  and  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  respectively (see Subsection 2.1.1). Since  $\mathcal{A}_r$  is a direct sum of simple currents, we can determine all simple local modules using the induction functor  $\mathscr{F}: \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Rep}\mathcal{A}_r$  of Definition 2.1.14. The categorical structure of  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  is determined in Proposition 2.2.6 and is completely inherited from  $\mathcal{C}$ . The following theorem lists simple and projective objects in  $\mathcal{C}$ , where we remark that  $V_{\alpha}$  denotes the Verma modules of highest weight  $\alpha + r - 1$  and  $S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell_r}^H$  are the non-projective irreducible modules for  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  with highest weight  $i + \ell r$  and dimension i + 1 (see Subsection 2.1 for details).

**Theorem 1.1.1.** The simple modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  are (with  $\lambda_r^2 := -r/2$  and  $\ddot{\mathbb{C}} := (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup r\mathbb{Z}$ )

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}} \text{ and } \gamma \lambda_{r} + \frac{\alpha + r - 1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z} , \qquad (1.1.2)$$

$$E_{\gamma,i,\ell}^{S} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_{i} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H})\right) \quad \text{with } i \in \{0, \dots, r-2\}, \ell \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } \gamma \lambda_{r} + \frac{i+r\ell}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(1.1.3)

We have families of indecomposable modules:

$$Q_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \notin \ddot{\mathbb{C}} \text{ and } \gamma \lambda_{r} + \frac{\alpha + r - 1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z} , \qquad (1.1.4)$$
$$Q_{\gamma,i,\ell}^{P} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (P_{i} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H})\right) \qquad \text{with } i \in \{0, \dots, r - 2\}, \ell \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } \gamma \lambda_{r} + \frac{i + \ell r}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (1.1.5)$$

with  $Q^P_{\gamma,i,\ell}$  being projective, and the above modules satisfy

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha}^V \cong E_{\gamma+k\lambda_r,\alpha+rk}^V, \qquad E_{\gamma,i,\ell}^S \cong E_{\gamma+k\lambda_r,i,\ell+k}^S, \tag{1.1.6}$$

$$Q_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} \cong Q_{\gamma+k\lambda_{r},\alpha+rk}^{V}, \qquad Q_{\gamma,i,\ell}^{P} \cong Q_{\gamma+k\lambda_{r},i,\ell+k}^{P}, \tag{1.1.7}$$

for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Given  $\alpha \notin \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$ , we can write  $\alpha = i + \ell r$  for some i = 1, ..., r - 1 and  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The

indecomposable modules admit the following Loewy diagrams (recall Definition 2.1.15):



The category  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  is a rigid monoidal category with tensor product  $\mathscr{F}(U) \otimes \mathscr{F}(V) \cong \mathscr{F}(U \otimes V)$ .  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  is also braided with braiding  $c_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\mathcal{A}_r}$  defined by

$$c^{\mathcal{A}_r}_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes c_{U,V}, \qquad (1.1.8)$$

where  $c_{U,V}$  is the braiding on  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  given by the product of the braidings on  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus}$  and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$ , where we have implicitly assumed the isomorphism  $\mathscr{F}(U) \otimes \mathscr{F}(V) \cong \mathscr{F}(U \otimes V)$ . If r is odd, then  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  has twist  $\theta_{\mathcal{A}_{r}}$  and Hopf links  $S_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\infty}$  given by

$$\theta_{\mathscr{F}(V)} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes \theta_V \tag{1.1.10}$$

$$\mathsf{S}^{\boldsymbol{\varpi}}_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)} = \mathsf{S}^{\boldsymbol{\varpi}}_{U,V} \tag{1.1.11}$$

where  $\theta_V$  and  $S_{U,V}^{\infty}$  are the twist and Hopf links respectively on  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$ , and we are viewing the Hopf links as the scalars by which they act.

#### The examples of the $\beta\gamma$ vertex operator algebra and $\mathbb{L}_{-4/3}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$

The  $B_r$ -algebra for r = 2 and r = 3 are the  $\beta\gamma$  vertex operator algebra and the affine vertex operator algebra  $\mathbb{L}_{-4/3}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$  at level -4/3, respectively. These vertex operator algebras have been studied in [A2, CR1, CR2, CR4, CRW, Ri, Ri2, Ri3, RW2]. We use the notation of [CRW]. These cases are of course the easiest, but also the most important for applications. We list their representation-theoretic data explicitly, including irreducibles, projectives, tensor product decompositions and braidings.

#### The $\beta\gamma$ vertex operator algebra

The  $\beta\gamma$  vertex operator algebra has modules  $\mathbb{E}^s_{\lambda}$ ,  $\mathbb{L}^s_0$  with  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}/\mathbb{Z}$ . The  $\beta\gamma$  vertex operator algebra itself is  $\mathbb{L}^0_0$  and this is the only highest-weight module. The  $\mathbb{E}^0_{\lambda}$  are the relaxed-highest weight modules. That is, their conformal weight is bounded below but the top level is infinite-dimensional. The superscript s denotes the twists of these modules by an automorphism called the spectral flow. Comparing with our notation we first set  $\lambda_2 = i = \sqrt{-1}$  and then under the conjectural quantum group to singlet vertex operator algebra equivalence one has

$$\mathbb{E}^{2s-1}_{\lambda} \leftrightarrow E^{V}_{\frac{2s-1-2\lambda}{2\sqrt{-1}},2\lambda} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{L}^{2s}_{0} \leftrightarrow E^{S}_{\frac{s}{\sqrt{-1}},0,0}.$$
(1.1.12)

We now list the data of  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{2})$  explicitly including tensor product decompositions and braidings. We have the set  $\ddot{\mathbb{C}} = (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Hence, the simple modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{2})$  are

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}, \text{ and } \frac{\alpha+1}{2} + i\gamma \in \mathbb{Z},$$
$$E_{\gamma,0,\ell}^{S} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{2\ell}^{H}) \qquad \text{with } i\gamma, \ell \in \mathbb{Z}.$$

We have families of indecomposable modules:

$$Q_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \in \mathbb{Z} - 2\mathbb{Z} \text{ and } \frac{\alpha+1}{2} + i\gamma \in \mathbb{Z} ,$$
$$Q_{\gamma,0,\ell}^{P} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (P_{0} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{2\ell}^{H})\right) \qquad \text{with } i\gamma, \ell \in \mathbb{Z},$$

where  $Q^P_{\gamma,0,\ell}$  is projective, and the above modules satisfy  $E^V_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong E^V_{\gamma+ik,\alpha+2k}$ ,  $E^S_{\gamma,0,\ell} \cong E^S_{\gamma+ik,0,\ell+k}$ ,  $Q^V_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong Q^V_{\gamma+ik,\alpha+2k}$ , and  $Q^P_{\gamma,0,\ell} \cong Q^P_{\gamma+ik,0,\ell+k}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The indecomposable modules satisfy the short exact sequences:

$$0 \to E_{\gamma,0,\ell}^S \to Q_{\gamma,1+2\ell}^V \to E_{\gamma,0,\ell+1}^S \to 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad 0 \to E_{\gamma,1+2\ell}^V \to Q_{\gamma,0,\ell}^P \to E_{\gamma,1+2(\ell-1)}^V \to 0.$$

The tensor decompositions for  $\mathcal{C}$  can be found in [CGP1, Section 8] and it then follows that

$$E^S_{\gamma_1,0,\ell_1} \otimes E^S_{\gamma_2,0,\ell_2} \cong E^S_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,0,\ell_1+\ell_2}$$
 and  $E^S_{\gamma_1,0,\ell} \otimes E^V_{\gamma_2,\alpha} \cong E^V_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha+2\ell}$ 

with  $\alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$ . For  $\alpha, \beta \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$  with  $\alpha + \beta \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$E_{\gamma_1,\alpha}^V \otimes E_{\gamma_2,\beta}^V \cong E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha+\beta-1}^V \oplus E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha+\beta+1}^V.$$

When  $\alpha + \beta = n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , set n = j + 2k with j = 0, 1 and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The tensor decompositions for these cases do not appear in [CGP1], but are easily computed from characters for p = 2, 3. If  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ ,  $n = 2\ell$ , we have

$$E^V_{\gamma_1,\alpha} \otimes E^V_{\gamma_2,\beta} \cong Q^P_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,0,\ell}$$

and if  $n = 1 + 2\ell$ , we have

$$E_{\gamma_1,\alpha}^V \otimes E_{\gamma_2,\beta}^V \cong E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,2\ell}^V \oplus E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,2(\ell+1)}^V$$

Let  $c_{X,Y}$  denote the braiding. We have

$$c_{\mathbf{F}_{\gamma_1}\boxtimes X, \mathbf{F}_{\gamma_2}\boxtimes Y} = c_{\mathbf{F}_{\gamma_1}, \mathbf{F}_{\gamma_2}}\boxtimes c_{X,Y} = e^{\pi i \gamma_1 \gamma_2} \mathrm{Id}\boxtimes c_{X,Y}.$$

The braiding restricted to a simple summand is a scalar which can be computed by acting with the braiding on a highest (or lowest) weight vector in the summand and we get

$$c_{E_{\gamma_1,0,\ell_1}^S, E_{\gamma_2,0,\ell_2}^S} = q^{2(\ell_1\ell_2 + \gamma_1\gamma_2)} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2,0,\ell_1 + \ell_2}^S} \quad \text{and} \quad c_{E_{\gamma_1,0,\ell}^S, E_{\gamma_2,\alpha}^V} = q^{\ell(\alpha+1)+2\gamma_1\gamma_2} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2,\alpha+2\ell}^V}.$$

For  $\alpha, \beta \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$  with  $\alpha + \beta \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$c_{E_{\gamma_{1},\alpha}^{V},E_{\gamma_{2},\beta}^{V}} = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+1)(\beta+1)+2\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+\beta+1}^{V}} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-1)(\beta-1)+2\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+\beta-1}^{V}}$$

If  $\alpha + \beta = 2\ell$ , we have

$$c_{E_{\gamma_{1},\alpha}^{V}\otimes E_{\gamma_{2},\beta}^{V}} = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+1)(\beta+1)+2\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},0,\ell}^{P}} \oplus n_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},0,\ell}^{P}}$$

for some nilpotent endomorphism  $n_{Q^P_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,0,\ell}}$  on  $Q^P_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,0,\ell}$ . If  $\alpha + \beta = 1 + 2\ell$ , we have

$$c_{E_{\gamma_1,\alpha}^V, E_{\gamma_2,\beta}^V} = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+1)(\beta+1)+2\gamma_1\gamma_2} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2, 2(\ell+1)}^V} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-1)(\beta-1)+2\gamma_1\gamma_2} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2, 2\ell}^V}$$

The affine vertex operator algebra  $\mathbb{L}_{-4/3}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$  at level -4/3 $\mathbb{L}_{-4/3}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  has modules  $\mathbb{E}^s_{\lambda}, \mathbb{L}^s_0, \mathbb{L}^s_{-2/3}$  with  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}/2\mathbb{Z}$ . As before s indicates the spectral flow twists of modules. The  $\mathbb{E}^0_{\lambda}$  are the relaxed-highest weight modules and the affine vertex operator algebra itself is  $\mathbb{L}^0_0$ . There are two more highest and lowest weight modules, namely  $\mathbb{L}^0_{-2/3}$  and  $\mathbb{L}^1_0$  are of highest-weight -2/3 and -4/3 while  $\mathbb{L}^{-1}_{-2/3}$  and  $\mathbb{L}^{-1}_0$  are of lowest-weight 2/3 and 4/3 (here the highest and lowest weights refer to the  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ -weights.). The identification with our modules is with  $\lambda_3 = \sqrt{-3/2}$  given by

$$\mathbb{E}^{s}_{\lambda} \leftrightarrow E^{V}_{\frac{2s-\lambda}{2\sqrt{-3/2}},\lambda} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{L}^{s}_{0} \leftrightarrow E^{S}_{\frac{s}{\sqrt{-3/2}},0,0} \quad \text{and} \quad \mathbb{L}^{s}_{-2/3} \leftrightarrow E^{S}_{\frac{2s+1}{\sqrt{-3/2}},1,0}.$$
(1.1.13)

We have  $\ddot{\mathbb{C}} = (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup 3\mathbb{Z}$ . The simple modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_3)$  are

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}} \text{ and } \alpha + 2 + \sqrt{6}i\gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z} ,$$
$$E_{\gamma,j,\ell}^{S} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_{j} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell p}^{H})\right) \qquad \text{with } j \in \{0,1\}, \ell \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } j + 3\ell + \sqrt{6}i\gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z} .$$

We have families of indecomposable modules:

$$Q_{\gamma,\,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}\right) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus 3\mathbb{Z} \text{ and } \alpha + 2 + \sqrt{6}i\gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z} ,$$
$$Q_{\gamma,\,j,\,\ell}^{P} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes \left(P_{j} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell p}^{H}\right)\right) \qquad \text{with } j \in \{0,1\}, \ell \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ and } j + 3\ell + \sqrt{6}i\gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z},$$

with  $Q^P_{\gamma,j,\ell}$  being projective, and the above modules satisfy  $E^V_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong E^V_{\gamma+i\sqrt{3/2}k,\alpha+3k}, E^S_{\gamma,j,\ell} \cong E^S_{\gamma+i\sqrt{3/2}k,j,\ell+k}, Q^V_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong Q^V_{\gamma+i\sqrt{3/2}k,\alpha+3k}$ , and  $Q^P_{\gamma,j,\ell} \cong Q^P_{\gamma+i\sqrt{3/2}k,j,\ell+k}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The reducible indecomposables satisfy the following short exact sequences:

$$0 \to E^S_{\gamma,2-j,\ell} \to Q^V_{\gamma,j+3\ell} \to E_{\gamma,j-1,\ell+1} \to 0 \qquad \text{and} \qquad 0 \to E^V_{\gamma,2-j+3\ell} \to Q^P_{\gamma,j,\ell} \to E_{\gamma,1+j+3(\ell-1)} \to 0$$

The tensor decompositions are as follows:

$$E_{\gamma_1,i,\ell_1}^S \otimes E_{\gamma_2,j,\ell_2}^S \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{k=|i-j|\\ \text{by } 2}}^{i+j} E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,k,\ell_1+\ell_2}^S \quad \text{and} \quad E_{\gamma_1,0,\ell}^S \otimes E_{\gamma_2,\alpha}^V \cong E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha+3\ell}^V.$$

Note that when i = j = 1 above, we have  $E_{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2, 2, \ell_1 + \ell_2}^S \cong E_{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2, 3(\ell_1 + \ell_2)}^V$ . When  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  or  $\alpha = 3\ell_2$ , we get

$$E_{\gamma_1,1,\ell}^S \otimes E_{\gamma_2,\alpha}^V \cong E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha+1+3\ell}^V \oplus E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha-1+3\ell}^V \quad \text{and} \quad E_{\gamma_1,1,\ell_1}^S \otimes E_{\gamma_2,3\ell_2}^V \cong Q_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,1,\ell_1+\ell_2}^P$$

respectively. For  $\alpha, \beta \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$  with  $\alpha + \beta \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$E_{\gamma_1,\alpha}^V \otimes E_{\gamma_2,\beta}^V \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{k=-2\\ \text{by } 2}}^2 E_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,\alpha+\beta+k}^V.$$

For  $\alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$ ,  $\alpha + \beta = n$  with  $n = 3\ell, 1 + 3\ell$ , and  $2 + 3\ell$ , we get

$$\begin{split} E^{V}_{\gamma_{1},\alpha} \otimes E^{V}_{\gamma_{2},\beta} &\cong Q^{P}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},0,\ell} \oplus E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3\ell} \\ E^{V}_{\gamma_{1},\alpha} \otimes E^{V}_{\gamma_{2},\beta} &\cong Q^{P}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},1,\ell} \oplus E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3(\ell+1)} \\ E^{V}_{\gamma_{1},\alpha} \otimes E^{V}_{\gamma_{2},\beta} &\cong Q^{P}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},1,\ell+1} \oplus E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3\ell} \end{split}$$

respectively. We immediately obtain the following braidings:

$$\begin{split} c_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1},0,\ell_{1}},E^{S}_{\gamma_{2},i,\ell_{2}}} &= q^{\frac{1}{2}3\ell_{1}(3\ell_{2}+i)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},i,\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}}} \\ c_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1},1,\ell_{1}},E^{S}_{\gamma_{2},1,\ell_{2}}} &= q^{\frac{1}{2}(3\ell_{1}+1)(3\ell_{2}+1)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3(\ell_{1}+\ell_{2})}} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(3\ell_{1}-1)(3\ell_{2}-1)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},0,\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}}} \\ c_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1},0,\ell},E^{V}_{\gamma_{2},\alpha}} &= q^{\frac{3\ell}{2}(\alpha+2)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+3\ell}} \\ c_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1},1,\ell}\otimes E^{V}_{\gamma_{2},\alpha}} &= q^{\frac{1}{2}(1+3\ell)(\alpha+2)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+1+3\ell}} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(-1+3\ell)(\alpha-2)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E^{V}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha-1+3\ell}} \\ c_{E^{S}_{\gamma_{1},1,\ell_{1}}\otimes E^{V}_{\gamma_{2},3\ell_{2}}} &= q^{\frac{1}{2}(1+3\ell_{1})(2+3\ell_{2})+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{Q^{P}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},1,\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}}} \oplus n_{Q^{P}_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},1,\ell_{1}+\ell_{2}}} \end{split}$$

with  $n_{Q_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,1,\ell_1+\ell_2}}$  a nilpotent endomorphism on  $Q_{\gamma_1+\gamma_2,1,\ell_1+\ell_2}^P$ . For  $\alpha, \beta \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$  with  $\alpha + \beta \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$c_{E_{\gamma_{1},\alpha}^{V},E_{\gamma_{2},\beta}^{V}} = q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)(\beta+2)+3\gamma_{2}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+\beta+2}^{V}} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-2)(\beta-2)+3\gamma_{2}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+\beta-2}^{V}} \\ \oplus \left(q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)(\beta-2)} + q^{\frac{1}{2}\alpha\beta} + q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-2)(\beta+2)}\right) q^{3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}} \mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},\alpha+\beta}^{V}}$$

For  $\alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$ ,  $\alpha + \beta = n$  with  $n = 3\ell, 1 + 3\ell$ , and  $2 + 3\ell$ , we get

$$\begin{split} c_{E_{\gamma_{1}.\alpha}^{V}\otimes E_{\gamma_{2},\beta}^{V}} &= \left(q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)\beta} + q^{\frac{1}{2}\alpha(\beta+2)}\right)q^{3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}\mathrm{Id}_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},0,\ell}^{P}} \oplus n_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},0,\ell}^{P}} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)(\beta+2)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}\mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3\ell}^{V}} \\ c_{E_{\gamma_{1}.\alpha}^{V}\otimes E_{\gamma_{2},\beta}^{V}} &= \left(q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)\beta} + q^{\frac{1}{2}\alpha(\beta+2)}\right)q^{3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}\mathrm{Id}_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},1,\ell}^{P}} \oplus n_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},1,\ell}^{P}} \oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)(\beta+2)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}\mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3(\ell+1)}^{V}} \\ c_{E_{\gamma_{1}.\alpha}^{V}\otimes E_{\gamma_{2},\beta}^{V}} &= \left(q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)(\beta-2)} + q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha\beta} + q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha-2)(\beta+2)}\right)q^{3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}\mathrm{Id}_{E_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{2},3\ell}^{V}} \\ &\oplus q^{\frac{1}{2}(\alpha+2)(\beta+2)+3\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}\mathrm{Id}_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{1},1,\ell+1}^{P}} \oplus n_{Q_{\gamma_{1}+\gamma_{1},1,\ell+1}^{P}} \end{split}$$

for some nilpotent endomorphisms on the projective modules  $Q^P$ .

#### Modularity and Verlinde's formula

We call the modules  $E_{\gamma,\alpha}^V$  typical and  $E_{\gamma,i,\ell}^S$  atypical. Modules of the  $B_r$ -algebra are bigraded by conformal weight and also by the weight of the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra. The graded trace of the corresponding  $B_r$  modules turns out to only make sense as a formal power series in the case of typical module characters as formal delta distributions appear. Using the ideas of [CR2, CR3] we can compute a modular S-transformation giving a certain function on the set of typical modules that we call S-kernel  $S^{\chi}$ .

The Verlinde algebra of characters generated by characters of atypical modules is shown to have a particular generating set which is closed under modular S-transformations. This generating set can be related to the semi-simplification of  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$ . For this, we recall that the semi-simplification of a category is the category obtained by quotienting negligible morphisms.

**Definition 1.1.2.** Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a rigid braided tensor category. Let M, N be objects, then a morphism  $f: M \to N$  is negligible if for every morphism  $g: N \to M$  the trace of  $f \circ g$  vanishes. The semisimplification  $\mathcal{C}^{ss}$  of  $\mathcal{C}$  is the category whose objects are those of  $\mathcal{C}$  but all negligible morphism are identified with the zero morphism. An object M is called negligible if the identity on M is a negligible morphism and in a rigid tensor category the subcategory  $\mathcal{N}$  whose objects are all negligible objects forms a tensor ideal.

Let  $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{C})$  be the Grothendieck ring (see Definition 4.5.2 [EGNO]) of  $\mathcal{C}$  and let  $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{N})$  be the Grothendieck ring of the ideal of negligible objects then we define the ring

$$\mathcal{G}^{\mathrm{ss}}(\mathcal{C}) := \mathcal{G}(\mathcal{C})/\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{N})$$

and we note that in general  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C})$  is a homomorphic image of  $\mathcal{G}(\mathcal{C}^{ss})$ .

The modular properties of characters of the  $B_r$ -algebra and Hopf links of  $\mathcal{C}$  are studied and compared in Sections 2.3 and 2.4. In Section 2.3, the modular *S*-matrix  $S^{\chi}$  coming from the modular action on characters for typical modules is computed and shown to agree with the *S*-matrix  $S^{\infty}$  coming from closed Hopf-links associated to typical modules in  $\mathcal{C}$  up to normalization in Proposition 2.3.2. To compare the atypical modules, the ring  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  of the category of local modules (those which are induced to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r$  by the induction functor) is derived in Proposition 2.4.1. The corresponding matrix  $S^{\infty}$  is derived and shown to agree up to normalization with the matrix  $S^{\chi}$  determined by the modular action on the Verlinde algebra of characters generated by atypical  $B_r$ -modules when r is odd (see Proposition 2.4.2). From this, the Verlinde formula immediately follows in Corollary 2.4.3. When r is even,  $B_r$ is half-integer graded and we instead compare modular properties associated to its integer part  $B_r^{\overline{0}}$ , showing again that the statement analagous to the following Theorem 1.1.3 holds.

**Theorem 1.1.3.** (Verlinde's formula) For the parametrization of atypical simples, refer to the discussion around (2.4.16).

1. (Proposition 2.3.2) The normalized modular S-matrix  $S^{\chi}$  and Hopf links  $S^{\infty}$  of typical modules coincide:

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{\mathbbm{1},(\nu',\ell')}} = \frac{\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{\mathbbm{1},(\nu',\ell')}}.$$

2. (Proposition 2.4.2) Let r be odd. The normalized modular S-matrix  $S^{\chi}$  and Hopf links  $S^{\infty}$  of atypical modules coincide:

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{1,(n,n')}} = \frac{\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{1,(n,n')}}$$

3. (Corollary 2.4.3) Let r be odd and let  $\Lambda_r$  be a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -basis of  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r)$  with structure constants  $N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(k,k')}$ . That is

$$(k, k') \times (s, s') = \sum_{(n, n') \in \Lambda_p} N^{(k, k')}_{(s, s'), (t, t')}(t, t')$$

for (k, k') and (s, s') in  $\Lambda_p$ . Then the Verlinde formula holds

(

$$\sum_{n,n')\in\Lambda_p} \frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\varpi}\mathsf{S}_{(t,t'),(n,n')}^{(m)}(\mathsf{S}^{\varpi})_{(n,n'),(k,k')}^{-1}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(n,n')}^{\varpi}} = N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(k,k')}$$

It was conjectured in [C2, Remark 5.6] that the  $B_r$  vertex operator algebra is a quantum Hamiltonian reduction of  $V_k(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1})$  at level  $k + r - 1 = \frac{r-1}{r}$ . Quantum Hamiltonian reductions are associated to nilpotent elements and the relevant nilpotent element f for us corresponds to the partion (r - 2, 1) of r - 1. We denote the corresponding simple Walgebra by  $W_k(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1}, f)$  and in Section 2.5, we show that the characters of these algebras coincide. That is, (Theorem 2.5.1):

**Theorem 1.1.4.** The characters of the  $B_r$ -algebra and of  $W_k(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1}, f)$  coincide for  $k = -r + 1 + \frac{r-1}{r}$ .

The problem of realizing  $B_r$  as a quantum Hamiltonian reduction has since been solved [ACGY, Theorem 12], and the above result is a necessary component of the proof, so we briefly outline the argument here. Since the Virasoro modules appearing in the decomposition of the  $B_r$ -algebra are uniquely determined by their character this Theorem actually says that the  $B_r$ -algebra and  $W_k(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1}, f)$  are isomorphic as modules for the tensor product of the Heisenberg and Virasoro vertex operator algebras. This means both are extensions of the same subalgebra and they coincide as modules for the subalgebra. We can therefore ask if such extensions are unique. Recent progress in [CHJRY] shows that the category of  $C_1$ -cofinite modules of the Virasoro algebra at any central charge has a vertex tensor category structure. Vertex tensor category structure on the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra is known [CKLR] and since vertex operator algebra extensions in a vertex tensor category are in one-to-one correspondence to commutative and associative algebra objects in the category by [HKL] the uniqueness question of vertex operator algebra extensions is equivalent to uniqueness of these algebra objects. This last point is proven in [ACGY], and as a consequence they obtain a proof that the  $B_r \cong W_k(\mathfrak{sl}_{r-1}, f)$  [ACGY, Theorem 12].

# 1.1.2 Chapter 3 - The category of weight modules for $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$

The correspondence between unrolled quantum groups and singlet vertex operator algebras occurs at even roots of unity, but the higher rank unrolled quantum groups have previously been studied only at odd roots of unity. In Chapter 3 we establish results necessary for the construction of the braided tensor categories which we expect to compare nicely to the higher rank vertex algebras  $W_Q^0(r)$ ,  $W_Q(r)$ , and  $B_Q(r)$ . Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be a finite dimensional complex simple Lie algebra. Let q be a primitive  $\ell$ -th root of unity,  $r = \frac{3+(-1)^\ell}{4}\ell$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  the category of finite dimensional weight modules for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  (see Definition 3.2.5 and the opening comments of Section 3.3). We describe in Section 3.2 how to construct the unrolled quantum groups as a semi-direct product  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g}) := U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes U(\mathfrak{h})$ of the Drinfeld-Jimbo algebra  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  and the universal enveloping algebra of the Cartan subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We also show that the action of the braid group  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$  (see Definition 3.2.3) extends naturally from  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  to  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  (Proposition 3.2.2):

**Proposition 1.1.5.** The action of the braid group  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$  on  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  can be extended naturally to the unrolled quantum group  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ .

This statement is known to some, but hasn't appeared in the literature to the author's knowledge. It has been shown previously (see [CGP2]) that there is a generically semi-simple structure (see Definition 3.1.1) on the category of weight modules over the restricted unrolled quantum group at odd roots of unity where  $\ell \notin 3\mathbb{Z}$  if  $\mathfrak{g} = G_2$ . The purpose of this restriction on the  $G_2$  case is to guarantee that  $gcd(d_i, r) = 1$  for all i = 1, ..., n where  $d_i = \frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha_i, \alpha_i \rangle$ . This condition fails at odd roots only for  $G_2$ , but for even roots all non ADE-type Lie algebras fail this condition for some choice of  $\ell$ . We show that when  $gcd(d_i, r) \neq 1$ , generic semi-simplicity can be retained if one quotients by a larger Hopf ideal (see Definition 3.2.5). In Subsection 3.3.1, we observe that  $\mathcal{C}$  being ribbon follows easily from the techniques developed in [GP2] as in the case for odd roots, and we show that  $\mathcal{C}$  has trivial Müger center (see Definition 3.1.2). We therefore have the following (Propositions 3.3.8, 3.3.10, and Corollary 3.3.9):

**Theorem 1.1.6.** C is a generically semi-simple ribbon category with trivial Müger center.

 $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  was studied at even roots of unity in [CGP1]. Stated therein ([CGP1, Proposition 6.1]) is a generator and relations description of the projective covers of irreducible modules. One apparent property of these projective covers is that their top and socle coincide. Showing that this is a general feature of projective covers in  $\mathcal{C}$  is the topic of Subsection 3.3.2. Let  $P^{\lambda}$  denote the projective cover of the irreducible module  $S^{\lambda} \in \mathcal{C}$ . We introduce a character preserving contravariant functor  $M \mapsto \check{M}$ , analogous to the duality functor for Lie algebras ([Hu, Subsection 3.2]). We are then able to prove the following theorem:

**Theorem 1.1.7.** The projective covers  $P^{\lambda}$  are self-dual under the duality functor. That is,  $\check{P^{\lambda}} \cong P^{\lambda}$ .

This theorem has the following corollaries (Corollary 3.3.15 and 3.3.16):

Corollary 1.1.8. • Socle $(P^{\lambda}) = S^{\lambda}$ .

- $P^{\lambda}$  is the injective Hull of  $S^{\lambda}$ .
- $\mathcal{C}$  is unimodular.
- $\mathcal{C}$  admits a unique (up to scalar) two-sided trace on its ideal of projective modules.

These results will be used extensively in Chapter 5 to determine the Loewy diagrams of projective covers for  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ .

# 1.1.3 Chapter 4 - Algebra objects and simple currents in $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_a^H(\mathfrak{g})$

As described in the introduction and Chapter 2, we can construct braided tensor categories which compare nicely to categories of modules for vertex operator algebras by studying appropriately chosen commutative algebra objects. In Chapter 4, we study families of commutative algebra and supercommutative superalgebra objects which are direct sums of simple currents. These families contain the algebra objects corresponding to the higher rank vertex algebras  $W_Q(r)$  and  $B_Q(r)$ , allowing us to make conjectures about their representation theory. Let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a braided tensor category. A simple object in  $\mathcal{B}$  is called a simple current if it is invertible with respect to the tensor product. The tensor product of two simple currents is a simple current, so the Grothendieck ring of the pointed subcategory of simple currents of  $\mathcal{B}$  is the group algebra of an abelian group. We assume this group is free and associate to it a lattice  $\mathcal{L}$  with quadratic form  $\langle -, -\rangle : \mathcal{L} \times \mathcal{L} \to \mathbb{Q}/\ell\mathbb{Z}$  for some fixed integer  $\ell$ . The simple current associated to  $\lambda$  in  $\mathcal{L}$  is denoted by  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$  and we assume this quadratic form determines the braiding of simple currents, e.g.  $c_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda},\mathbb{C}_{\mu}}(v_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu}) = q^{\langle \lambda, \mu \rangle} v_{\mu} \otimes v_{\lambda}$  for a primitive  $\ell$ -th root of unity q. For any lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ , define the object

$$\mathcal{A}_L := igoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_\lambda \in \mathcal{B}^\oplus$$

Then we have the following classification result:

**Theorem 1.1.9.**  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is an associative algebra object for all  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ .  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is commutative if and only if  $\sqrt{2/\ell} L$  is an even lattice, that is if and only if  $\langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  and  $2\langle \lambda, \mu \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda, \mu \in L$ .

Let  $L^{\mu} \subset \mathcal{L}$  be the lattice obtained by adding a generator  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}$  to a lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ . We can then define the associated algebra object  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}} := \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L^{\mu}} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$ , and we have the following proposition (Proposition 4.2.3 and Corollary 4.2.5):

**Proposition 1.1.10.** Let  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is commutative and  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}$  such that  $\mu \notin L$ and  $2\mu \in L$ , then  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is a superalgebra.  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is supercommutative if and only if

$$2\langle \mu, \mu \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z} \setminus 2\ell \mathbb{Z}$$
 and  $2\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$ 

for all  $\lambda \in L$ , and all supercommutative superalgebras  $A = A^{\bar{0}} \oplus A^{\bar{1}}$  which are direct sums of simple currents such that  $A^{\bar{0}} = \mathcal{A}_L$  for some lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$  and  $A^{\bar{1}}$  is a non-trivial simple object in Rep $A^{\bar{0}}$  take this form.

Given an additional assumption, which holds in the examples we consider, irreducible objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are given by the action of the induction functor  $\mathscr{F} : \mathcal{B} \to \operatorname{Rep}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  (Definition 2.1.14) on irreducibles in  $\mathcal{B}$  (Proposition 4.2.4):

**Proposition 1.1.11.** Suppose every indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{B}$  has a simple subobject. Then  $N \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is simple if and only if  $N \cong \mathscr{F}(M)$  for a simple object  $M \in \mathcal{B}$ .

The primary example we consider is the category of weight modules  $\mathcal{C}$  over the unrolled restricted quantum groups (see Definitions 3.2.1, 3.2.5 and 3.3.1) at root of unity q of order  $\ell \geq 3$ . The simple objects in  $\mathcal{C}$  are denoted by  $S^{\lambda}$  with  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  where  $\mathfrak{h} = \text{Span}\{H_1, ..., H_n\} \subset \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . This category admits projective covers for each irreducible module, which we denote by  $P^{\lambda}$ , and we have the following results for induction of projective and irreducible modules (Theorem 4.3.2):

#### Theorem 1.1.12.

- $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$  if and only if  $\lambda \in \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^{*}$ .
- Let  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  and let  $P_X \in C$  be the projective cover of X. Then  $\mathscr{F}(X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$  if and only if  $\mathscr{F}(P_X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ .
- $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda})$  is the projective cover of  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})$  in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ .
- The distinct irreducible objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are  $\{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})\}$ , where  $\Lambda(L^{\mu}) := \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^* / \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^* \cap L^{\mu}$ .  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is finite if and only if  $\operatorname{rank}(L^{\mu}) = \operatorname{rank}(P)$ .

Further, we can determine when the category of local modules is ribbon and has trivial Müger center (see Definition 3.1.2, Proposition 4.3.4):

**Proposition 1.1.13.** Let  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  be a supercommutative superalgebra, then

- Rep<sup>0</sup> $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is ribbon if  $2(1-r)\langle\lambda,\rho\rangle \in \ell\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda \in L$  and  $2(1-r)\langle\mu,\rho\rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ .
- Let  $r = 2\ell/(3 + (-1)^\ell)$ . If  $r \nmid 2d_i$ , for all i, then  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  has non-trivial Müger center if and only if there exists a  $\lambda \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})$  such that  $\langle \lambda, \gamma \rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\gamma \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})$ .

Note that the analogous results for commutative algebra objects are given by setting  $\mu = 0$ . In Subsections 4.3.1 and 4.3.2 of Chapter 3, we identify algebra objects  $\mathcal{A}_{rQ} \in \mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r} \in (\mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H})^{\oplus}$  where  $\mathcal{H}$  is an appropriate category of modules over the Heisenberg vertex algebra (see Subsection 4.1), which correspond to the  $W_Q(r)$  and  $B_Q(r)$  vertex operator algebras respectively. Their categories of local modules satisfy the following properties (Proposition 4.3.5 and 4.3.7):

- **Proposition 1.1.14.**  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  is a finite non-degenerate ribbon category (i.e. Log-Modular) with  $\det(A) \cdot r^{\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g})}$  distinct irreducible modules, where A is the Cartan matrix of  $\mathfrak{g}$ .
  - $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_{r}}$  is non-degenerate, ribbon if r is odd or  $\rho \in Q$ , and the irreducible modules are

 $\{\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}) \mid \mu, \gamma \in \mathfrak{h}^*, \text{ and } \mu + ra_r \gamma \in Q \}$ 

with relations  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}) \cong \mathscr{F}(S^{\mu+\lambda} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma+a_{r}\lambda})$  for all  $\lambda \in rP$ , where  $a_{r} = \sqrt{-1/r}$ .

### 1.1.4 Chapter 5 - Projective modules for $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$

In Chapter 5 we specialize to the case  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . Our main focus is to understand the structure of projective modules and tensor decompositions for tensor products involving projective Verma modules. To determine the Loewy diagrams of projectives (see Definition 5.1.3), we need to know the structure of the irreducible and Verma modules, which are denoted  $S^{\lambda}$  and  $M^{\lambda}$  respectively, where  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  is the highest weight. It follows from Propositions 3.3.4 and 3.3.6 that the irreducibility of  $M^{\lambda}$  is determined by the "typicality" of the scalars  $\lambda_k = \langle \lambda + \rho, \alpha_k \rangle$  (k = 1, 2) and  $\lambda_3 = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$  where  $\alpha_1, \alpha_2$  are the simple roots for  $\mathfrak{sl}_3$ , and we call  $\lambda_j$  typical if  $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z} \cup 2\mathbb{Z}$ . We call a weight  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  typical if all  $\lambda_j$  are typical, and atypical otherwise. Atypical weights with at least one typical scalar will sometimes be called semi-typical. It is easy to check that there are five distinct cases:

- 1.  $\lambda$  typical (all  $\lambda_j$  are typical),
- 2.  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z},$
- 3.  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,
- 4.  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,
- 5.  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

Each case yields a different structure for the irreducible modules  $S^{\lambda}$ . In fact, the Loewy diagrams of Verma modules and projective covers are also determined by the above cases. The structure of irreducible modules are as follows (Proposition 5.1.2):

**Proposition 1.1.15.** • If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 1$  and ch $[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda}$ .

• If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  with  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 4$  with

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$$

• If  $\lambda$  is semi-typical with atypical index  $\lambda_i$   $(i \in \{1, 2\})$ , then if  $j \neq i \in \{1, 2\}$ ,

$$\dim(S^{\lambda}) = 3 \qquad \operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_j} + z^{\lambda - (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)} \qquad \text{if } \lambda_j \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$\dim(S^{\lambda}) = 4 \qquad \operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_j} + z^{\lambda - (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_i - 2\alpha_j} \qquad \text{if } \lambda_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$$

• If  $\lambda$  is typical, then dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 8$  and

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{-}} \left(\frac{z^{2\alpha} - 1}{z - 1}\right)$$

From this, we can prove the following result (Proposition 5.1.4):

Proposition 1.1.16. The Loewy diagrams for Verma modules are as follows:





Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ .

Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ .





Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}.$ 





 $\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}.$ 

Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ 

Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

where left superscripts indicate the dimension of  $S^{\lambda}$ .

To determine the Loewy diagrams of projective modules  $P^{\lambda}$ , we must first determine the Verma modules which appear in its standard filtration (a standard filtration is one for which successive quotients are Verma modules). This is done using Proposition 1.1.16 to determine the multiplicity  $[M^{\mu}: L^{\lambda}]$  of  $L^{\lambda}$  in the composition series of  $M^{\mu}$  for every  $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ , and then applying BGG reciprocity (Proposition 3.3.12) to determine the multiplicity  $(P^{\lambda}: M^{\mu})$  of each  $M^{\mu}$  in the standard filtration for  $P^{\lambda}$ . Since we know the irreducible factors of each Verma module, we then know the irreducible factors which appear in the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$ . One then exploits the self-duality of projective covers (Theorem 1.1.7) via Lemma 5.2.2 along with the Loewy diagrams of Verma modules to determine which row each irreducible factor appears in, and many of the arrows for the diagram. One then completes the diagram by computing extension groups to determine missing arrows, which yields the following:



**Theorem 1.1.17.** The Loewy diagrams for the projective covers are as follows:

The diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  can be obtained by swapping  $\alpha_1 \leftrightarrow \alpha_2$  in the simple factors.



Applying this theorem together with the fact that projective modules with coinciding characters are isomorphic (Proposition 3.3.13), we can compute the tensor decompositions of the form  $S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}$  where  $M^{\mu}$  is projective.

**Proposition 1.1.18.** Let  $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$  with  $i \neq j$ . If  $\lambda_i \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_j \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then

$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$	when $\mu_i \in 2\mathbb{Z},  \mu_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$
$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_j}$	when $\mu_i \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z},  \mu_j \in 2\mathbb{Z}$
$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$	when $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$

For  $\lambda_i \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ , we get

$$\begin{split} S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{j}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{i}-2\alpha_{j}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \ \mu_{j} \in 2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{i}-2\alpha_{j}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} & \text{when } \mu_{1}, \mu_{2} \in 2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{j}-\alpha_{i}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j} \in 2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{j}-\alpha_{i}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j} \in 1+2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{j}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{i}-2\alpha_{j}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j} \notin \mathbb{Z} \end{split}$$

For  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_3 = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \qquad \text{If } \mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_2} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \qquad \text{Otherwise}$$

#### 1.1.5 Connections to vertex operator algebras

Extending the connections between  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and the rank one singlet, triplet, and  $B_r$  vertex operator algebras to the higher rank cases  $W_Q^0(r)$ ,  $W_Q(r)$ , and  $B_Q(r)$  is our primary motivation. As described in Subsections 4.3.1 and 4.3.2, the vertex operator algebras  $W_Q(r)$ and  $B_Q(r)$  can be identified with commutative algebra objects in  $(\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2))^{\oplus}$  and  $(\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \boxtimes \mathcal{H})^{\oplus}$  respectively where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the category of modules over the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra on which  $L_0$  acts semisimply (see Subsection 4.1), and  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  denotes the direct sum completion of  $\mathcal{C}$  (see [AR]). We expect that the module categories  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle}W_Q(r)$ and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle}B_Q(r)$  generated by irreducible  $W_Q(r)$  and  $B_Q(r)$  modules respectively to be ribbon equivalent to the categories of local modules over their corresponding algebra objects  $\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  and  $\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$ , and the structure of their categories of local modules are given in Proposition 1.1.14. We therefore make the following conjectures for the corresponding VOA categories:

#### Conjecture 1.1.19.

- 1.  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} \mathcal{W}_Q(r)$  is a finite non-degenerate ribbon category with  $\det(A) \cdot r^{\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g})}$  distinct irreducible modules, where A is the Cartan matrix of  $\mathfrak{g}$ .
- 2.  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} B_Q(r)$  is non-degenerate, ribbon if r is odd or  $\rho \in Q$ , and the irreducible modules can be indexed as

$$\{S^{\mu}_{\gamma} \mid \mu, \gamma \in \mathfrak{h}^*, \text{ and } \langle \lambda, \mu + ra_r \gamma \rangle \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } \lambda \in P \}$$

with relations  $S^{\mu}_{\gamma} \cong S^{\mu+\lambda}_{\gamma+a_r\lambda}$  for all  $\lambda \in rP$ , where  $a_r = \sqrt{-1/r}$ .

We remark that the number of irreducibles in the conjecture for  $W_{\mathfrak{sl}_3}(2)$  agrees with observations of Shoma Sugimoto that he presented in a seminar talk at the University of Alberta.

The  $B_{A_2}(2)$ -algebra is particularly interesting, as it is isomorphic to the simple affine vertex algebra of  $\mathfrak{sl}_3$  at level -3/2,  $L_{-\frac{3}{2}}(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$  [A3], which is the easiest case beyond rank one. The associated algebra object lives in the category ( $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3) \boxtimes \mathcal{H})^\oplus$ , so the results of Chapter 5 on the category of weight modules for  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$  will be useful for studying this category. The results of Chapter 5 will appear along with the construction of the category of local modules corresponding to  $B_{A_2}(2)$  and a comparison to  $L_{-\frac{3}{2}}(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$  in a future paper coauthored with Thomas Creutzig and David Ridout.

#### Verlinde's formula

We call a vertex operator algebra strongly rational if it is rational,  $C_2$ -cofinite, simple, and self-contragredient. Let  $M_0 = V, M_1, ..., M_n$  denote the inequivalent simple modules of a strongly rational vertex operator algebra V (recall that rational vertex algebras have finitely many simples). Then the torus one-point functions are the graded trace

$$ch[M_i](v,\tau) = tr_{M_i}\left(o(v)q^{L_0 - \frac{c}{24}}\right), \qquad q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$$
(1.1.14)

with  $o(v) \in \text{End}(M_i)$  the zero-mode corresponding to  $v \in V$  and c the central charge of the vertex operator algebra. They carry an action of the modular group [Zhu] and the modular S-transformation defines the modular S-matrix,  $S_{i,j}^{\chi}$  by

$$\operatorname{ch}[M_i]\left(v, -\frac{1}{\tau}\right) = \tau^k \sum_{j=0}^n \mathsf{S}_{i,j}^{\chi} \operatorname{ch}[M_j](v, \tau)$$
(1.1.15)

with k the modified degree of v [Zhu]. Denote by  $N_{ij}^k$  the fusion rules, i.e.

$$M_i \boxtimes_V M_j \cong \bigoplus_{k=0}^n N_{ij}{}^k M_k.$$
(1.1.16)

Then, Verlinde's formula says that

$$N_{ij}{}^{k} = \sum_{\ell=0}^{n} \frac{\mathsf{S}_{i,\ell}^{\chi} \mathsf{S}_{j,\ell}^{\chi} (\mathsf{S}^{\chi})_{\ell,k}^{-1}}{\mathsf{S}_{0,\ell}^{\chi}}.$$
 (1.1.17)

It was long expected from physics considerations that Verlinde's formula should hold for strongly rational vertex operator algebras [V, MS]. It can be shown that Verlinde's formula follows directly from the formula

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{i,j}^{\infty}}{\mathsf{S}_{0,j}^{\infty}} = \frac{\mathsf{S}_{i,j}^{\chi}}{\mathsf{S}_{0,j}^{\chi}} \tag{1.1.18}$$

with the Hopf links  $S_{i,j}^{\infty} = \operatorname{tr}_{M_i \boxtimes_V M_j} (c_{j,i} \circ c_{i,j})$  where the  $c_{i,j} : M_i \boxtimes_V M_j \xrightarrow{\cong} M_j \boxtimes_V M_i$  are the braiding isomorphisms, since in any finite rigid braided tensor category Hopf links satisfy

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{i,\ell}^{\varpi}}{\mathsf{S}_{0,\ell}^{\varpi}}\frac{\mathsf{S}_{j,\ell}^{\varpi}}{\mathsf{S}_{0,\ell}^{\varpi}} = \sum_{k=0}^{n} N_{ij}^{k} \frac{\mathsf{S}_{k,\ell}^{\varpi}}{\mathsf{S}_{0,\ell}^{\varpi}}$$
(1.1.19)

where  $\ell$  labels a simple object. Indeed, (1.1.17) follows directly from (1.1.18), (1.1.19), and invertibility of the Hopf link S<sup> $\infty$ </sup>-matrix in modular tensor categories. The famous Theorem of Yi-Zhi Huang says that (1.1.18) is true in any strongly rational vertex operator algebra [H1, H2, H3].

It is natural to ask for a variant of Verlinde's formula for vertex operator algebras with non semi-simple finite representation categories. The picture promoted in [CG1] is that there should still be a relation similar to equation (1.1.18) with some modifications: since traces on negligible objects vanish one then needs to replace Hopf links by modified Hopf links. That is, modified traces of double braidings. Similarly one also needs to take into account so-called pseudo trace functions of modules [Miy]. This picture is verified in examples based on conjectural correspondences to restricted quantum groups [CG1, CMR], see also [GR1, FGR] for further work on the Verlinde formula in this context, and [S2] for the categorical perspective.

In practice, most interesting vertex operator algebras (such as the affine vertex operator algebras at admissible level) have representation categories that are not even finite, they have uncountably many inequivalent simple objects. There exists a conjecture relating to Verlinde's formula for affine vertex operator algebras of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$  at admissible level by treating characters as formal distributions [CR2, CR3], see [RW1] for a review. This conjecture is open, except for some encouraging computations of fusion rules [Ga, Ri, AP] and a recent proof of a formula of type (1.1.18) for the finite subcategory of ordinary modules for all affine vertex operator algebras at admissible level [CHY, C1].

The conjectural Verlinde formula for the  $B_r$ -algebras is of the same type as admissible level affine  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$  and actually  $B_3$  is isomorphic to the affine vertex operator algebra of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$  at level -4/3. Assuming the quantum group correspondence between  $\mathcal{M}(p)$  and  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  to be correct, the results of Sections 2.3 and 2.4 in Chapter 2 verify that normalized Hopf links coincide up to complex conjugation with normalized modular  $S^{\chi}$ -coefficients, i.e. verify the appropriate analogue of equation (1.1.18) in this context.

# Chapter 2

# Braided Tensor Categories for $B_r$ Vertex Operator Algebras

The  $B_r$ -algebras are a family of vertex operator algebras parameterized by  $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 2}$ . They are important examples of logarithmic conformal field theories and appear as chiral algebras in Argyres-Douglas theories of type  $(A_1, A_{2r-3})$ . The first member of this series, the  $B_2$ -algebra, is the well-known symplectic bosons also often called the  $\beta\gamma$  vertex operator algebra. We study categories related to the  $B_r$  vertex operator algebras using their conjectural relation to unrolled restricted quantum groups of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ . These categories are braided, rigid and non semisimple tensor categories. We list their simple and projective objects, their tensor products and their Hopf links. The latter are succesfully compared to modular data of characters for the  $B_r$  vertex algebras. Assuming the categories we construct and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} B_r$  are indeed ribbon equivalent, this confirms a proposed Verlinde formula of Thomas Creutzig and David Ridout.

### 2.1 Preliminaries

The  $B_r$ -algebra can be realized as a direct sum of simple currents in the Deligne product of representation categories of the singlet and Heisenberg vertex operator algebras (see [C2],[CRW]). It was shown in [CMR] that there exists a bijection between a particular category of modules for the singlet and the category of weight modules for the unrolled restricted quantum group of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ ,  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ . Further structures as tensor products and open Hopf links were successfully matched with conjectural fusion products on the singlet algebra and asymptotic dimensions of characters, which led to the conjecture that these categories are equivalent as ribbon categories. Further evidence for this conjecture has been given in [CGR].

In this section we recall the definition of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and the structure of its category of weight modules, as seen in [CGP1]. We will also recall the definition of the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra and the category of modules we are interested in, as well as some preliminaries of algebra objects and simple currents.

### The unrolled restricted quantum group of $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ and its weight modules

Let  $r \geq 2$  be a positive integer and

$$q = e^{-\pi i/r} \tag{2.1.1}$$

a 2*r*-th root of unity. For any  $x \in \mathbb{C}$  we choose the notation

$$\{x\} = q^x - q^{-x}, [x] = \frac{\{x\}}{\{1\}}, \text{ and for any } n \in \mathbb{Z}, \{n\}! = \{n\}\{n-1\}...\{1\}.$$
 (2.1.2)

The Drinfeld-Jimbo algebra associated to  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ ,  $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  is the associative algebra over  $\mathbb{C}$  with generators  $E, F, K, K^{-1}$  and relations

$$KK^{-1} = K^{-1}K = 1, \quad KE = q^2 EK, \quad KF = q^{-2}FK, \quad [E, F] = \frac{K - K^{-1}}{q - q^{-1}}.$$

This algebra has a Hopf algebra structure given by a counit  $\epsilon : U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \to \mathbb{C}$ , a coproduct  $\Delta : U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \to U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \otimes U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ , and an antipode  $S : U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \to U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  defined by

$$\Delta(K) = K \otimes K, \qquad \epsilon(K) = 1, \qquad S(K) = K^{-1},$$
  

$$\Delta(E) = 1 \otimes E + E \otimes K, \qquad \epsilon(E) = 0, \qquad S(E) = -EK^{-1},$$
  

$$\Delta(F) = K^{-1} \otimes F + F \otimes 1, \qquad \epsilon(F) = 0, \qquad S(F) = -KF.$$

The unrolled quantum group of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ ,  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ , is defined by extending  $U_q(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  through the addition of a fifth generator H with relations

$$HK^{\pm 1} = K^{\pm 1}H, \qquad [H, E] = 2E, \qquad [H, F] = -2F.$$

The counit, coproduct, and antipode can be extended to  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  by defining

$$\Delta(H) = H \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes H, \qquad \epsilon(H) = 0, \qquad S(H) = -H.$$

The unrolled restricted quantum group of  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ ,  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ , is then obtained taking the quotient of  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  by the relations  $E^r = F^r = 0$ .

A finite dimensional  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$ -module V is called a weight module if it is a direct sum of its H-eigenspaces (H acts semisimply) and  $K = q^{H}$  as an operator on V. Let  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$  denote the category of weight modules for  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$ . A classification of simple and projective modules was given in [CGP1] as follows:

Given any  $n \in \{0, ..., r - 1\}$ , let  $S_n$  be the simple highest weight module of weight n and dimension n + 1 with basis  $\{s_0, ..., s_n\}$  and action

$$Fs_i = s_{i+1}, \quad Es_i = [i][n+1-i]s_{i-1}, \quad Hs_i = (n-2i)s_i, \quad Es_0 = Fs_n = 0.$$

For any  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C}$ , define  $V_{\alpha}$  to be the *p*-dimensional highest weight module of highest weight  $\alpha + r - 1$ , whose action is defined on a basis  $\{v_0, ..., v_{r-1}\}$  as

$$Fv_i = v_{i+1}, \quad Ev_i = [i][i - \alpha]v_{i-1}, \quad Hv_i = (\alpha + r - 1 - 2i)v_i, \quad Ev_0 = Fv_{r-1} = 0.$$

 $V_{\alpha}$  is called typical if  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} := (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup r\mathbb{Z}$  and atypical otherwise. The typical  $V_{\alpha}$  are simple since any basis vector  $v_i$  can generate a scalar multiple of every other basis vector through the action of E and F. If  $V_{\alpha}$  is atypical, then we have  $\alpha = rm + k$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and  $1 \leq k \leq r - 1$ . Hence,

$$Ev_{k} = -[k][k - (rm + k)]v_{k-1} = [k][rm]v_{k-1} = 0,$$

since  $\{rm\} = q^{rm} - q^{-rm} = (-1)^m - (-1)^{-m} = 0$ . So, when  $V_{\alpha}$  is atypical, it contains a simple submodule generated by the basis elements  $\{v_k, v_{k+1}, ..., v_{r-1}\}$ .

For any  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$ , let  $\mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H}$  denote the one dimensional module on which E and F act as zero and H acts as scalar multiplication by  $\ell r$ . Then the following holds

Proposition 2.1.1. [CGP1, Theorem 5.2 and Lemma 5.3]

- 1. The typical  $V_{\alpha}$  ( $\alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}} = \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z} \cup r\mathbb{Z}$ ) are projective.
- 2. Every simple module in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  is isomorphic to  $S_n \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H$  for some  $n \in \{0, ..., r-2\}$  and  $\ell \in \mathbb{Z}$  or  $V_{\alpha}$  for some  $\alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$ .

A weight vector v is called dominant if  $(FE)^2 v = 0$ . If v is a dominant weight vector of weight i, then we denote by  $P_i$  the module generated by v with no additional relations. This module's structure is given explicitly in [CGP1, Section 6], and the following proposition was proven therein:

**Proposition 2.1.2.** The module  $P_i$  is projective and indecomposable with dimension 2r. Any projective indecomposable module with integer highest weight  $(\ell + 1)r - i - 2$  is isomorphic to  $P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H$ .

If V is an object in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  with basis  $\{v_1, ..., v_n\}$ , then V has the obvious dual vector space  $V^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(V, \mathbb{C})$  with dual basis  $\{v_1^*, ..., v_n^*\}$  and action af(v) = f(S(a)v) for  $f \in V^*, a \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and S the antipode. The left duality morphisms are given by

 $\overrightarrow{\operatorname{coev}}_V : \mathbb{C} \to V \otimes V^*$  and  $\overrightarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_V : V^* \otimes V \to \mathbb{C}$ ,

where  $\overrightarrow{\operatorname{coev}}(1) = \sum_{i}^{n} v_i \otimes v_i^*$ , and  $\overrightarrow{\operatorname{ev}}(f \otimes w) = f(w)$ . Ohtsuki defined in [O] the *R*-matrix operator on  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  by

$$R = q^{H \otimes H/2} \sum_{n=0}^{r-1} \frac{\{1\}^{2n}}{\{n\}!} q^{n(n-1)/2} E^n \otimes F^n, \qquad (2.1.3)$$

where  $q^{H\otimes H/2}(v\otimes w) = q^{\lambda_v\lambda_w/2}v\otimes w$  for weight vectors v, w with weights  $\lambda_v$  and  $\lambda_w$ . The braiding on  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  is then given by the family of maps  $c_{V,W}: V\otimes W \to W\otimes V$  where  $c_{V,W}(v\otimes w) = \tau(R(v\otimes w))$  where  $\tau$  is the flip map  $w\otimes v \mapsto v\otimes w$ . Obtsuki also defined an operator  $\widetilde{\theta}_V: V \to V$  on each  $V \in \operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  by

$$\widetilde{\theta} = K^{r-1} \sum_{n=0}^{p-1} \frac{\{1\}^{2n}}{\{n\}!} q^{n(n-1)/2} S(F^n) q^{-H^2/2} E^n.$$
(2.1.4)

The twist  $\theta_V : V \to V$  is then given by the operator  $v \mapsto \tilde{\theta}^{-1}v$ . Rep<sub>wt</sub> $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  also admits compatible right duality morphisms

$$\begin{split} &\overleftarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_V : V \otimes V^* :\to \mathbb{C}, \qquad &\overleftarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_V (v \otimes f) = f(K^{1-p}v), \\ &\overleftarrow{\operatorname{coev}}_V : \mathbb{C} \to V^* \otimes V, \qquad &\overleftarrow{\operatorname{coev}}(1) = \sum_i K^{p-1} V_i \otimes v_i^*. \end{split}$$

The following Lemma was proved in [Ru, Proposition 6] using [CGP1] and will be used in multiple results:

**Lemma 2.1.3.** For any  $k \in \{1, ..., r - 1\}$  there are short exact sequences of modules

$$0 \to S_{r-1-k} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H} \to V_{k+\ell r} \to S_{k-1} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{(\ell+1)r}^{H} \to 0,$$
  
$$0 \to V_{r-1-i+\ell r} \to P_{i} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H} \to V_{1+i-r+\ell r} \to 0.$$

#### 2.1.1 Vertex Operator Algebras

Given a ring R, we denote by R[z], R[[z]], and R((z)) the space of formal R-valued polynomials, Taylor series, and Laurent series respectively. That is,

$$R[z] = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{n} r_i z^i | r_i \in R, n \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \right\}$$
$$R[[z]] = \left\{ \sum_{i=0}^{\infty} r_i z^i | r_i \in R \right\}$$
$$R((z)) = \left\{ \sum_{i=-m}^{\infty} r_i z^i | r_i \in R, m \in \mathbb{Z}_+ \right\}$$

Let V be a complex vector space, and  $\operatorname{End}(V)$  the collection of linear operators  $f: V \to V$ . The formal power series

$$A(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} A_n z^{-n}$$

with coefficients  $A_n \in \text{End}(V)$  is called a field if for all  $v \in V$ , A(z)v is a Laurent series, so

$$A(z)v = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} A_n(v) z^{-n} \in V((z)).$$

This is equivalent to stating that for all  $v \in V$ ,  $A_n v = 0$  for sufficiently large n(v). A  $\mathbb{Z}$ graded vector space is a vector space V such that  $V = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} V_n$  where each  $V_n$  is itself a vector
space. A linear operator  $f \in \text{End}(V)$  on a graded vector space V is said to be homogeneous
of degree m if  $f(V_n) \subset V_{n+m}$  for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and we denote the degree by deg f. A field A(z) is
then said to be homogeneous of conformal dimension m if each operator  $A_n$  is homogeneous
of degree m - n.

**Definition 2.1.4.** Two fields A(z) and B(w) are said to be local iff there exists an  $N \in \mathbb{Z}_+$  such that

$$(z - w)^{N}[A(z), B(w)] := (z - w)^{N} (A(z)B(w) - B(w)A(z)) = 0.$$
**Definition 2.1.5.** A vertex algebra is a vector space V equipped with the following objects:

- A distinguished vector  $|0\rangle$  called the vacuum vector.
- A linear operator  $T: V \to V$ .
- A linear operator  $Y(-,z): V \to \operatorname{End} V[[z^{\pm 1}]]$  which sends each element  $v \in V$  to a field  $Y(v,z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} v_{(n)} z^{-n-1}$ .

These objects are subject to the following constraints:

- For any  $v \in V$ , we have  $Y(v, z)|0\rangle \in V[[z]]$  where  $Y(v, z)|0\rangle|_{z=0} = v$  and  $Y(|0\rangle, z) = Id_V$ .
- For any  $v \in V$ ,  $[T, Y(v, z)] = \partial_z Y(v, z)$  and  $T|0\rangle = 0$ .
- All fields Y(v, z) are local with respect to each other.

A vertex algebra is called  $\mathbb{Z}$ -graded if  $V = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} V_n$  with  $|0\rangle \in V_0$ , T is a linear operator of degree 1, and for any  $v \in V_m$ , Y(v, z) has conformal dimension m i.e. deg  $v_{(n)} = -n + m - 1$ .

**Definition 2.1.6.** A vertex operator algebra, or conformal vertex algebra, of central charge  $c \in \mathbb{C}$  is a  $\mathbb{Z}$ -graded vertex algebra  $V = \bigoplus_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} V_n$  with a non-zero "conformal vector"  $\omega \in V_2$  such that the coefficients  $L_n$ ,  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  of the associated field:

$$Y(\omega, z) := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L_n z^{-n-2}$$

satisfy  $T = L_{-1}$ ,  $L_0|_{V_n} = n$ Id, and the defining relations of the Virasoro Lie algebra with central charge c. That is,

$$[L_n, L_m] = (n-m)L_{n+m} + \frac{n^3 - n}{12}\delta_{n, -m}c.$$

#### Heisenberg vertex operator algebra and its Fock modules

The rank-1 Heisenberg Lie algebra, denoted by  $\hat{\mathfrak{h}}$ , has vector space basis given by  $\{\mathbf{c}, b_n | n \in \mathbb{Z}\}$  and bracket

$$[\mathbf{c}, b_n] = 0$$
 and  $[b_n, b_m] = n\delta_{n+m,0}\mathbf{c}$ .

Let  $\widehat{\mathfrak{h}}_{\pm} = \operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}} \{b_n \mid \pm n > 0\}$ . Let  $\mathcal{U}(\mathfrak{g})$  denote the universal enveloping algebra of any Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$ . Denote by  $\mathsf{F}_{\beta}$  the usual Fock space of charge  $\beta \in \mathbb{C}$  with vector space basis  $\mathcal{U}(\widehat{\mathfrak{h}}_{-})$  and  $\widehat{\mathfrak{h}}$ -action on an arbitrary element  $b \in \mathsf{F}_{\beta}$  given by

$$\mathbf{c} \cdot b = b,$$
  

$$b_0 \cdot b = \beta b,$$
  

$$b_n \cdot b = b_n b \quad \text{for all } n < 0,$$
  

$$b_n \cdot b = n \frac{\partial}{\partial b_{-n}} b \quad \text{for all } n > 0.$$

**Definition 2.1.7.** The Heisenberg vertex operator algebra  $H = (F_0, 1, Y, T, \omega)$  is given by the following data (see [FB, Chapter 2]):

- a  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ -gradation deg $(b_{j_1}\cdots b_{j_k}) = -\sum_{i=1}^k j_i$ ,
- a vacuum vector  $|0\rangle = 1$ ,
- a translation operator T defined by  $T(1)=0, [T, b_i]=-ib_{i-1},$
- vertex operators Y(-, z) defined by

$$Y(b_{j_1}\cdots b_{j_k},z) = \frac{:\partial_z^{-j_1-1}b(z)\cdots \partial_z^{-j_k-1}b(z):}{(-j_1-1)!\cdots (-j_k-1)!},$$

where : X(z)Y(z) : denotes the normally ordered product.

• a conformal vector  $\omega = b_{-1}^2$  of central charge 1.

If  $b' \in H$  and  $b \in F_{\beta}$  then H acts on  $F_{\beta}$  as b'(b) = Y(b', z)b as an extension of the action of  $\mathfrak{h}$ . We can therefore consider the representation category H-Mod generated by the Fock spaces. This category is rigid (contains duals) and has braiding and twist. The data is

1.  $\mathsf{F}^*_{\beta} \simeq \mathsf{F}_{-\beta}$ , (Duals) 2.  $\mathsf{F}_{\beta_1} \otimes \mathsf{F}_{\beta_2} \simeq \mathsf{F}_{\beta_1+\beta_2}$ , (Fusion/Tensor products) 3.  $c_{\mathsf{F}_{\beta_1} \otimes \mathsf{F}_{\beta_2}} = e^{\pi i \beta_1 \beta_2} \mathrm{Id}_{\mathsf{F}_{\beta_1} \otimes \mathsf{F}_{\beta_2}}$ , (Braidings) 4.  $\theta_{\mathsf{F}_{\beta}} = e^{\pi i \beta^2} \mathrm{Id}_{\mathsf{F}_{\beta}}$ , (Ribbon Twists)

Let  $\mathcal{H}^{\oplus}$  denote the category of  $\mathbb{C}$ -graded complex vector spaces with finite or countable dimension and let  $H_V: V \to V$  be the degree map on  $V := \bigoplus_{\nu \in \mathbb{C}} V_{\nu}$  given by  $H_V|_{V_{\nu}} = \nu \operatorname{Id}_{V_{\nu}}$ .  $\mathcal{H}^{\oplus}$  can be given a (non-unique) ribbon structure by defining the braiding c and twist  $\theta$  by

$$c_{U,V} := \tau_{U,V} \circ e^{\pi i H_U \otimes H_V}, \qquad (2.1.5)$$

$$\theta_V := e^{\pi i H_V^2} \mathrm{Id}_V, \tag{2.1.6}$$

where  $\tau_{U,V}$  is the usual flip map. Denote by  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus}$  the full tensor subcategory of  $\mathcal{H}^{\oplus}$  with purely imaginary index.  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus}$  is braided equivalent to the full subcategory of H-Mod whose simple objects are given by Fock modules  $\mathsf{F}_{iy}$  with  $y \in \mathbb{R}$ , or,  $iy \in i\mathbb{R}$  (see [CGR, Subsection 2.3] for details). The equivalence is given by identifying the usual Fock space  $\mathsf{F}_{iy}$  with the one dimensional vector space of degree iy,  $\mathsf{F}_{iy} := \mathbb{C}v_{iy}$ .

# The Singlet vertex operator algebra $\mathcal{M}(r)$ and its category of modules

Let  $r \in \mathbb{Z}_{>0}$  and  $L := \sqrt{2r}\mathbb{Z}$  an even lattice. The lattice VOA  $V_L := \bigoplus_{l \in L} \mathsf{F}_l$  associated to L can be constructed via the reconstruction theorem as outlined in [FB, Proposition 5.2.5]. Let  $e^{\gamma}(z)$  denote the usual fields associated to lattice vertex operator algebras:

$$e^{\gamma}(z) := S_{\gamma} z^{\gamma b_0} \exp\left(-\gamma \sum_{n < 0} \frac{b_n}{n} z^{-n}\right) \exp\left(-\gamma \sum_{n \ge 0} \frac{b_n}{n} z^{-n}\right),$$

where  $S_{\gamma}$  is the shift operator  $\mathsf{F}_{\beta} \to \mathsf{F}_{\beta+\gamma}$ . Define the screening operator  $\widetilde{Q} = e_0^{-\sqrt{\frac{2}{r}}}$  where  $e^{\gamma}(z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} e_n^{\gamma} z^{-n-1}$  is the expansion of  $e^{\gamma}(z)$ . The Singlet VOA is then defined as the kernel  $\mathcal{M}(r) := \operatorname{Ker}_{\mathsf{F}_0}(\widetilde{Q})$ . For  $k, s \in \mathbb{Z}, 1 \leq s \leq r$ , let  $\alpha_{k,s} = -\frac{k-1}{2}\sqrt{2r} + \frac{s-1}{\sqrt{2r}}$ . For s = r, the Fock space with  $\mathsf{F}_{\alpha_{k,s}}$  is simple as an  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ -module, which we denote by  $F_{\alpha_{k,s}}$ . When  $s \neq r$ ,  $F_{\alpha_{k,s}}$  is reducible and we define  $M_{k,s}$  to be the socle of  $F_{\alpha_{k,s}}$  which is known to be a simple  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ -module. Note that we are always working with the category of  $\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ -graded modules for the singlet. These and further results on the module categories for the singlet could be found in [A1] and [AM1] (see also of [CM1, Section 3.2]).

It is expected that the module categories of  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  and  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  are equivalent as monoidal (or perhaps braided) categories. This is motivated by the following statement proven in [CMR]:

**Proposition 2.1.8.** For  $\alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}} := (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup r\mathbb{Z}, i \in \{0, 1, \dots, r-2\}$  and  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ , consider the map

$$\varphi: V_{\alpha} \mapsto F_{\frac{\alpha+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}, \qquad \varphi: S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{kr}^H \mapsto M_{1-k,i+1}$$

$$(2.1.7)$$

between simple modules of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and the  $(\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\text{-graded})$  simple modules for  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  singlet vertex operator algebra. This map satisfies the following properties:

- 1. This map is a bijection of the sets of representatives of equivalence classes (under isomorphisms) of simple modules.
- 2. Assuming the fusion rules for  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  are as conjectured in [CM1], this map induces an isomorphism from the Grothendieck ring of weight modules of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  to the conjectured Grothendieck ring of  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ .

A precise conjecture on the connection between the module categories of  $\mathcal{M}(r)$  and  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$  is given in [CMR, Subsection 3.1] and [CGR, Conjecture 5.8].

#### Simple currents and algebra objects

Conformal extensions of vertex operator algebras can be studied efficiently via the notion of (super)commutative algebra objects in vertex tensor categories. The representation category for the extended vertex operator (super)algebra then corresponds to the category of local modules for the corresponding (super)commutative algebra object. This program has been developed in [KO, HKL, CKM]. It works particularly well for simple current extensions [CKL, CKLR]. For us, we are interested in algebra objects built as direct sums of simple currents which correspond to some vertex operator algebra under the identification in Proposition 2.1.8, or its higher rank analogue.

**Definition 2.1.9.** A simple current is a simple object which is invertible with respect to the tensor product. Objects which are their own inverse are called self-dual.

**Definition 2.1.10.** A commutative associative unital algebra (or just algebra, for short) in a braided monoidal category C is an object A in C with multiplication morphism  $\mu : A \otimes A \to A$  and unit  $\iota : \mathbb{1} \to A$  with the following assumptions:

- Associativity:  $\mu \circ (\mu \otimes \mathrm{Id}_A) = \mu \circ (\mathrm{Id}_A \otimes \mu) \circ a_{A,A,A}$  where  $a_{A,A,A} : (A \otimes A) \otimes A \to A \otimes (A \otimes A)$  is the associativity isomorphism.
- Unit:  $\mu \circ (\iota \otimes \mathrm{Id}_A) \circ l_A^{-1} = \mathrm{Id}_A$  where  $l_A : \mathbb{1} \otimes A \to A$  is the left unit isomorphism.
- Commutativity:  $\mu \circ c_{A,A} = \mu$  where  $c_{A,A}$  is the braiding.
- (Optional assumption) Haploid: dim(Hom<sub> $\mathcal{C}$ </sub>( $\mathbb{1}, A$ )) = 1.

Supercommutative superalgebra objects are defined as follows:

**Definition 2.1.11.**  $A \in C$  is a superalgebra if it is an algebra with a  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading compatible with the product. That is,  $A = A^{\bar{0}} \oplus A^{\bar{1}}$  such that

$$\mu(A^{\overline{i}} \otimes A^{\overline{j}}) \subset A^{\overline{i+j}}.$$

A is supercommutative if for  $x\in A^{\bar{i}}, y\in A^{\bar{j}},$ 

$$\mu|_{A^{\bar{i}} \otimes A^{\bar{j}}} = (-1)^{ij} \cdot \mu \circ c_{A^{\bar{i}}, A^{\bar{j}}}.$$
(2.1.8)

We denote by RepA the category of objects  $(V, \mu_V)$  where  $V \in \mathcal{C}$  is an object in  $\mathcal{C}$  and  $\mu_V \in \text{Hom}(A \otimes V, V)$  is a  $\mathcal{C}$ -morphism satisfying the usual assumptions required to make V an A-module:

- $\mu_V \circ (\mathrm{Id}_A \otimes \mu_V) = \mu_V \circ (\mu \otimes \mathrm{Id}_A) \circ a_{A,A,V}^{-1}$ ,
- $\mu_V \circ (\iota \otimes \mathrm{Id}_V) \circ l_V^{-1} = \mathrm{Id}_V.$

Although C is braided, RepA need not be, but there is a full subcategory of RepA which is braided [KO]:

**Definition 2.1.12.** The category of local modules  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 A$  is the full subcategory of  $\operatorname{Rep} A$  whose objects are given by

$$\{(V,\mu_V)\in \operatorname{Rep} A \mid \mu_V \circ c_{V,A} \circ c_{A,V} = \mu_V\}$$

**Definition 2.1.13.** [CGR, Section 2] Let C be a tensor category with tensor identity  $\mathbb{1}$  and an algebra object A. A morphism  $\omega : A \otimes A \to \mathbb{1}$  is called a non-degenerate invariant pairing if

- 1. The morphisms  $A \otimes (A \otimes A) \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id} \otimes \mu} A \otimes A \xrightarrow{\omega} \mathbb{1}$  and  $A \otimes (A \otimes A) \xrightarrow{a_{A,A,A}^{-1}} (A \otimes A) \otimes A \xrightarrow{\mu \otimes \operatorname{Id}} A \otimes A \xrightarrow{\omega} \mathbb{1}$  coincide. (Invariance)
- 2. For any object V and morphism  $f : V \to A$  the equalities  $\omega \circ (f \otimes \mathrm{Id}_A) = 0$  or  $\omega \circ (\mathrm{Id}_A \otimes f) = 0$  both imply that f = 0. (non-degeneracy)

The notion of simplicity of an extended vertex operator algebra corresponds precisely to the corresponding algebra object having a non-degenerate invariant pairing. This is explained in the proof of Corollary 5.9 of [CGR]. The most well behaved modules in RepA are those

which can be obtained by induction.

**Definition 2.1.14.** Let  $\mathcal{C}$  be a category with algebra object A. The induction functor  $\mathscr{F}: \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Rep} A$  is defined by  $\mathscr{F}(V) = (A \otimes V, \mu_{\mathscr{F}(V)})$  where  $\mu_{\mathscr{F}(V)} = (\mu \otimes \operatorname{Id}_V) \circ a_{A,A,V}^{-1}$  (here  $\mu$  is the product on A) and for any morphism  $f, \mathscr{F}(f) = \operatorname{Id}_A \otimes f$ .

We also have a forgetful restriction functor  $\mathcal{G}$ : Rep  $\mathcal{A} \to \mathcal{C}$  that sends an object  $(X, \mu_X)$  to X. The induction and restriction functors satisfy Frobenius reciprocity:

$$\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(X, \mathcal{G}(Y)) \cong \operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Rep}A}(\mathcal{F}(X), Y)$$
(2.1.9)

for  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  and  $Y \in \operatorname{Rep} A$ .

It was shown in [CKL, Theorem 3.12] that in the module category of a vertex operator algebra V satisfying certain assumptions, certain (super)-algebra objects built from simple currents have (super)-vertex operator algebra structure and give a (super)-vertex operator algebra extension  $V_e$  of V. If the module category of V is sufficiently nice, then the category Rep<sup>0</sup>  $V_e$  (with  $V_e$  viewed as a categorical (super)-algebra object) is equivalent as a braided tensor category to the category of generalized modules of  $V_e$  (with  $V_e$  now viewed as a (super)-vertex operator algebra).

#### Loewy Diagrams

Recall that a filtration, or series, for a module M is a family of proper submodules ordered by inclusion as

$$0 = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_{n-1} \subset M_n = M.$$

Loewy diagrams are defined in terms of socle filtrations.

**Definition 2.1.15.** The socle filtration of M is the filtration defined by  $M_1 = Socle(M)$ (the socle of a module is its largest semi-simple submodule) and we inductively define  $M_k$ to be the largest submodule of M such that  $M_k/M_{k-1}$  is semi-simple. We define the Loewy diagram of M to be the diagram whose k-th layer from the bottom consists of composition factors of the semisimple module  $M_k/M_{k-1}$  with downward arrows indicating submodule inclusion.

# **2.2** The $B_r$ -algebra as a simple current extension

Let  $\mathcal{C} := \mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus} \boxtimes \overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$ -Mod be the Deligne product of  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus}$  (see subsection 2.1.1) and  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$ -Mod. The tensor product in this category is given by

$$(X \boxtimes Y) \otimes (X' \boxtimes Y') = (X \otimes X') \boxtimes (Y \otimes Y')$$

and the braiding, twist, and rigidity morphisms are given by the product of the corresponding morphisms in  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ -Mod and  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus}$ . Notice that for any  $\lambda \in i\mathbb{R}$ , we have

$$(\mathbf{F}_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{r}^{H}) \otimes (\mathbf{F}_{-\lambda} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{-r}^{H}) = \mathbf{F}_{0} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{0}^{H}.$$

Hence,  $F_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H$  is a simple current. In what follows, we choose a  $\lambda_r$  that satisfies

$$\lambda_r^2 = -\frac{r}{2}.\tag{2.2.1}$$

We can define an object  $\mathcal{A}_r$  of the extended category  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  (which allows infinite direct sums while retaining sufficient structure, see [AR]) by

$$\mathcal{A}_r := \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} (\mathbf{F}_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H)^{\otimes k} \cong \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathbf{F}_{k\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{kr}^H.$$
(2.2.2)

**Remark 2.2.1.** The  $B_r$ -algebra is a vertex operator algebra extension of  $\mathsf{H} \otimes \mathcal{M}(r)$  and it decomposes as an  $\mathsf{H} \otimes \mathcal{M}(r)$ -module as

$$B_r \cong \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathsf{F}_{kr} \boxtimes M_{1-k,1} \tag{2.2.3}$$

so that under the correspondence of Proposition 2.1.8 the  $B_r$ -algebra is the image of  $\mathcal{A}_r$ 

$$B_r = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathsf{F}_{kr} \boxtimes \varphi(\mathbb{C}_{kr}^H).$$
(2.2.4)

The following is a special case of [CGR, Proposition 2.15]. Note that the proof of that

Proposition is in Appendix A of that paper.

**Proposition 2.2.2.** [CGR, Proposition 2.15]  $\mathcal{A}_r$  can be given a structure of a commutative algebra object in  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  with non-degenerate invariant pairing. This structure is unique up to isomorphism.

We now give some criteria on analyzing certain objects in the category  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 A$  associated to an algebra object A in  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}}^{\oplus} \boxtimes \mathcal{C}$ .

**Lemma 2.2.3.** If  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  is simple, then  $\mathscr{F}(X) \in \operatorname{Rep} A$  is simple. If  $P \in \mathcal{C}$  is projective, then  $\mathscr{F}(P)$  is projective in  $\operatorname{Rep} A$ .

Proof. The first statement is [CKM, Proposition 4.4]. For the second, note that  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Rep} A}(\mathscr{F}(P), \bullet) = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(P, \bullet) \circ \mathcal{G}$  as functors, due to the Frobenius reciprocity of  $\mathscr{F}$  and  $\mathcal{G}$ . Our forgetful restriction functor  $\mathcal{G}$  is exact. Also,  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\mathcal{C}}(P, \bullet)$  is exact since P is projective. Therefore the functor  $\operatorname{Hom}_{\operatorname{Rep} A}(\mathscr{F}(P), \bullet)$  is exact, which proves that  $\mathscr{F}(P)$  is projective.

**Lemma 2.2.4.** If  $W \cong_{\mathcal{C}} \bigoplus_{\nu} F_{\nu} \boxtimes X_{\nu}$  is a simple object in Rep A then W is isomorphic to the induction of a simple object.

Proof. Pick and fix any  $\nu_0$  amongst the  $\nu$  appearing above, and pick a non-zero morphism  $f: S_{\nu_0} \to X_{\nu_0}$  where  $S_{\nu_0}$  is a simple module. Consider  $g: F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes S_{\nu_0} \xrightarrow{\operatorname{Id} \otimes f} F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes X_{\nu_0} \hookrightarrow \bigoplus_{\nu} F_{\nu} \boxtimes X_{\nu}$  which is a non-zero morphism as well. By Frobenius reciprocity, we obtain a non-zero morphism  $h: \mathscr{F}(F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes S_{\nu_0}) \to W$ .

Now, note that  $\mathscr{F}(F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes S_{\nu_0})$  as an object of  $\mathcal{C}$  decomposes as  $\bigoplus_k (F_{k\lambda_r+\nu_0}) \boxtimes (\mathbb{C}_{kr}^H \otimes S_{\nu_0})$ , where the summands are all (mutually inequivalent) simple objects due to the simple current property of  $F_{k\lambda} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{kr}^H$ . Now, [CKM, Proposition 4.4] applies and tells us that  $\mathscr{F}(F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes S_{\nu_0})$  is infact a simple Rep A object. Since W is simple with a non-zero morphism  $\mathscr{F}(F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes S_{\nu_0}) \to$ W, W is isomorphic to the induced object  $\mathscr{F}(F_{\nu_0} \boxtimes S_{\nu_0})$ .

**Theorem 2.2.5.** The following list of objects in  $\mathcal{C}$  induce to  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  by the induction functor  $\mathscr{F} : \mathcal{C} \to \operatorname{Rep}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$ :

- 1.  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}$  induces to  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  if and only if  $\alpha + r 1 + 2\lambda_{r}\gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ;
- 2.  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{\ell r})$  induces to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  if and only if  $i + \ell r + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ;
- 3.  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes (P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{\ell r})$  induces to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  if and only if  $i + \ell r + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

*Proof.* Recall from subsection 2.1.1 that given any  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes X \in \mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$ ,  $\mathscr{F}(F_{\gamma} \boxtimes X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0} \mathcal{A}_{r}$  iff

$$\mu_{\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma}\boxtimes X)} \circ M_{\mathcal{A}_r, \mathcal{F}_{\gamma}\boxtimes X} = \mu_{\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma}\boxtimes X)}$$

where  $\mu_{\mathscr{F}(F_{\gamma}\boxtimes X)} = (\mu \otimes \operatorname{Id}_{F_{\gamma}\boxtimes X}) \circ a_{\mathcal{A}_r,\mathcal{A}_r,F_{\gamma}\boxtimes X}^{-1}$  and  $M_{A,B} = c_{B,A} \circ c_{A,B}$  is the monodromy. By Proposition 2.2.2 we can, without loss of generality, assume that  $\mu(1_u \otimes 1_v) = 1_{u+v}$  in which case the above equation holds iff  $M_{\mathcal{A}_r,F_{\gamma}\boxtimes X} = \operatorname{Id}$ , but by Theorem 2.11 in [CKL] it is enough to check that  $M_{F_{\lambda_r}\boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H,F_{\gamma}\boxtimes X} = \operatorname{Id}$ . Note that we have

$$M_{\mathcal{F}_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H, \mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes X} = M_{\mathcal{F}_{\lambda_r}, \mathcal{F}_{\gamma}} \boxtimes M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, X}$$
(2.2.5)

where  $M_{\mathbf{F}_{\lambda_r},\mathbf{F}_{\gamma}} = q^{2r\lambda_r\gamma} \mathrm{Id}$  by (2.1.5). Recall that the braiding on  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ -Mod is given by  $\tau \circ R$  where  $\tau$  is the usual flip map and

$$R = q^{H \otimes H/2} \sum_{n=0}^{r-1} \frac{\{1\}^{2n}}{\{n\}!} q^{n(n-1)/2} E^n \otimes F^n.$$
(2.2.6)

Since the generating vector  $v_r \in \mathbb{C}_r^H$  satisfies  $Ev_r = Fv_r = 0$ , the braiding acts as  $\tau \circ q^{H \otimes H/2}$ and hence the monodromy  $M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, X}$  acts as  $q^{H \otimes H}$  on  $\mathbb{C}_r^H \otimes X$ . The endomorphism rings of  $V_{\alpha}$ and  $S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H$  are one dimensional, so the monodromies  $M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, V_{\alpha}}$  and  $M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H}$  must act as scalars on  $\mathbb{C}_r^H \otimes V_{\alpha}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_r^H \otimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H)$ , respectively. It follows by direct computation on the usual generators of these modules that

$$M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, V_\alpha} = q^{r(\alpha + r - 1)} \mathrm{Id}, \qquad (2.2.7)$$

$$M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell_r}^H)} = q^{r(i+\ell r)} \mathrm{Id}.$$
(2.2.8)

It follows that

$$M_{\mathcal{F}_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H, \mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}} = (-1)^{\alpha + r - 1 + 2\lambda_r \gamma} \mathrm{Id}, \qquad (2.2.9)$$

$$M_{\mathbf{F}_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H, \mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H)} = (-1)^{i+\ell r+2\lambda_r \gamma} \mathrm{Id}, \qquad (2.2.10)$$

and so  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}$  and  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H)$  lift to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r$  iff  $\alpha + r - 1 + 2\lambda_r \gamma, i + \ell r + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , respectively. The endomorphism ring of  $P_i$  (and hence the endomorphism ring of  $\mathbb{C}_r^H \otimes (P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H)$  is two-dimensional spanned by the identity and a nilpotent operator (see Theorem 6.2 in [CGP1]), but  $M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H}$  has no nilpotent part since it acts by  $q^{H \otimes H}$ , so it must act by a scalar multiple of the identity. Acting on the vector  $v_r \otimes (w_i \otimes v_{\ell r})$ , it is easily seen that

$$M_{\mathbb{C}_r^H, P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell_r}^H} = q^{r(i+\ell r)} \mathrm{Id}$$
(2.2.11)

and so

$$M_{\mathcal{F}_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H, \mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell_r}^H)} = (-1)^{i + \ell r + 2\lambda_r \gamma} \mathrm{Id}.$$
  
Therefore,  $\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell_r}^H)$  lifts iff  $i + \ell r + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}.$ 

The induction functor  $\mathscr{F} : \mathscr{C}^{\oplus} \to \operatorname{Rep}(\mathscr{A}_r)$  is a tensor functor by Theorem 2.59 in [CKM] and  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0} \mathscr{A}_r$  is a tensor subcategory of  $\operatorname{Rep} \mathscr{A}_r$ , so for any objects  $\mathscr{F}(U), \mathscr{F}(V) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathscr{A}_r)$ ,

$$\mathscr{F}(U) \otimes \mathscr{F}(V) \cong \mathscr{F}(U \otimes V).$$
 (2.2.12)

 $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  is rigid by Proposition 2.77 and Lemma 2.78 of [CKM], and by Proposition 2.67 of [CKM], the braiding  $c_{-,-}^{\mathcal{A}_{r}}$  on  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  satisfies the relation

$$\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes c_{U,V} = \mathscr{F}(c_{U,V}) = g_{V,U} \circ c_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\mathcal{A}_r} \circ f_{U,V}$$
(2.2.13)

where  $f_{U,V} : \mathscr{F}(U \otimes V) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{F}(U) \otimes \mathscr{F}(V)$  and  $g_{V,U} : \mathscr{F}(V) \otimes \mathscr{F}(U) \xrightarrow{\cong} \mathscr{F}(V \otimes U)$  are isomorphisms defined in Theorem 2.59 of [CKM]. Ultimately, we are interested in the scalars associated to the monodromy isomorphisms  $c_{\mathscr{F}(V),\mathscr{F}(U)}^{\mathcal{A}_r} \circ c_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\mathcal{A}_r}$ , therefore for calculation purposes, we ignore the f and g isomorphisms and simply take

$$c_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\mathcal{A}_r} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes c_{U,V}.$$
(2.2.14)

We compute that  $\theta_{(F_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{r}^{H})^{\otimes k}} = \mathrm{Id}_{(F_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_{r}^{H})^{\otimes k}}$  when r is odd, so  $\theta_{\mathcal{A}_{r}} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_{r}}$  for odd r, and hence by Corollary 2.82 and Theorem 2.89 in [CKM], we have

$$\theta_{\mathscr{F}(V)} = \mathscr{F}(\theta_V) = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes \theta_V$$
$$S^{\infty}_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)} = \varphi \circ (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes S^{\infty}_{U,V}) \circ \varphi^{-1}.$$

Using Lemmas 2.2.3 and 2.2.4, and exactness of the Deligne product and induction functor together with Lemma 2.1.3, we easily obtain the following Proposition:

**Proposition 2.2.6.** The simple modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  are

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}} \text{ and } \gamma \lambda_{r} + \frac{\alpha + r - 1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (2.2.15)$$

$$E_{\gamma,i,\ell}^{S} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes \left(S_{i} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H}\right)\right) \quad \text{with } i \in \{0, \dots, r-2\} \text{ and } \gamma\lambda_{r} + \frac{i+r\ell}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
 (2.2.16)

We have families of indecomposable modules:

$$Q_{\gamma,\alpha}^{V} = \mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha}) \qquad \text{with } \alpha \notin \ddot{\mathbb{C}} \text{ and } \gamma \lambda_{r} + \frac{\alpha + r - 1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z} , \qquad (2.2.17)$$

$$Q_{\gamma,i,\ell}^{P} = \mathscr{F}\left(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes \left(P_{i} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^{H}\right)\right) \quad \text{with } i \in \{0, \dots, r-2\} \text{ and } \gamma\lambda_{r} + \frac{i+\ell r}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad (2.2.18)$$

with  $Q^P_{\gamma,i,\ell}$  being projective, and the above modules satisfy  $E^V_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong E^V_{\gamma+k\lambda_r,\alpha+rk}$ ,  $E^S_{\gamma,i,\ell} \cong E^S_{\gamma+k\lambda_r,i,\ell+k}$ ,  $Q^V_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong Q^V_{\gamma+k\lambda_r,\alpha+rk}$ , and  $Q^P_{\gamma,i,\ell} \cong Q^P_{\gamma+k\lambda_r,i,\ell+k}$  for all  $k \in \mathbb{Z}$ . The indecomposable modules admit the following Loewy diagrams:





The category  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  is a rigid monoidal category with tensor product  $\mathscr{F}(U) \otimes \mathscr{F}(V) \cong \mathscr{F}(U \otimes V)$ .  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  is also braided with braiding  $c_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\mathcal{A}_{r}}$  defined by

$$c_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\mathcal{A}_r} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes c_{U,V},$$

where  $c_{U,V}$  is the braiding on  $\mathcal{C}_{\oplus}$  given by the product of the braidings on  $\mathcal{H}$ -Mod and  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{sl}_{2})$ -Mod. If r is odd, then  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{r})$  has twist  $\theta_{\mathcal{A}_{r}}$  and Hopf links  $S_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)}^{\infty}$  given by

$$\theta_{\mathscr{F}(V)} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_r} \otimes \theta_V, \tag{2.2.19}$$

$$\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{\mathscr{F}(U),\mathscr{F}(V)} = \mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{U,V} \tag{2.2.20}$$

where  $\theta_V$  and  $S_{U,V}^{\infty}$  are the twist and Hopf links respectively on  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$ , and we are viewing the Hopf links as scalars.

# 2.3 Modular data for typical modules

In this section we compute and compare the modular data for typical and atypical modules in  $B_r$  and  $\mathcal{C}$  through the correspondence  $\varphi : \operatorname{Rep}_{wt}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2) \to \operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle}\mathcal{M}(r), V_{\alpha} \mapsto F_{\frac{\alpha+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}, S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H \mapsto M_{1-\ell,i+1}$  of Proposition 2.1.8 found in [CMR].

#### 2.3.1 Typical modules

The typical modules in  $\mathcal{C}$  take the form  $\mathscr{F}(\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes V_{\alpha})$  for  $\alpha \in \mathbb{C} := (\mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup r\mathbb{Z}$ , which is associated to the  $B_r$ -Module

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha} := \mathscr{F}\left(\mathsf{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes F_{\frac{\alpha+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}\right) \tag{2.3.1}$$

through the above correspondence. Recall that  $\mathsf{F}_{\gamma}$  denotes the usual Fock space as a module of the Heisenberg VOA H, and  $F_{\frac{\alpha+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}$  as a module of the singlet VOA  $\mathcal{M}(r)$ . Note that by Theorem 2.2.5,  $E_{\gamma,\alpha} \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 B_r$  iff  $\gamma \lambda_r + \frac{\alpha}{2} + \frac{r-1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}$  and that since  $\gamma$  takes purely imaginary values, we are therefore forced to take  $\alpha \in (\mathbb{R} \setminus \mathbb{Z}) \cup r\mathbb{Z}$ . On the quantum group side,  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H$  induces to the algebra object  $\mathcal{A}_r$  under  $\mathscr{F} : \mathcal{C} \to \mathcal{A}_r$ -Mod, and on the VOA side,  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda_r} \otimes M_{0,1}$  induces to  $B_r$ . Therefore, we have

$$E_{\gamma,\alpha} \cong E_{\gamma+\lambda_r,\alpha+r}.\tag{2.3.2}$$

We re-parameterize the space of simple typicals with the following substitution:

$$\nu = \frac{2\alpha}{r}, \quad \ell = \gamma \lambda_r + \frac{\alpha}{2}. \tag{2.3.3}$$

Considering isomorphisms, our parameter space reduces to  $\ell + \frac{r-1}{2} \in \mathbb{Z}, \nu \in (-1, 1] \setminus \frac{2}{r}\mathbb{Z}$ . This re-parametrization is done to facilitate a comparison with [CR2] and [CR3] which correspond to r = 2 and r = 3 cases. The following  $S^{\chi}$  matrix calculations will also work with  $\nu \in (-1, 1]$ , and therefore, for what follows we work with this slightly larger parameter space. By abuse of notation, we still let  $E_{\nu,\ell} := E_{\gamma,\alpha}$ . For characters, we use the following convention:

$$\operatorname{ch}[\mathsf{F}_{\gamma}] = \frac{z^{-4\lambda_r \gamma/r} q^{\gamma^2/2}}{\eta(q)}$$
(2.3.4)

where  $z = e^{2\pi i \zeta}$ ,  $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$ . We introduce another variable  $y = e^{2\pi i \kappa}$  in the characters to have the S matrix come out nicely<sup>1</sup>. We multiply the characters by  $y^{-4/r} = e^{-8\pi i \kappa/r}$ . Under the S-transformations, we have:

$$\mathsf{S}: (\zeta, \tau, \kappa) \mapsto \left(\frac{\zeta}{\tau}, -\frac{1}{\tau}, \kappa - \frac{\zeta^2}{\tau}\right). \tag{2.3.5}$$

Lemma 2.3.1. Using the parametrisation (2.3.3) for the typical modules, their (super)characters

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Without this additional variable modular S-transformation would give a  $\zeta$  and  $\tau$  dependent prefactor, often called automorphy factor. The only purpose of y is to get rid of this factor.

are given by

$$ch[E_{\nu,\ell}](z;q) = \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r}}{\eta(\tau)^2} \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i\tau\ell^2/r} e^{\pi i(\nu-4\ell/r)m} \delta(2\zeta + \ell\tau - m) \qquad r \text{ odd}$$
(2.3.6)

$$\operatorname{sch}[E_{\nu,\ell}](z;q) = \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r}}{\eta(\tau)^2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z} + (1/2)} e^{2\pi i\tau\ell^2/r} e^{\pi i(\nu - 4\ell/r)m} \delta(2\zeta + \ell\tau - m) \qquad r \text{ even.}$$
(2.3.7)

*Proof.* Let r be odd. By construction, we have:

$$\operatorname{ch}[E_{\gamma,\alpha}](z;q) = \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r} \operatorname{ch}\left[\operatorname{F}_{\gamma+k\lambda_r}\boxtimes \operatorname{F}_{\frac{\alpha+(k+1)r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}\right]$$
$$= \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r} z^{-4\gamma\lambda_r/r-4k\lambda_r^2/r} q^{(\gamma+k\lambda_r)^2/2}}{\eta(\tau)} \frac{q^{\frac{1}{2}\left(\frac{\alpha+(k+1)r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}-\frac{\alpha_0}{2}\right)^2}}{\eta(\tau)}$$
$$= \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r} z^{-4\gamma\lambda_r/r} q^{\frac{\gamma^2}{2}+\frac{\alpha^2}{4r}}}{\eta(\tau)^2} \sum_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} z^{2k} q^{k(\gamma\lambda_r+\frac{\alpha}{2})}$$
$$= \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r} e^{2\pi i\zeta(-4\gamma\lambda_r/r)} e^{2\pi i\tau\left(\frac{\gamma^2}{2}+\frac{\alpha^2}{4r}\right)}}{\eta(\tau)^2} \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}} \delta(2\zeta+(\gamma\lambda_r+\alpha/2)\tau-m), \quad (2.3.8)$$

where our  $\delta$ -function is supported at 0. Passing to the  $\nu, \ell$  notation (2.3.3), we observe the following relations:

$$-4\lambda_r \gamma \zeta/r = \zeta \nu - 4\zeta \ell/r, \qquad (2.3.9)$$

$$\gamma^2/2 + \alpha^2/4r = -\ell^2/r + \nu\ell/2.$$
(2.3.10)

The expression for  $\operatorname{ch}[E_{\nu,\ell}](z;q)$  follows straightforwardly. For r even, we introduce a factor of  $e^{\pi i k}$  in the very first summation. The rest now follows similarly.

If r is odd, we set

$$S \{ \operatorname{ch}[E_{\nu,\ell}] \} = \frac{e^{-8\pi i (\kappa - \zeta^2/\tau)/r}}{\eta (-1/\tau)^2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-2\pi i \ell^2/r\tau} e^{\pi i (\nu - 4\ell/r)m} \delta\left(\frac{2\zeta - \ell - m\tau}{\tau}\right)$$
$$= \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau \eta(\tau)^2} e^{-8\pi i (\kappa - \zeta^2/\tau)/r} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{-8\pi i \zeta^2/r\tau} e^{2\pi i m^2 \tau/r} e^{\pi i \nu m} \delta\left(2\zeta - \ell - m\tau\right)$$
$$= \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau \eta(\tau)^2} e^{-8\pi i \kappa/r} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i m^2 \tau/r} e^{\pi i \nu m} \delta\left(2\zeta - \ell - m\tau\right)$$
(2.3.11)

and similarly if r is even,

$$\mathsf{S}\{\mathrm{sch}[E_{\nu,\ell}]\} = \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau\eta(\tau)^2} e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r} \sum_{m\in\mathbb{Z}+(1/2)} e^{2\pi im^2\tau/r} e^{\pi i\nu m} \delta\left(2\zeta - \ell - m\tau\right).$$
(2.3.12)

Regardless of the parity of r, let:

$$\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')} = \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{1}{2} e^{\pi i (4\ell\ell'/r - \ell\nu' - \ell'\nu)}. \tag{2.3.13}$$

Now we show that this S-matrix correctly gets us the S-transformations of the characters in the r odd case. In the r even case, the calculation is similar, except with characters replaced with supercharacters and summations over  $\mathbb{Z}$  now changed to summations over  $\mathbb{Z} + (1/2)$ .

$$\begin{split} &\sum_{\ell' \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{-1}^{1} \mathsf{S}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} \mathrm{ch}[E_{\nu',\ell'}] d\nu' \\ &= \sum_{\ell' \in \mathbb{Z}} \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{1}{2} e^{\pi i (4\ell\ell'/r - \ell\nu') \ell' \nu'} \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r}}{\eta(q)^2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i \tau \ell'^2/r} e^{\pi i (\nu' - 4\ell'/r)m} \delta(2\zeta + \ell'\tau - m) d\nu' \\ &= \sum_{\ell' \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} e^{\pi i (4\ell\ell'/r - \ell'\nu)} \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r}}{\eta(q)^2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i \tau \ell'^2/r} e^{\pi i (-4\ell'/r)m} \delta(2\zeta + \ell'\tau - m) \int_{-1}^{1} \frac{1}{2} e^{\pi i (\nu' m - \nu'\ell)} d\nu' \\ &= \sum_{\ell' \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} e^{\pi i (4\ell\ell'/r - \ell'\nu)} \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r}}{\eta(q)^2} \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} e^{2\pi i \tau \ell'^2/r} e^{\pi i (-4\ell'/r)m} \delta(2\zeta + \ell'\tau - m) \delta(\ell - m) \\ &= \sum_{\ell' \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} e^{\pi i (-\ell'\nu)} \frac{e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r}}{\eta(q)^2} e^{2\pi i \tau \ell'^2/r} \delta(2\zeta + \ell'\tau - \ell) \\ &= \sum_{m \in \mathbb{Z}} \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau\eta(q)^2} e^{-8\pi i\kappa/r} e^{\pi i m\nu} e^{2\pi i \tau m^2/r} \delta(2\zeta - m\tau - \ell) \\ &= \mathsf{S}^{\mathsf{X}} \{\mathsf{ch}[E_{\nu,\ell}]\} \,. \end{split}$$

All that remains now is to make an appropriate choice of normalisation. For this purpose, we obtain a resolution of the tensor identity  $S_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}_0^H$ , and by induction, a resolution of  $\mathcal{A}_r$  in terms of other typical modules through the short exact sequences from Lemma 2.1.3. We transfer this resolution to the vertex operator algebra side and obtain a character relation for  $B_r$  from Proposition 2.1.8.

Shifting the short exact sequence in Lemma 2.1.3 by  $(j, \ell) \rightarrow (j + 1, \ell - 1)$ , we can obtain a family of linked short exact sequences

$$0 \to S_{(r-2)-j_k} \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{(\ell_k-1)r} \to V_{(j_k+1)+(\ell_k-1)r} \xrightarrow{f_k} S_{j_k} \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{\ell_k r} \to 0, \qquad (2.3.15)$$

where  $(j_{k+1}, \ell_{k+1}) = (r - 2 - j_k, \ell_k - 1)$ . We therefore obtain a long exact sequence

$$\cdots \to V_{n_4} \xrightarrow{f_4} V_{n_3} \xrightarrow{f_3} V_{n_2} \xrightarrow{f_2} V_{n_1} \xrightarrow{f_1} V_{n_0} \xrightarrow{f_0} S_{j_0} \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{\ell_0 r} \to 0$$
(2.3.16)

where  $n_k = (j_k + 1) + (\ell_k - 1)r$ . We can take  $(j_0, \ell_0) = (0, 0)$ , tensor this sequence with  $F_0$ , and apply the induction functor (see Definition 2.1.14) and lastly, the correspondence in Proposition 2.1.8. This sends  $S_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}_0^H$  to  $B_r$ , so we obtain the following relation for the character of  $B_r$ :

$$ch[B_r] = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (-1)^m ch[Y_{n_m}] = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} (ch[Y_{n_{2m}}] - ch[Y_{n_{2m+1}}]), \qquad (2.3.17)$$

where  $Y_{n_m} = \mathscr{F}(\mathsf{F}_0 \boxtimes F_{\frac{n_m+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}})$  (recall that  $F_{\frac{n_m+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}$  corresponds to  $V_{n_m}$  through proposition 2.1.8). Note that by Theorem 2.2.5, the module  $\mathsf{F}_0 \boxtimes V_{n_m}$  lifts to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  through the induction functor iff  $n_m+r-1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Observe by a simple induction that with  $(j_0, \ell_0) = (0, 0)$ , the indices  $n_m$  satisfy

$$n_m = \begin{cases} 1 - (m+1)r & \text{for } m \text{ even} \\ -1 - mr & \text{for } m \text{ odd,} \end{cases}$$
(2.3.18)

so  $F_0 \boxtimes V_{n_m}$  lifts to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r$  and  $F_0 \boxtimes F_{\frac{n_m+r-1}{\sqrt{2r}}}$  lifts to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 B_r$  for all m and r. Adopting the

parametrisation (2.3.3) for the modules  $Y_{n_m}$  gives the following:

$$Y_{n_m} = \begin{cases} E_{\frac{2(1-(m+1)r)}{r}, \frac{1-(m+1)r}{2}} & \text{for } m \text{ even} \\ E_{\frac{2(-1-mr)}{r}, \frac{-1-mr}{2}} & \text{for } m \text{ odd.} \end{cases}$$
(2.3.19)

We write 1 for the  $B_r$ -algebra and obtain from (2.3.17) the relation

$$\mathsf{S}_{1,(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} = \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left( \mathsf{S}_{\left(\frac{2(1-(2m+1)r)}{r},\frac{1-(2m+1)r}{2}\right),(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} - \mathsf{S}_{\left(\frac{2(-1-(2m+1)r)}{r},\frac{-1-(2m+1)r}{2}\right),(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} \right).$$
(2.3.20)

By substituting (2.3.13) into (2.3.20) and simplifying, we deduce that

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{S}_{1,(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} &= \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left( e^{-\pi i \frac{1-(2m+1)r}{2}\nu'} - e^{-\pi i \frac{-1-(2m+1)r}{2}\nu'} \right) \\ &= \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{1}{2} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} \left( e^{\pi i (r-1)\frac{\nu'}{2}} e^{\pi i \frac{2mr}{2}\nu'} - e^{\pi i (r+1)\frac{\nu'}{2}} e^{\pi i \frac{2mr}{2}\nu'} \right). \end{split}$$

Setting  $x = e^{\pi i \frac{\nu'}{2}}$ , we see that

$$S_{1,(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} = \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{1}{2} \left( x^{r-1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} x^{2mr} - x^{r+1} \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} x^{2mr} \right).$$
$$= \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{x^r}{2} (x^{-1} - x) \sum_{m=0}^{\infty} x^{2mr}$$
(2.3.21)

Since x lies on the unit circle this sum is not convergent. If we infinitesimally deform x to lie within the unit circle, this sum converges to

$$\frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau}\frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{x - x^{-1}}{x^r - x^{-r}} .$$
 (2.3.22)

This is the motivation for our choice of normalisation factor  $\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{\mathbbm{1},(\nu',\ell')}$ , i.e. we define it to be

$$\mathsf{S}_{\mathbb{1},(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi} := \frac{|\tau|}{-i\tau} \frac{1}{2} \cdot \frac{x - x^{-1}}{x^r - x^{-r}}, \qquad (2.3.23)$$

where  $x = e^{\pi i \frac{\nu'}{2}}$ . As a further motivation we note that this type of regularization worked

very well in the Verlinde formula story of [CR2, CR3].

We will now compare the modular  $S^{\chi}$  matrix coming from modular transformations of characters for  $B_r$  with the  $S^{\infty}$  matrix coming from Hopf links in C for typical modules calculated on the quantum group side. These quantities agree up to normalised conjugation.

**Proposition 2.3.2.** The normalized modular S-matrix  $S^{\chi}$  and Hopf links  $S^{\infty}$  agree. That is,

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi}} = \frac{\mathsf{S}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')}^{\infty}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(\nu',\ell')}^{\infty}},\tag{2.3.24}$$

*Proof.* It follows from equation 2.3.13 and Definition 2.3.23 that the normalisation of  $S^{\chi}$  is given by

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(\nu',\ell')}^{\chi}} = \frac{x^{r} - x^{-r}}{x - x^{-1}} \cdot e^{\pi i (4\ell\ell'/r - \ell\nu' - \ell'\nu)}$$
(2.3.25)

where  $x = e^{\pi i \nu'/2}$ . Since the  $S^{\infty}$  matrix is preserved under induction, we just calculate it in the category C. The  $S^{\infty}$ -matrix for typical modules satisfies the relation

$$\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{\mathrm{F}_{\gamma_{1}}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_{1}},\mathrm{F}_{\gamma_{2}}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_{2}}} = \mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{\mathrm{F}_{\gamma_{1}},\mathrm{F}_{\gamma_{2}}}\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{V_{\alpha_{1}},V_{\alpha_{2}}} \tag{2.3.26}$$

where  $\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{\mathrm{F}_{\gamma_1},\mathrm{F}_{\gamma_2}} = e^{2\pi i \gamma_1 \gamma_2}$ . By Lemma 6.6 in [CGP1], we have

$$\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{V_{\alpha_1},V_{\alpha_2}} = (-1)^{r-1} r q^{\alpha_1 \alpha_2}, \qquad \mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{S_0,V_{\alpha_2}} = (-1)^{r-1} \frac{r\{\alpha_2\}}{\{r\alpha_2\}}. \tag{2.3.27}$$

Hence,

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_1}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_1},\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_2}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_2}}}{\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{\mathsf{F}_0\boxtimes S_0,\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_2}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_2}}} = e^{2\pi i\gamma_1\gamma_2}q^{\alpha_1\alpha_2}\frac{\{r\alpha_2\}}{\{\alpha_2\}}.$$
(2.3.28)

Setting  $(\nu_i, \ell) = (\frac{2\alpha_1}{r}, \lambda\gamma_1 + \frac{\alpha_1}{2}), (\nu', \ell') = (\frac{2\alpha_2}{r}, \lambda\gamma_2 + \frac{\alpha_2}{2}), x = e^{\pi i \nu'/2}$ , adopting the notation  $\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu',\ell')} = \mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_1}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_1},\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_2}\boxtimes V_{\alpha_2}}, \mathbb{1} = \mathsf{F}_0 \boxtimes S_0$ , and recalling that  $q = e^{-\pi i/r}$ , we easily see that

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{(\nu,\ell),(\nu'\ell')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{1,(\nu',\ell')}} = \frac{x^{r} - x^{-r}}{x - x^{-1}} \cdot e^{\pi i (4\ell\ell'/r - \ell\nu' - \ell'\nu)}$$

## 2.4 Modular data for atypical modules

Recall that by  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}$  we mean the quotient of the Grothedieck ring by the ideal of the Grothendieck ring formed by the negligible objects.

In this section we derive  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  for the category of local modules  $\mathcal{C}^0$  in  $\mathcal{C}$  (those which are induced to  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r$  by the induction functor). We also compute the corresponding  $S^{\infty}$ matrix and make a comparison with the matrix  $S^{\chi}$  coming from modular transformations of characters appearing in the Verlinde algebra of characters  $\mathcal{V}^{ss}(B_r)$  of the semisimplification of  $B_r$ -Mod. The Verlinde formula then follows from the standard categorical argument.

#### 2.4.1 Structure of Grothendieck rings

We start by determining structure of the underlying Grothendieck rings.

**Proposition 2.4.1.**  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  has a  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ -basis with elements  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r\ell}$  of the form

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda_r},2m,0}, \qquad n \in \{0,1,\dots,\frac{r-1}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\dots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}, \tag{2.4.1}$$

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r},2m,r}, \qquad n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}, \tag{2.4.2}$$

when r is odd, and

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda_r},2m,0}, \qquad n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, \qquad (2.4.3)$$

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r},2m+1,0}, \qquad n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-4}{2}\}, \tag{2.4.4}$$

when r is even. The product is given by

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{x}{2\lambda_{r}},i,r\ell} \cdot \mathsf{M}_{\frac{y}{2\lambda_{r}},j,r\ell'} \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\by\ 2}}^{i+j} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{x+y\ \mathrm{mod}\ r}{2\lambda_{r}},l,r(\ell+\ell')\ \mathrm{mod}\ 2r} & \text{if}\ i+j < r, \\ \\ \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\by\ 2}}^{2r-4-i-j} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{x+y\ \mathrm{mod}\ r}{2\lambda_{r}},l,r(\ell+\ell')\ \mathrm{mod}\ 2r} & \text{if}\ i+j \ge r. \end{cases}$$
(2.4.5)

*Proof.* We first note that the quantum dimension of an object  $V \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ -Mod is given by

$$\sum_{i=0}^{k} v_i^*(K^{1-r}v_i),$$

where  $\{v_0, ..., v_k\}$  is a basis for V. Hence, if  $V = V_{\alpha}$ , then

$$\operatorname{qdim}(V_{\alpha}) = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} v_i^*(K^{1-r}v_i) = \sum_{i=0}^{r-1} q^{(r-1)(\alpha+r-1-2i)} = q^{(r-1)(\alpha+r-1)} \frac{1-q^{2r}}{1-q^2} = 0.$$
(2.4.6)

By Lemma 2.1.3 we have the short exact sequence

$$0 \to V_{r-1-i+\ell r} \to P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{\ell r} \to V_{1+i-r+\ell r} \to 0,$$

so we see that the quantum dimension of the  $P_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H$  is also zero. Hence,  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  is generated by the elements corresponding to the  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H)$  which are induced into  $\operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_r)$  by the induction functor, which by theorem 2.2.5, are those objects such that  $i + r\ell + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ . We will denote the object in  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  corresponding to  $F_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\ell r}^H)$  by  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r\ell}$ . Recall from Lemma 2.1.3 that for any  $i \in \{1, ..., r-1\}$  we have the short exact sequence

$$0 \to S_{r-1-i} \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{\ell r} \to V_{i+\ell r} \to S_{i-1} \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{r(\ell+1)} \to 0,$$

so we have  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,r-1-i,r\ell} = -\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i-1,r(\ell+1)}$ . So, for any  $i \in \{0, ..., r-2\}$ , we have

$$\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r\ell} = \mathsf{M}_{\gamma,r-1-(r-1-i),r\ell} = -\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,r-1-(i+1),r(\ell+1)} = \mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r(\ell+2)}.$$
(2.4.7)

Hence,  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  is generated by elements of the form  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,0}$  and  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r}$  which satisfy

$$i + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z},\tag{2.4.8}$$

$$i + r + 2\lambda_r \gamma \in 2\mathbb{Z}.\tag{2.4.9}$$

If *i* is odd in (2.4.8), then  $i + 2\lambda_r \gamma$  being even implies that  $\gamma = \frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r}$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and *i* even in (2.4.8) implies  $\gamma = \frac{2n}{2\lambda_r}$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If *r* and *i* are both odd or even in (2.4.9), then i + r is even, so  $\gamma = \frac{2n}{2\lambda_r}$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . If one of *r* and *i* is odd in (2.4.9), and one is even, then i + r is odd, so  $\gamma = \frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r}$  for some  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Notice also that  $F_{\lambda_r} \boxtimes \mathbb{C}_r^H$  induces to the identity in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_r$  and hence corresponds with the identity in  $\mathcal{C}^0$ . So, we have the relation

$$\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r\ell} = \mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r\ell} \cdot \mathsf{M}_{\lambda_r,0,r} = \mathsf{M}_{\gamma+\lambda_r,i,r(\ell+1)}, \tag{2.4.10}$$

and  $\frac{r}{2\lambda_r} + \lambda_r = 0$ , so the elements  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,r\ell}$  have  $\gamma \in \{0, \frac{1}{2\lambda_r}, ..., \frac{r-1}{2\lambda_r}\}$ . Combining the above remarks, we see that when r is odd,  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  is generated by the objects

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda_r},2m,0}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-1}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda_r},2m+1,r}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-1}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r},2m+1,0}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r},2m,r}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-3}{2}\} \end{split}$$

and if r is even, then  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  is generated by the objects

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,r}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-4}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,r}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-4}{2}\} \end{split}$$

The tensor products for the  $F_{\gamma}$  and  $S_i$  modules (see [CGP1, Proposition 8.4]) are given by

$$\mathbf{F}_{\gamma} \otimes \mathbf{F}_{\gamma'} = \mathbf{F}_{\gamma+\gamma'} \quad \text{and} \quad S_i \otimes S_j = \begin{cases} \bigoplus_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\ \text{by } 2}}^{i+j} S_l & \text{if } i+j < r, \\ \\ \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\ \text{by } 2}}^{2r-4-i-j} S_l \oplus \bigoplus_{\substack{l=2r-2-i-j\\ \text{by } 2}}^{r-1} P_l & \text{if } i+j \ge r. \end{cases}$$

The projective indecomposable modules denoted by  $P_i$  have quantum dimension zero so their corresponding object in  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  is zero. We therefore have the product

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{x}{2\lambda},i,r\ell} \cdot \mathsf{M}_{\frac{y}{2\lambda},j,r\ell'} \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\by \ 2}}^{i+j} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{x+y \bmod r}{2\lambda},l,r(\ell+\ell') \bmod 2r} & \text{if } i+j < r, \\ \\ \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\by \ 2}}^{2r-4-i-j} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{x+y \bmod r}{2\lambda},l,r(\ell+\ell') \bmod 2r} & \text{if } i+j \ge r. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4.11)$$

This set can be reduced as we have not yet accounted for the relation  $M_{\gamma,r-1-i,r\ell} = -M_{\gamma,i-1,r(\ell+1)}$ . Consider the case r odd. Notice that every generator of the form  $M_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}$  corresponds to a generator of the form  $M_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m+1,r}$ , and each generator of the form  $M_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}$  to one of the form  $M_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m,r}$  under  $M_{\gamma,r-1-i,r\ell} = -M_{\gamma,i-1,r(\ell+1)}$ . We therefore have the set

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}, & n \in \{0,...,\frac{r-1}{2}\}, m \in \{0,...,\frac{r-3}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m,r}, & n \in \{0,...,\frac{r-3}{2}\}, m \in \{0,...,\frac{r-3}{2}\} \end{split}$$

Notice that the product of any pair of elements of this generating set will be a sum of generators of the form  $M_{\frac{x}{2\lambda},i,r\ell}$  where *i* must be even, and hence will be a sum of elements in the set with positive coefficients. Therefore, this set in fact gives a  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ -basis for the ring when *r* is odd. When r is even, by the exact same considerations we obtain the set

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}\\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}, & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-4}{2}\} \end{split}$$

Further, the product of generators of any of these generators with another of the same form will be a sum of generators  $M_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}$  with positive coefficients. A product of a generator  $M_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}$  with another  $M_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}$  will then be a sum of generators  $M_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}$  with positive coefficients. Hence, this set is again a  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ -basis.

#### **2.4.2** Comparison for odd r

Let  $V, W \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ -Mod and  $w \in W$  a highest weight vector of weight  $\lambda$ . For any  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}$ , define  $\Psi_{\gamma} : \mathbb{Z}[z] \to \mathbb{C}$  by  $\Psi_{\gamma}(z^s) = q^{\gamma s}$ . Then, as noted in the proof of Lemma 6.6 in [CGP1], the open Hopf links  $\Phi_{V,W}$  satisfy  $\Phi_{V,W}(w) = \Psi_{\lambda+1-r}(\chi(V))w$  where  $\chi(V)$  is the character of V. Clearly then, when W is simple,  $\Phi_{V,W} = \Psi_{\lambda+1-r}(\chi(V)) \mathrm{Id}_W$ . Using the fact that the Hopf link  $S_{V,W}^{\infty}$  is the trace of the open Hopf link  $\Phi_{V,W}$  and the appropriate character formulas [CGP1, Equation (16)], it is easy to show that

$$\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{S_{i}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{H}_{rk},S_{j}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{H}_{r\ell}} = (-1)^{k(j+r(\ell-1)+1)+(i+1)(\ell+1)+\ell+1} \frac{\{(i+1)(j+1)\}}{\{j+1\}} \operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{Id}_{S_{j}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{H}_{r\ell}}) \tag{2.4.12}$$

where  $\operatorname{tr}(\operatorname{Id}_{S_j \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{r\ell}}) = (-1)^{(1-r)\ell+j}[j+1]$ . The Hopf links in  $\mathcal{H}_{i\mathbb{R}^\oplus}$  (see Subsection 2.1.1) are easily seen to be  $\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_1,\mathsf{F}_{\gamma_2}}} = e^{\pi i \gamma_1 \gamma_2} e^{\pi i \gamma_2 \gamma_1} = e^{2\pi i \gamma_1 \gamma_2}$ . Therefore, the Hopf links are given by

$$S^{\infty}_{(\gamma_{1},i,k),(\gamma_{2},j,\ell)} = S^{\infty}_{S_{i}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{H}_{rk},S_{j}\otimes\mathbb{C}^{H}_{r\ell}} \cdot S^{\infty}_{F_{\gamma_{1}},F_{\gamma_{2}}}$$
  
=  $(-1)^{k(j+r(\ell-1)+1)+(i+1)(\ell+1)+\ell+1+(1-r)\ell+j}e^{2\pi i\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}[(i+1)(j+1)]$   
=  $(-1)^{(i+1)(\ell+1)+(j+1)(k+1)+r(k\ell+k+\ell)}e^{2\pi i\gamma_{1}\gamma_{2}}[(i+1)(j+1)].$  (2.4.13)

Normalizing the  $S^{\infty}$  matrix and restricting to odd r (i.e., using  $i, j \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  for all elements of

our generating set) gives

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{(\gamma_1,i,k),(\gamma_2,j,\ell)}}{\mathsf{S}^{\infty}_{(0,0,0),(\gamma_2,j,\ell)}} = e^{\pi i (2\gamma_1 \gamma_2 + rkl)} \frac{\{(i+1)(j+1)\}}{\{j+1\}}.$$

Below, in order to find  $S^{\chi}$ , we shall use certain modular transformation properties from [C2]. For this, it will be beneficial for us to re-parametrize by setting  $(s, s') = (i + 1, -2\lambda_r\gamma_1 - rk), (n, n') = (j + 1, -2\lambda_r\gamma_2 - r\ell)$  and adopting the notation  $S^{\infty}_{(s,s'),(n,n')} := S^{\infty}_{(\gamma_1,i,k),(\gamma_2,j,\ell)}$ , we see that

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\infty}}{\mathsf{S}_{(1,0),(n,n')}^{\infty}} = q^{n's'} \frac{\{ns\}}{\{n\}}.$$
(2.4.14)

Recall that  $\mathscr{F}(\mathcal{F}_{\gamma} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{r\ell})) = \bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}_{\gamma+k\lambda_r} \boxtimes (S_i \otimes \mathbb{C}^H_{r(k+\ell)})$  which corresponds to

$$\bigoplus_{k\in\mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}_{\gamma+k\lambda_r} \boxtimes M_{1-(k+\ell),i+1}$$

under the correspondence in Proposition 2.1.8. This module is the spectral flow ([C2, Subsection 3.1.2])

$$\sigma^{s'}(W_s) := \bigoplus_{\widetilde{k} \in \mathbb{Z}} \mathcal{F}_{\widetilde{\lambda_r}(\widetilde{k} - \frac{s'}{r})} \boxtimes M'_{1 + \widetilde{k}, s}$$
(2.4.15)

of the module  $W_s$  defined in [C2, Subsection 4.2], where  $\tilde{\lambda}_r = -\lambda_r$ ,  $\tilde{k} = -k - \ell$ , and  $(s, s') = (i + 1, -2\lambda_r\gamma - r\ell)$ . Consider the basis for odd r given in Proposition 2.4.1. By applying the relation  $M_{\gamma,r-1-\alpha,r\ell} = -M_{\gamma,\alpha-1,r(\ell+1)}$  to the generators of the form  $M_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda_r},2m,r}$ , keeping in mind that  $\tilde{\lambda}_r = -\lambda_r$  and that the correspondence in Proposition 2.1.8 preserves tensor structure up to character, it is easy to see that the Verlinde algebra of characters,  $\mathcal{V}(B_r)$ , generated by the atypical modules of  $B_r$  has a generating set

$$\{\operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{s'}(W_s)] \,|\, (s,s') \in \Lambda_r\}$$

where

$$\Lambda_r := \{ (s, s') | 0 < s \le r - 1, \ 0 \le s' \le r - 1, \ s + s' + 1 \in 2\mathbb{Z} \}.$$
(2.4.16)

This set is closed under modular transformations, and we will show that the corresponding  $S^{\chi}$ -matrix agrees with the  $S^{\infty}$ -matrix (2.4.14) up to normalised conjugation. From the char-

acter formula for  $W_s$  and the relation  $\operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{s'}(M)](u;\tau) = q^{\frac{s'^2}{4r} - \frac{s'^2}{2}} x^{\frac{s'}{r} - 2s'} \operatorname{ch}[M](u + \tau \frac{s'}{2};\tau)$  (see [C2, Subsections 4.3 and 3.1.2]), we see that the character of  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)$  is given by

$$\operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{s'}(W_s)](u;\tau) = \frac{q^{\frac{s'^2}{4r} - \frac{s'^2}{2}} x^{\frac{s'}{r} - 2s'}}{\eta(\tau)^2} \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \left( \frac{q^{r(n + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{s}{2r})^2}}{1 - xq^{r(n + \frac{1}{2} - \frac{s}{2r}) + \frac{s'}{2}}} - \frac{q^{r(n + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{s}{2r})^2}}{1 - xq^{r(n + \frac{1}{2} + \frac{s}{2r}) + \frac{s'}{2}}} \right)$$
(2.4.17)

where  $x = e^{2\pi i u}$ ,  $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$ . Even though s = 0, s = r are not allowed in (2.4.16), it is easy to see that with s = 0, r in equation (2.4.17), for all s', we have

$$ch[\sigma^{s'}(W_0)](u;\tau) = ch[\sigma^{s'}(W_{-r})](u;\tau) = 0, \qquad (2.4.18)$$

$$ch[\sigma^{s'}(W_s)](u;\tau) + ch[\sigma^{s'}(W_{-s})](u;\tau) = 0.$$
(2.4.19)

Recall the notation from [C2]:

$$\Pi(v;\tau) = q^{1/6}(z-z^{-1})\prod_{n=1}^{\infty} (1-z^2q^n)(1-q^n)^2(1-z^{-2}q^n)$$
(2.4.20)

with  $z = e^{2\pi i v}$ . By [C2, Theorem 3.6 and Subsection 4.3], we have the following:

$$\operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{s'}(W_{s})](\frac{u}{\tau};\frac{-1}{\tau}) = \lim_{v \to 0} \frac{\Pi(v;\tau)}{\eta(\tau)^{2}} \operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{s,s'}\chi_{r}](\frac{u}{\tau};\frac{v}{\tau};\frac{-1}{\tau}) = \lim_{v \to 0} \frac{\Pi(v;\tau)}{\eta(\tau)^{2}} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{\tau}(kv^{2}-\frac{u^{2}}{\tau})} \sum_{(n,n')\in S_{r}} S_{(s,s'),(n,n')} \operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{(n,n')}(\chi_{r})](u;v;\tau) = \sum_{(n,n')\in S_{r}} e^{\frac{-2\pi i u^{2}}{r\tau}} S_{(s,s'),(n,n')} \lim_{v \to 0} \frac{\Pi(v;\tau)}{\eta(\tau)^{2}} \operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{(n,n')}(\chi_{r})](u;v;\tau) = \sum_{(n,n')\in S_{r}} e^{\frac{-2\pi i u^{2}}{r\tau}} S_{(s,s'),(n,n')} \operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{n'}(W_{n})](u,\tau),$$
(2.4.21)

with  $S_{(s,s'),(n,n')} = \frac{-1}{r}e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{2r}(sn-s'n')}$  and  $S_r := \{(n,n')| - r \le n \le r-1, 0 \le n' \le r-1, n+n'+1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}\}$ . It follows that the character of  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)$  satisfies

$$\operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{s'}(W_s)](\frac{u}{\tau};\frac{-1}{\tau}) = \sum_{(n,n')\in\Lambda_r} e^{\frac{-2\pi i u^2}{r\tau}} \left( S_{(s,s'),(n,n')} - S_{(s,s'),(-n,n')} \right) \operatorname{ch}[\sigma^{n'}(W_n)](u,\tau), \quad (2.4.22)$$

and therefore,

$$S_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\chi} = e^{\frac{-2\pi i u^2}{r\tau}} \left( S_{(s,s'),(n,n')} - S_{(s,s'),(-n,n')} \right)$$
  
=  $-\frac{1}{r} e^{\frac{-2\pi i u^2}{r\tau}} e^{\frac{2\pi i}{2r}n's'} \left( e^{-\frac{2\pi i}{r}ns} - e^{\frac{2\pi i}{r}ns} \right)$   
=  $-\frac{1}{r} e^{\frac{-2\pi i u^2}{r\tau}} q^{n's'} \{ ns \}.$  (2.4.23)

The unit object in  $\mathcal{C}$  is  $F_0 \boxtimes (S_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}_0^H)$  which induces to  $\bigoplus_{k \in \mathbb{Z}} F_{k\lambda} \boxtimes (S_0 \otimes \mathbb{C}_{rk}^H)$ , so the identity object corresponds to  $\sigma^0(W_1)$ , which we will simply denote by 1 in the index. Hence, the normalized  $S^{\chi}$ -matrix is given by

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\chi}_{1,(n,n')}} = q^{n's'} \frac{[ns]}{[n]}.$$
(2.4.24)

The following proposition follows by comparing (2.4.24) and (2.4.14):

**Proposition 2.4.2.** For atypical modules, the matrices  $S^{\infty}$  and  $S^{\chi}$  are in agreement up to normalization. That is,

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\chi}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(n,n')}^{\chi}} = \frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\infty}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(n,n')}^{\infty}}$$
(2.4.25)

for  $(s, s'), (n, n') \in \Lambda_r$ .

It then follows that the matrix  $S^{\infty}$  is invertible since  $S^{\chi}$  is, and by the standard argument the categorical Verlinde formula holds. We include this argument here for completeness:

Recall that the Hopf links give a one dimensional representation of the fusion ring and therefore satisfy

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\varpi}}{\mathsf{S}_{1\!\!1,(n,n')}^{\varpi}}\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(t,t'),(n,n')}^{\varpi}}{\mathsf{S}_{1\!\!1,(n,n')}^{\varpi}} = \sum_{(m,m')} N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(m,m')} \frac{\mathsf{S}_{(m,m'),(n,n')}^{\varpi}}{\mathsf{S}_{1\!\!1,(n,n')}^{\varpi}}$$

where the sum runs over the pairs corresponding to the basis of  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  in Proposition 2.4.1.

The matrix  $S^{\chi}$  is invertible, so by the above corollary,  $S^{\infty}$  is also invertible. Cancelling out the  $S^{\infty}_{1,(n,n')}$  terms and multiplying by  $(S^{\infty})^{-1}_{(k,k'),(n,n')}$  for any fixed (k,k') yields

$$\frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\infty}\mathsf{S}_{(t,t'),(n,n')}^{\infty}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(n,n')}^{\infty}}(\mathsf{S}^{\infty})_{(n,n'),(k,k')}^{-1} = \sum_{(m,m')} N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(m,m')}\mathsf{S}_{(m,m'),(n,n')}^{\infty}(\mathsf{S}^{\infty})_{(n,n'),(k,k')}^{-1}.$$

Summing over the index (n, n') then gives

$$\sum_{(n,n')} \frac{\mathsf{S}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}^{\infty} \mathsf{S}_{(t,t'),(n,n')}^{\infty} (\mathsf{S}^{\infty})_{(n,n'),(k,k')}^{-1}}{\mathsf{S}_{1,(n,n')}^{\infty}} = \sum_{(m,m')} N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(m,m')} \left(\mathsf{S}^{\infty} (\mathsf{S}^{\infty})^{-1}\right)_{(m,m'),(k,k')}$$
$$= \sum_{(m,m')} N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(m,m')} \delta_{(m,m'),(k,k')}$$
$$= N_{(s,s'),(t,t')}^{(k,k')} \left(2.4.26\right)$$

which is the Verlinde formula and by Proposition 2.4.2, the Verlinde formula also holds for atypical  $B_r$  modules:

**Corollary 2.4.3.** The Verlinde formula holds for the Verlinde algebra of characters generated by atypical modules of  $B_r$  when r is odd. That is,

$$\sum_{(n,n')\in\Lambda_r}\frac{\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{(s,s'),(n,n')}\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{(t,t'),(n,n')}(\mathsf{S}^{\varpi})^{-1}_{(n,n'),(k,k')}}{\mathsf{S}^{\varpi}_{1,(n,n')}}=N^{(k,k')}_{(s,s'),(t,t')}$$

where  $\Lambda_r$  is given in (2.4.16).

#### **2.4.3** Comparison for even r

When r is even,  $B_r$  has half integer L(0)-grading and  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading given by

$$B_r = B_r^{\overline{0}} \oplus B_r^{\overline{1}},$$

where  $B_r^{\overline{0}}$  is the integer part of the  $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ -grading and  $B_r^{\overline{1}}$  is the non-integer part. In this case, we instead compare the ring  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}_{\overline{0}}^0)$  for the modules which lift to  $B_r^{\overline{0}}$  modules with the Verlinde algebra of characters of  $B_r^{\overline{0}}$ . Note that when we computed  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  we used the relation  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,\ell r} = \mathsf{M}_{\gamma+\lambda,i,(\ell+1)r}$  which no longer holds. To remedy this, we need only notice that the objects  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,\ell r}$  and  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma+2\lambda,i,(\ell+2)r}$  induce to the same  $B_r^{\overline{0}}$  module and are therefore equal in  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0_{\overline{0}})$ . Hence, it is enough to add to the basis for  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0)$  with r even obtained in Proposition 2.4.1 the shifted elements  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma+\lambda,i,(\ell+1)r}$  for each basis element  $\mathsf{M}_{\gamma,i,\ell r}$ . Hence, a basis for  $\mathcal{G}^{ss}(\mathcal{C}^0_{\overline{0}})$  is given by

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}, \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n-r}{2\lambda},2m,r} & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, \\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}, \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1-r}{2\lambda},2m+1,r} & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-4}{2}\}. \end{split}$$

This is not a  $\mathbb{Z}_+$  basis with respect to the product

$$\mathsf{M}_{\frac{x}{2\lambda},i,r\ell} \cdot \mathsf{M}_{\frac{y}{2\lambda},j,r\ell'} \begin{cases} \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\by \, 2}}^{i+j} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{x+y \bmod 2r}{2\lambda},l,r(\ell+\ell') \bmod 2r} & \text{if } i+j < r, \\ \\ \sum_{\substack{l=|i-j|\\by \, 2}}^{2r-4-i-j} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{x+y \bmod 2r}{2\lambda},l,r(\ell+\ell') \bmod 2r} & \text{if } i+j \ge r. \end{cases}$$

$$(2.4.27)$$

Applying the relation  $M_{\gamma,j-1,r(\ell+1)} = -M_{\gamma,r-1-j,r\ell}$ , we obtain a basis

$$\begin{split} \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n}{2\lambda},2m,0}, \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n-r}{2\lambda},r-2-2m,0} & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, \\ \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1}{2\lambda},2m+1,0}, \mathsf{M}_{\frac{2n+1-r}{2\lambda},r-2-(2m+1),0} & n \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-2}{2}\}, m \in \{0,1,\ldots,\frac{r-4}{2}\}, \end{split}$$

which is easily seen to be a  $\mathbb{Z}_+$ -basis. We have already seen that the Hopf links satisfy equation (2.4.13). Restricting this equation to r even  $(k = \ell = 0)$  gives

$$(\mathsf{S}_{B_r^{\overline{0}}}^{\varpi})_{(s,s'),(n,n')} = (-1)^{s+n} q^{n's'} \{ns\}, \qquad (2.4.28)$$

once again making the substitution  $(s, s') = (i+1, -2\lambda_r\gamma_1 - rk), (n, n') = (j+1, -2\lambda_r\gamma_2 - r\ell)$ and the indices run over the set  $\Lambda_r \cup \tilde{\Lambda}_r$  where  $\tilde{\Lambda}_r := \{(s, s' - r) | (s, s') \in \Lambda_r\}$ . We therefore have four cases:

((s,s'),(n,n'))	$(S^{\varpi}_{B^{\overline{0}}_{r}})_{(s,s'),(n,n')}$
$\Lambda_r \times \Lambda_r$	$(-1)^{s+n}q^{n's'}\{ns\}$
$\Lambda_r \times \tilde{\Lambda}_r$	$(-1)^{n+1}q^{n's'}\{ns\}$
$\tilde{\Lambda}_r  imes \Lambda_r$	$(-1)^{s+1}q^{n's'}\{ns\}$
$\tilde{\Lambda}_r \times \tilde{\Lambda}_r$	$q^{n's'}\{ns\}$

Following the analysis in Subsection 2.4.2 and replacing characters with supercharacters where necessary, we see that the  $S^{\chi}$  matrix for the atypical  $B_r$  modules  $\{\sigma^{s'}(W_s)|(s,s') \in \Lambda_r\}$ are still given by equation (2.4.23). However, each  $B_r$  module  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)$  splits into two  $B_r^{\overline{0}}$ modules  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)^{\overline{0}}$  and  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)^{\overline{1}}$ , where we recall that  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)$  is given by equation (2.4.15) and  $\sigma^{s'}(W_s)^{\overline{0}}, \sigma^{s'}(W_s)^{\overline{1}}$  are given by the even and odd summands respectively. It then follows from equation (2.4.23) and [C2, Equation 4.9] that these matrices agree up to normalised conjugation.

### **2.5** The characters of $B_r$ and of a QH-reduction

In this section, we set n = r - 1 and compare the character of  $B_r$  with a certain Quantum-Hamiltonian reduction of  $\mathfrak{sl}_n$  as announced in [C2, Remark 5.6]. For more details about Quantum-Hamiltonian reduction, see [Ara] for instance.

Recall that  $\mathfrak{sl}_{n-1}$  can be embedded in  $\mathfrak{sl}_n$  such that

$$\mathfrak{sl}_n \cong \mathfrak{sl}_{n-1} \oplus \rho_{n-1} \oplus \overline{\rho_{n-1}} \oplus \mathbb{C}$$

where  $\rho_{n-1}$  is the standard representation of  $\mathfrak{sl}_{n-1}$  and  $\overline{\rho_{n-1}}$  its conjugate. To carry out computations, we see  $\mathfrak{sl}_{n-1}$  as embedded in the upper-left square of the matrix realisation of  $\mathfrak{sl}_n$ . Fix the  $\mathfrak{sl}_2$ -triplet  $\{F, H, E\}$  in  $\mathfrak{sl}_{n-1}$  as follows

$$F := \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} e_{i+1,i}, \qquad H := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{n-1} (n-2i) e_{i,i}, \qquad E := \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} e_{i,i+1} \qquad (2.5.1)$$

Notice that for any matrix  $h = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \lambda_j e_{j,j} \in \hat{\mathfrak{h}}$ , we have

$$[F,h] = \sum_{i=1}^{n-2} (\lambda_i - \lambda_{i+1}) e_{i+1,i},$$

and the matrix must be of trace zero, so  $0 = (n-1)\lambda_1 + \lambda_n$ . It follows that the subalgebra of  $\hat{\mathfrak{h}}$  annihilated by F under the adjoint action is  $\operatorname{Span}_{\mathbb{C}}\{A\}$  where A is the diagonal matrix  $A := \operatorname{diag}\{\frac{1}{n}, ..., \frac{1}{n}, \frac{1-n}{n}\}$ . Let K = Av for complex v and set  $x = e^v$ . Let  $\Delta_+$  denote the set of positive roots of the full  $\mathfrak{sl}_n, \Delta^0_+ \subset \Delta_+$  the set of positive roots such that  $\alpha(H) = 0$ , and  $\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}_+ \subset \Delta_+$  the positive roots for which  $\beta(H) = 1/2$ . By [KW, Equation (11)], the character of the Quantum-Hamiltonian reduction associated to (2.5.1) is given by the following formula:

$$(-i)^{\frac{r(r+1)}{2}}q^{\frac{(r^{2}-1)(r-2)}{24}}\frac{\eta(r\tau)^{-\frac{1}{2}r^{2}+\frac{5}{2}r-3}}{\eta(\tau)^{r-3}}\frac{\prod_{\alpha\in\Delta_{+}}\vartheta_{11}(r\tau,\alpha(K-\tau H))}{\left(\prod_{\alpha\in\Delta_{+}^{0}}\vartheta_{11}(\tau,\alpha(K))\right)\left(\prod_{\beta\in\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}}\vartheta_{01}(\tau,\beta(K))\right)^{1/2}} \quad (2.5.2)$$

where  $\vartheta_{11}$  and  $\vartheta_{01}$  are the standard Jacobi theta functions:

$$\vartheta_{11}(\tau, z) = -iq^{1/12}u^{-1/2}\eta(\tau)\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - u^{-1}q^k)(1 - uq^{k-1}), \qquad (2.5.3)$$

$$\vartheta_{01}(\tau, z) = \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - u^{-1} q^{k-1/2}) (1 - q^k) (1 - u q^{k-1/2})$$
(2.5.4)

where  $u = e^{2\pi i z}$  and  $q = e^{2\pi i \tau}$ .

**Theorem 2.5.1.** Let  $r \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then the character of  $B_r$  is given by equation (2.5.2).

*Proof.* As for proving [C2, Theorem 5.5], a character is viewed as a formal power series where we admit  $\frac{1}{1-x} = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} x^k$ . Two formal power series X, Y will be seen as equivalent if  $X = \gamma q^a x^b Y$  for  $\gamma \in \mathbb{C}$  and  $a, b \in \mathbb{Q}$ . Also here, it is enough to show that  $\operatorname{ch}[B_r](x;q)$  is equivalent to (2.5.2) since both are formal power series of the form  $q^{-\frac{c_T}{24}}(1+\cdots)$ .

Let's then make the formula (2.5.2) explicit, keeping in mind that n = r - 1 here. First let's fix a standard choice of positive roots for  $\mathfrak{sl}_n = \mathfrak{sl}_{r-1}$  and compute  $\Delta^0_+$  and  $\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}$ :

• 
$$\Delta_+ = \Delta_+(\mathfrak{sl}_n) = \left\{ \alpha_{i,j} = \sum_{\ell=i}^j \alpha_\ell \mid 1 \le i \le j \le n-1 \right\}$$
 where  $\alpha_\ell(e_{ii}) = \delta_{\ell,i} - \delta_{\ell+1,i}$ ;

• 
$$\alpha_{i,j}(K) = 0$$
 if  $j < n - 1$ ;

- $\alpha_{i,n-1}(K) = v;$
- $\alpha_{i,j}(H) = j i + 1$  if j < n 1;
- $\alpha_{i,n-1}(H) = \frac{n}{2} i;$
- $\Delta^0_+ = \{\alpha_{\frac{n}{2},n-1}\}$  and  $\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} = \emptyset$  if *n* is even (*r* odd);
- $\Delta^0_+ = \emptyset$  and  $\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} = \{\alpha_{\frac{n-1}{2},n-1}, -\alpha_{\frac{n+1}{2},n-1}\}$  if n is odd (r even).

We shall now examine each factor in (2.5.2). For any choice of n, since  $\alpha_{i,j}(K - \tau H) = \tau(i - j - 1)$  if i < j and  $\alpha_{i,n-1}(K - \tau H) = v - \tau(\frac{n}{2} - i)$  one obtains:

$$\frac{\vartheta_{11}(r\tau,\alpha_{i,j}(K-\tau H))}{\eta(r\tau)} \sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1-q^{r(k-1)+(j-i+1)})(1-q^{rk-(j-i+1)}) \qquad (j < n-1)$$
$$\frac{\vartheta_{11}(r\tau,\alpha_{i,n-1}(K-\tau H))}{\eta(r\tau)} \sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1-x^{-1}q^{r(k-1)+(\frac{n}{2}-i)})(1-xq^{rk-(\frac{n}{2}-i)}),$$

where we used the observation  $\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - u^{-1}q^k)(1 - uq^{k-1}) \sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - uq^k)(1 - u^{-1}q^{k-1})$  on each

line. Then, aiming to find the product over  $\Delta_+$  as in the numerator of (2.5.2), we write:

$$\begin{split} &\prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \prod_{1 \le i \le j < n-1} \frac{\vartheta_{11}(r\tau, \alpha_{i,j}(K - \tau H))}{\eta(r\tau)} \sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \prod_{1 \le i \le j < n-1} (1 - q^{rk + (j-i+1-r)})(1 - q^{rk - (j-i+1)}) \\ &\sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \prod_{1 \le a \le n-2} (1 - q^{rk - (r-a)})^{r-2-a} (1 - q^{rk-a})^{r-2-a} \\ &\sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{rk-1})(1 - q^{r(k-1)+1}) \prod_{1 \le b \le n} (1 - q^{rk-b})^{r-4} \\ &\sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{rk-1})(1 - q^{r(k-1)+1}) \prod_{1 \le b \le n} (1 - q^{rk-b})^{r-4} \\ &\sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{rk-1})(1 - q^{r(k-1)+1}) \left(\frac{1 - q^k}{1 - q^{rk}}\right)^{r-4} \\ &\sim \left(\frac{\eta(\tau)}{\eta(r\tau)}\right)^{r-4} \cdot \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{rk-1})(1 - q^{r(k-1)+1}) \left(\frac{1 - q^k}{1 - q^{rk}}\right)^{r-4} \end{split}$$
(2.5.5)

We also will need the following for the numerator:

$$\prod_{1 \le i \le n-1} \frac{\vartheta_{11}(r\tau, \alpha_{i,n-1}(K - \tau H))}{\eta(r\tau)} \sim \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} \prod_{1 \le i \le n-1} (1 - x^{-1}q^{r(k-1) + (\frac{n}{2} - i)})(1 - xq^{rk - (\frac{n}{2} - i)})$$
$$= \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - xq^{k + \frac{r}{2} + \frac{3}{2}})(1 - x^{-1}q^{k - \frac{r}{2} + \frac{3}{2}})}{(1 - xq^{rk + \frac{3}{2}r - \frac{1}{2}})(1 - xq^{rk + \frac{3}{2}r + \frac{1}{2}})(1 - x^{-1}q^{r(k + \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{1}{2}})(1 - x^{-1}q^{r(k + \frac{1}{2}) - \frac{1}{2}})}.$$
(2.5.6)

Finally completing the product of  $\vartheta_{11}$ s over  $\Delta_+$  in the numerator of (2.5.2) yields:

$$\prod_{\alpha \in \Delta_{+}} \vartheta_{11}(r\tau, \alpha(K - \tau H)) \sim \eta(r\tau)^{\frac{(n-2)(n-1)}{2} + (n-1) - (n-3)} \eta(\tau)^{n-3} \cdot \prod_{k=1}^{\infty} (1 - q^{rk-1})(1 - q^{r(k-1)+1}) \\ \times \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{(1 - xq^{k+\frac{r}{2}+\frac{3}{2}})(1 - x^{-1}q^{k-\frac{r}{2}+\frac{3}{2}})}{(1 - xq^{rk+\frac{3}{2}r-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - xq^{rk+\frac{3}{2}r+\frac{1}{2}})(1 - x^{-1}q^{r(k+\frac{1}{2})-\frac{1}{2}})(1 - x^{-1}q^{r(k+\frac{1}{2})+\frac{1}{2}})}.$$
 (2.5.7)

The  $\eta$  factors written in terms of r instead of n read:

$$\eta(r\tau)^{\frac{(r-3)(r-2)}{2} - (r-4) + r-2} \eta(\tau)^{r-4} = \eta(r\tau)^{\frac{r^2}{2} - \frac{5r}{2} + 5} \eta(\tau)^{r-4}.$$
(2.5.8)

The denominator of (2.5.2) is given up to equivalence by

$$\eta(\tau) \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} (1 - x^{-1} q^{k+1}) (1 - x^n q^k) \qquad r \text{ odd}, \qquad (2.5.9)$$

$$\eta(\tau) \prod_{k=0}^{\infty} (1 - x^{-1} q^{k+\frac{1}{2}}) (1 - x q^{k+\frac{1}{2}}) \qquad r \text{ even.} \qquad (2.5.10)$$

In effect, collecting various  $\eta$  factors arising from  $\vartheta$ s now gets us:  $\eta(r\tau)^{\frac{r^2}{2} - \frac{5r}{2} + 5} \eta(\tau)^{r-5}$ . Canceling these with the  $\eta$  factors already present in the (2.5.2), we are left with simply  $\frac{\eta(r\tau)^2}{n(\tau)^2}.$ 

$$\eta(\tau)^2$$

We now show the rest of the calculation for r be odd, the other case is similar. In this case, the character, up to  $\sim$  equivalence has now simplified to:

The character of  $B_r$  can be written in a product form using  $B_r = W_1$  and the [C2, Subsection

4.1, Proposition 5.2] as follows:

This matches with (2.5.11), completing the proof.

Theorem 2.5.1 shows that the character of  $B_r$  coincides with that of a quantum Hamiltonian reduction, as suggested in [C2, Remark 5.6].

# Chapter 3

# Categories of Weight Modules for Unrolled Restricted Quantum Groups at Roots of Unity

Motivated by connections to the singlet vertex operator algebra in the  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_2$  case, we study the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  at arbitrary roots of unity with a focus on its category of weight modules. We show that the braid group action on the Drinfeld-Jimbo algebra  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  naturally extends to the unrolled quantum groups and that the category of weight modules is a generically semi-simple ribbon category (previously known only for odd roots) with trivial Müger center and self-dual projective modules.

### 3.1 Preliminaries

#### Generically semisimple categories

Let k be a field. A k-category is a category C such that its Hom-sets are left k-modules, and morphism composition is k-bilinear. A pivotal k-linear category C is said to be  $\mathcal{G}$ -graded for some group  $\mathcal{G}$  if for each  $g \in \mathcal{G}$  we have a non-empty full subcategory  $\mathcal{C}_g$  stable under retract such that such that
- $\mathcal{C} = \bigoplus_{g \in \mathcal{G}} \mathcal{C}_g,$
- $V \in \mathcal{C}_g \implies V^* \in \mathcal{C}_{g^{-1}},$
- $V \in \mathcal{C}_g$  and  $W \in \mathcal{C}_{g'} \implies V \otimes W \in \mathcal{C}_{gg'}$ ,
- $V \in \mathcal{C}_g, W \in \mathcal{C}_{g'}$  and  $\operatorname{Hom}(V, W) \neq 0 \implies g = g'.$

A subset  $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{G}$  is called symmetric if  $\mathcal{X}^{-1} = \mathcal{X}$  and small if it cannot cover  $\mathcal{G}$  by finite translations, i.e. for any  $n \in \mathbb{N}$  and  $\forall g_1, ..., g_n \in \mathcal{G}$ ,  $\bigcup_{i=1}^n g_i \mathcal{X} \neq \mathcal{G}$ .

**Definition 3.1.1.** A  $\mathcal{G}$ -graded category  $\mathcal{C}$  is called generically  $\mathcal{G}$ -semisimple if there exists a small symmetric subset  $\mathcal{X} \subset \mathcal{G}$  such that for all  $g \in \mathcal{G} \setminus \mathcal{X}$ ,  $\mathcal{C}_g$  is semisimple.  $\mathcal{X}$  is referred to as the singular locus of  $\mathcal{C}$  and simple objects in  $\mathcal{C}_g$  with  $g \in \mathcal{G} \setminus \mathcal{X}$  are called generic.

Generically semisimple categories appeared in [GP1, CGP1] and were used in [GP2] to prove that representation categories of unrolled quantum groups at odd roots of unity are ribbon. If  $\mathcal{C}$  has braiding  $c_{-,-}$ , then an object  $Y \in \mathcal{C}$  is said to be transparent if  $c_{Y,X} \circ c_{X,Y} = \mathrm{Id}_{X \otimes Y}$ for all  $X \in \mathcal{C}$ .

**Definition 3.1.2.** The Müger center of C is the full subcategory of C consisting of all transparent objects.

Triviality of the Müger center should be viewed as a non-degeneracy condition. Indeed, for finite braided tensor categories triviality of the Müger center is equivalent to the usual notions of non-degeneracy (see [S, Theorem 1.1]).

# **3.2** The Unrolled Restricted Quantum Group $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$

We first fix our notations. Let  $\mathfrak{g}$  be a simple finite dimensional complex Lie algebra of rank n and dimension n + 2N with Cartan martix  $A = (a_{ij})_{1 \leq i,j \leq n}$  and Cartan subalgebra  $\mathfrak{h}$ . Let  $\Delta := \{\alpha_1, ..., \alpha_n\} \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$  be the set of simple roots of  $\mathfrak{g}$ ,  $\Delta^+$  ( $\Delta^-$ ) the set of positive (negative) roots, and  $Q := \bigoplus_{i=1}^n \mathbb{Z}\alpha_i$  the integer root lattice. Let  $\{H_1, ..., H_n\}$  be the basis of  $\mathfrak{h}$  such that  $\alpha_j(H_i) = a_{ij}$  and  $\langle, \rangle$  the form defined by  $\langle \alpha_i, \alpha_j \rangle = d_i a_{ij}$  where  $d_i = \langle \alpha_i, \alpha_i \rangle/2$ and normalized such that short roots have length 2. Let  $P := \bigoplus_{i=1}^n \mathbb{Z}\omega_i$  be the weight lattice generated by the dual basis  $\{\omega_1, ..., \omega_n\} \subset \mathfrak{h}^*$  of  $\{d_1H_1, ..., d_nH_n\} \subset \mathfrak{h}$ , and  $\rho := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} \alpha \in P$ the Weyl vector.

Now, let  $\ell \geq 3$  and  $r = \ell$  when  $\ell$  is odd,  $r = \frac{1}{2}\ell$  when  $\ell$  is even (i.e. set  $r = 2\ell/(3 + (-1)^{\ell}))$ ). Let  $q \in \mathbb{C}$  be an primitive  $\ell$ -th root of unity,  $q_i = q^{d_i}$ , and fix the notation

$$\{x\} = q^{x} - q^{-x}, \quad [x] = \frac{q^{x} - q^{-x}}{q - q^{-1}}, \quad [n]! = [n][n - 1]...[1], \quad \binom{n}{m} = \frac{\{n\}!}{\{m\}!\{n - m\}!}, \quad (3.2.1)$$
$$[j;q] = \frac{1 - q^{j}}{1 - q}, \qquad [j;q]! = [j;q][j - 1;q] \cdots [1;q]. \quad (3.2.2)$$

We will often use a subscript *i*, e.g.  $[x]_i$ , to denote the substitution  $q \mapsto q_i$  in the above formulas.

**Definition 3.2.1.** Let L be a lattice such that  $Q \subset L \subset P$ . The unrolled quantum group  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  associated to L is the  $\mathbb{C}$ -algebra with generators  $K_{\gamma}, X_i, X_{-i}, H_i$ , (we will often let  $K_{\alpha_i} := K_i$ ) with  $i = 1, ..., n, \gamma \in L$ , and relations

$$K_0 = 1, \quad K_{\gamma_1} K_{\gamma_2} = K_{\gamma_1 + \gamma_2}, \quad K_{\gamma} X_{\pm j} K_{-\gamma} = q^{\pm \langle \gamma, \alpha_j \rangle} X_{\sigma j},$$
 (3.2.3)

$$[H_i, H_j] = 0, \quad [H_i, K_{\gamma}] = 0, \qquad [H_i, X_{\pm j}] = \pm a_{ij} X_{\pm j}, \qquad (3.2.4)$$

$$[X_i, X_{-j}] = \delta_{i,j} \frac{K_{\alpha_j} - K_{\alpha_j}^{-1}}{q_j - q_j^{-1}}, \qquad (3.2.5)$$

$$\sum_{k=0}^{1-a_{ij}} (-1)^k \binom{1-a_{ij}}{k}_{q_i} X_{\pm i}^k X_{\pm j} X_{\pm i}^{1-a_{ij}-k} = 0 \quad \text{if } i \neq j, \quad (3.2.6)$$

There is a Hopf-algebra structure on  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  with coproduct  $\Delta$ , counit  $\epsilon$ , and antipode S defined by

$$\Delta(K_{\gamma}) = K_{\gamma} \otimes K_{\gamma}, \qquad \epsilon(K_{\gamma}) = 1, \qquad S(K_{\gamma}) = K_{-\gamma} \qquad (3.2.7)$$

$$\Delta(X_i) = 1 \otimes X_i + X_i \otimes K_{\alpha_i} \qquad \epsilon(X_i) = 0, \qquad S(X_i) = -X_i K_{-\alpha_i}, \qquad (3.2.8)$$

$$\Delta(X_{-i}) = K_{-\alpha_i} \otimes X_{-i} + X_{-i} \otimes 1, \qquad \epsilon(X_{-i}) = 0, \qquad S(X_{-i}) = -K_{\alpha_i} X_{-i}, \qquad (3.2.9)$$

$$\Delta(H_i) = 1 \otimes H_i + H_i \otimes 1, \qquad \epsilon(H_i) = 0, \qquad S(H_i) = -H_i. \qquad (3.2.10)$$

It is easy to see that the subalgebra generated by  $K_{\gamma}$  and  $X_{\pm i}$  is the usual Drinfeld-Jimbo algebra  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ . The unrolled quantum group is actually a smash product of the Drinfeld-Jimbo algebra with the universal enveloping algebra of  $\mathfrak{h}$ , which we will briefly recall. Let the generators  $H_1, \ldots, H_n \in \mathfrak{h}$  act on  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  by the derivation  $\partial_{H_i} : U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \to U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  defined by

$$\partial_{H_i} X_{\pm j} = \pm a_{ij} X_{\pm j}, \qquad \partial_{H_i} K_{\gamma} = 0. \tag{3.2.11}$$

It is easy to see that these operators commute, so they do indeed define an action of  $\mathfrak{h}$  on  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ . It is easy to check the relations

$$(\Delta \circ \partial_{H_i})(X_j) = (\mathrm{Id} \otimes \partial_{H_i} + \partial_{H_i} \otimes \mathrm{Id}) \circ \Delta(X_j)$$
$$(\Delta \circ \partial_{H_i})(X_{-j}) = (\mathrm{Id} \otimes \partial_{H_i} + \partial_{H_i} \otimes \mathrm{Id}) \circ \Delta(X_{-j})$$

and  $\Delta \circ \partial_{H_i}(K_{\gamma}) = 0 = (\partial_{H_i} \otimes 1 + 1 \otimes \partial_{H_i}) \circ \Delta(K_{\gamma})$ , so  $\mathfrak{h}$  acts on  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  by  $\mathbb{C}$ -biderivations. It follows from [AS, Lemma 2.6] that  $U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes U(\mathfrak{h}) := U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \otimes U(\mathfrak{h})$  is a Hopf algebra with algebra structure coming from the smash product (the unit here is  $1 \otimes 1$ ) and coalgebra structure coming from the tensor product:

$$(X \otimes H) \cdot (Y \otimes H') = X(\partial_{H_{(1)}}Y) \otimes H_{(2)}H'$$
$$\Delta(X \otimes H) = (\mathrm{Id} \otimes \tau \otimes \mathrm{Id}) \circ (\Delta_{U_q(\mathfrak{g})} \otimes \Delta_{U(\mathfrak{h})})(X \otimes H)$$
$$\epsilon = \epsilon_{U_q(\mathfrak{g})} \otimes \epsilon_{U(\mathfrak{h})}$$

where  $\tau : U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \otimes U(\mathfrak{h}) \to U(\mathfrak{h}) \otimes U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  is the usual flip map and  $\Delta(H) = \sum_{(H)} H_{(1)} \otimes H_{(2)}$  is the Sweedler notation for the coproduct. We then see that for any  $X \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  and  $H_i \in U(\mathfrak{h})$ , we have

$$(X \otimes 1) \cdot (1 \otimes H_i) = X \otimes H_i \qquad (X \otimes 1) \cdot (Y \otimes 1) = XY \otimes 1$$
$$(1 \otimes H_i) \cdot (X \otimes 1) = \partial_{H_i}(X) \otimes H_i \qquad (1 \otimes H_i) \cdot (1 \otimes H_j) = 1 \otimes H_i H_j,$$

so  $U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes U(\mathfrak{h})$  is generated by the elements  $\{X_{\pm i} \otimes 1, K_\gamma \otimes 1, 1 \otimes H_i \mid i = 1, ..., n, \gamma \in L\}$ . By abuse of notation, we set  $X_{\pm i} := (X_{\pm i} \otimes 1), K_\gamma := (K_\gamma \otimes 1)$ , and  $H_i := (1 \otimes H_i)$ , and we see that  $U_q(\mathfrak{g}) \rtimes U(\mathfrak{h})$  is generated by  $X_{\pm i}, K_\gamma \ (\gamma \in L)$ , and  $H_i, i = 1, ..., n$  with defining relations (3.2.3)-(3.2.6) and Hopf algebra structure given by equations (3.2.7)-(3.2.10). This is precisely the unrolled quantum group of Definition 3.2.1.

There exists an automorphism of  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  which swaps  $X_i$  with  $X_{-i}$  and inverts  $K_i$  (see [J, Lemma 4.6]). It is easily checked that this automorphism can be extended to  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  by defining  $\omega(H_i) = -H_i$ , so there exists an automorphism  $\omega : U_q^H(\mathfrak{g}) \to U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  defined by

$$\omega(X_{\pm i}) = X_{\mp i}, \qquad \omega(K_{\gamma}) = K_{-\gamma}, \qquad \omega(H_i) = -H_i. \tag{3.2.12}$$

This automorphism will appear in Section 3.3 in the definition of a Hermitian form on Verma modules introduced in [DCK], and the definition of a contravariant functor analogous to the duality functor for Lie algebras.

# **3.2.1** Braid Group Action on $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$

Recall that for a finite dimensional Lie algebra the scalars  $a_{ij}a_{ji}$  are equal to 0, 1, 2, or 3 for  $i \neq j$  and for each case let  $m_{ij}$  be 2, 3, 4, 6 respectively. Then,

**Definition 3.2.2.** The braid group  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$  associated to  $\mathfrak{g}$  has generators  $T_i$  with  $1 \leq i \leq n$  and defining relations

$$T_i T_j T_i \cdots = T_j T_i T_j \cdots$$

for  $i \neq j$  where each side of the equation is a product of  $m_{ij}$  generators.

It is well known (see [KIS, CP]) that the braid group of  $\mathfrak{g}$  acts on the quantum group  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  by algebra automorphisms defined as follows:

$$T_i(K_j) = K_j K_i^{-a_{ij}}, \quad T_i(X_i) = -X_{-i} K_i, \quad T_i(X_{-i}) = -K_i^{-1} X_i$$
 (3.2.13)

$$T_i(X_j) = \sum_{t=0}^{-a_{ij}} (-1)^{t-a_{ij}} q_i^{-t} X_i^{(-a_{ij}-t)} X_j X_i^{(t)} \quad i \neq j,$$
(3.2.14)

$$T_i(X_{-j}) = \sum_{t=0}^{-a_{ij}} (-1)^{t-a_{ij}} q_i^t X_{-i}^{(t)} X_{-j} X_i^{(-a_{ij}-t)}, \quad i \neq j,$$
(3.2.15)

where  $X_{\pm i}^{(n)} = X_{\pm i}^n / [n]_{q_i}!$ . Therefore, if we extend the action of  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$  to  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  by

$$T_i(H_j) = H_j - a_{ji}H_i,$$

it is enough to check that the automorphisms  $T_i$ , i = 1, ..., n respect equations (3.2.4) and the braid group relations when acting on the  $H_i$ . We first note that the relations

$$[T_k(H_i), T_k(H_j)] = [T_k(H_i), T_k(K_{\gamma})] = 0$$

follow trivially from  $[H_i, H_j] = [H_i, K_{\gamma}] = 0$ . We must therefore show that

$$[T_k(H_i), T_k(X_{\pm j})] = \pm a_{ij}T_k(X_{\pm j}).$$

We will prove the statement for positive index, as the negative index case is identical. Suppose k = j, then  $T_j(X_j) = -X_{-j}K_j$  and we have

$$H_n(-X_{-j}K_j) = -(X_{-j}H_n - a_{nj}X_{-j})K_j = -X_{-j}K_jH_n + a_{nj}X_{-j}K_j,$$

so we see that  $[H_n, -X_{-j}K_j] = a_{nj}X_{-j}K_j$ . Hence,

$$[T_{j}(H_{i}), T_{j}(X_{j})] = [H_{i} - a_{ij}H_{j}, -X_{-j}K_{j}]$$
  
=  $[H_{i}, -X_{-j}K_{j}] - a_{ij}[H_{j}, X_{-j}K_{j}]$   
=  $a_{ij}X_{-j}K_{j} - 2a_{ij}X_{-j}K_{j}$   
=  $-a_{ij}X_{-j}K_{j} = a_{ij}T_{j}(X_{j}).$ 

Suppose now that  $k \neq j$ . We then see that we must show

$$\sum_{t=0}^{-a_{kj}} (-1)^{t-a_{kj}} q_k^{-t} [T_k(H_i), X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}] = \sum_{t=0}^{-a_{kj}} (-1)^{t-a_{kj}} q_k^{-t} a_{ij} X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}.$$

Clearly then, it is enough to show that

$$[T_k(H_i), X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}] = a_{ij} X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}$$

for each  $t = 0, ..., -a_{kj}$ . It follows easily from equation (3.2.4) that

$$[H_n, X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}] = (-a_{kj}a_{nk} + a_{nj}) X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}$$

Therefore,

$$[T_k(H_i), X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}] = [H_i, X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}] - a_{ik} [H_k, X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}]$$
  
=  $(-a_{kj} a_{ik} + a_{ij} - a_{ik} (-2a_{kj} + a_{kj})) X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}$   
=  $a_{ij} X_k^{(-a_{kj}-t)} X_j X_k^{(t)}.$ 

We see then that equations (3.2.13)-(3.2.16) define an automorphism of  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . To show that these automorphisms give an action of the braid group, we need only show that they satisfy the braid relations as operators on  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . We know these relations are satisfied for the elements of  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ , so we need only check the  $H_i$ . This amounts to showing that

$$T_i T_j \cdots (H_k) = T_j T_i \cdots (H_k).$$

One therefore computes  $T_iT_j \cdots (H_k)$  and checks that the result is symmetric in *i* and *j*, giving the following proposition:

**Proposition 3.2.3.** The elements  $T_i$  of the braid group  $\mathcal{B}_{\mathfrak{g}}$  act on  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  by automorphisms given by relations (3.2.13)-(3.2.15) and

$$T_i(H_j) = H_j - a_{ji}H_i. (3.2.16)$$

Let W denote the Weyl group of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $\{s_i | i = 1, ..., n\}$  the simple reflections generating W. Let  $s_{i_1} \cdots s_{i_N}$  be a reduced decomposition of the longest element  $\omega_0$  of W. Then,  $\beta_k := s_{i_1} s_{i_2} \cdots s_{i_{k-1}} \alpha_{i_k}, k = 1, ..., N$  gives a total ordering on the set of positive roots  $\Delta^+$  of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and for each  $\beta_i, i = 1, ..., N$ , we can associate the root vectors  $X_{\pm \beta_i} \in U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  as seen in [CP, Subsections 8.1 and 9.1]. We have the following PBW theorem [CP]:

**Theorem 3.2.4.** The multiplication operation in  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  defines a vector space isomorphism

$$U_q(\eta^-) \otimes U_q(\mathfrak{h}) \otimes U_q(\eta^-) \cong U_q(\mathfrak{g})$$

where  $U_q(\eta^{\pm})$  is the subalgebra generated by the  $X_{\pm\alpha_i}$  and  $U_q(\mathfrak{h})$  the subalgebra generated by the  $K_{\gamma}$ . The set  $\{X_{\pm\beta_1}^{k_1}X_{\pm\beta_2}^{k_2}\cdots X_{\pm\beta_N}^{k_N}|k_i\in\mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}\}$  is a basis of  $U_q(\eta^{\pm})$ . It can be shown by induction on s [J] that

$$[X_i, X_{-i}^s] = [s]_i X_{-i}^{s-1} [K_i; d_i(1-s)], \qquad (3.2.17)$$

where  $[K_i; n] = (K_i q^n - K_i^{-1} q^{-n})/(q_i - q_i^{-1})$ . Let  $d_\alpha = \frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle$ , and define

$$r_{\alpha} := r/gcd(d_{\alpha}, r). \tag{3.2.18}$$

Then  $[r_{\alpha_i}]_i = [r] = 0$ , so it follows from equations (3.2.5) and (3.2.17) that  $[X_j, X_{-i}^{r_{\alpha_i}}] = 0$  for all i, j. Applying the braid group action then gives  $[X_\beta, X_{-\alpha}^{r_\alpha}] = 0$  for all  $\alpha, \beta \in \Delta^+$ , where we have used the fact that  $d_\alpha = d_i$  when  $\alpha$  lies in the Weyl orbit of  $\alpha_i$ . It follows that given any maximal vector v (i.e.  $X_i v = 0$  for all i) in some  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ -module  $V, X_{-\alpha}^{r_\alpha} v$  is also maximal. In particular, all Verma modules of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  will be reducible and therefore there will be no projective irreducible modules (as all irreducibles are quotients of Vermas). Obtaining a category of representations which is generically semisimple is the motivation for our choice of definition of the unrolled restricted quantum group at arbitrary roots and to do this, we quotient out  $\{X_{\pm\alpha}^{r_\alpha}\}_{\alpha\in\Delta^+}$ . It follows from equation (3.2.3) that  $X_i \otimes K_i X_i = q^{2d_i} X_i \otimes X_i K_i$ , so equation (3.2.8) and the q-binomial formula tell us that

$$\Delta(X_i^{r_{\alpha_i}}) = \sum_{k=0}^{r_{\alpha_i}} \binom{r_{\alpha_i}}{k}_{q^{2d_i}} X_i^n \otimes K_i^n X_i^{r_{\alpha_i}-n} = 1 \otimes X_i^{r_{\alpha_i}} + X_i^{r_{\alpha_i}} \otimes K_i^{r_{\alpha_i}}$$

since  $\binom{r_{\alpha_i}}{k} = 1$  if  $k = 0, r_{\alpha_i}$  and zero otherwise. We can perform the same computation for  $X_{-i}^{r_{\alpha_i}}$ , so we see that the two-sided ideal generated by  $\{X_{\pm\alpha_i}^{r_{\alpha_i}}\}_{\alpha_i\in\Delta}$  is a Hopf ideal (it follows immediately from equations (3.2.3) and (3.2.8) that this ideal is invariant under the antipode S).

**Definition 3.2.5.** The unrolled restricted quantum group of  $\mathfrak{g}$ ,  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ , is defined to be the unrolled quantum group  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  of Definition 3.2.1 quotiented by the Hopf ideal generated by  $\{X_{\pm \alpha_i}^{r_{\alpha_i}}\}_{\alpha_i \in \Delta}$ .

This definition is very closely related to that of the small quantum group in [L]. It follows trivially from the braid relations that  $X_{\pm\alpha}^{r_{\alpha}} = 0$  in  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{g})$  for every root vector  $\alpha \in \Delta^{+}$ , and it follows from the PBW theorem that  $\{X_{\pm\beta_{1}}^{k_{1}}X_{\pm\beta_{2}}^{k_{2}}\cdots X_{\pm\beta_{N}}^{k_{N}} \mid 0 \leq k_{i} < r_{\beta_{i}}\}$  is a basis of  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\eta^{\pm})$ .

# **3.3** Representation Theory of $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$

For each module V of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  and  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ , define the set  $V(\lambda) := \{v \in V \mid H_i v = \lambda(H_i)v\}$ . If  $V(\lambda) \neq 0$ , then we call  $\lambda$  a weight of V,  $V(\lambda)$  its weight space, and any  $v \in V(\lambda)$  a weight vector of weight  $\lambda$ .

**Definition 3.3.1.** A  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{g})$ -module V is called a weight module if V splits as a direct sum of weight spaces and for each  $\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^{n} k_i \alpha_i \in L$ ,  $K_{\gamma} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} q_i^{k_i H_i}$  as operators on V. We define  $\mathcal{C}$  to be the category of finite dimensional weight modules for  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\mathfrak{g})$ .

Given any  $V \in \mathcal{C}$ , we denote by  $\Gamma(V)$  the set of weights of V. That is,

$$\Gamma(V) = \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^* \mid V(\lambda) \neq 0\}.$$
(3.3.1)

We define the character of a module  $V \in \mathcal{C}$  using the dimensions of the *H*-eigenspaces as

$$\operatorname{ch}[V] = \sum_{\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*} \dim V(\lambda) z^{\lambda}.$$
(3.3.2)

It is easy to show that for any module V and  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ ,

$$X_{\pm j}V(\lambda) \subset V(\lambda \pm \alpha_j). \tag{3.3.3}$$

We define the usual partial order " $\geq$ " on  $\mathfrak{h}^*$  by  $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda_2$  iff  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 + \sum_{i=1}^n k_i \alpha_i$  for some  $k_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ . A weight  $\lambda$  of V is said to be highest weight if it is maximal with respect to the partial order among the weights of M. A vector  $v \in V$  is called maximal if  $X_i v = 0$  for each i, and a module generated by a maximal vector will be called highest weight.

Given a weight  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ , denote by  $I^{\lambda}$  the ideal of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  generated by the relations  $H_i \cdot 1 = \lambda(H_i), K_{\gamma} \cdot 1 = \prod_{i=1}^n q_i^{k_i \lambda(H_i)}$  for  $\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^n k_i \alpha_i \in L$  and  $X_i \cdot 1 = 0$  for each *i*.

**Definition 3.3.2.** Define  $M^{\lambda} := \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})/I^{\lambda}$ .  $M^{\lambda}$  is generated as a module by the coset

 $v_{\lambda} := 1 + I^{\lambda}$  with relations

$$X_i v_{\lambda} = 0, \qquad H_i v_{\lambda} = \lambda(H_i) v_{\lambda}, \qquad K_{\gamma} v_{\lambda} = \prod_{i=1}^n q_i^{k_i \lambda(H_i)} v_{\lambda},$$

where  $\gamma = \sum k_i \alpha_i \in L$ . It follows from Theorem 3.2.4 that  $M^{\lambda}$  has basis  $\{X_{\beta_1}^{k_1} X_{\beta_2}^{k_2} \cdots X_{\beta_N}^{k_N} v_{\lambda} \mid 0 \leq k_i < r_{\beta_i}\}$ .

Clearly,  $M^{\lambda} \in \mathcal{C}$  and is universal with respect to highest weight modules in  $\mathcal{C}$ , that is, for any module  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  generated by a highest weight vector of weight  $\lambda$ , there exists a surjection  $M^{\lambda} \twoheadrightarrow M$ . Each proper submodule N of  $M^{\lambda}$  is a direct sum of its weight spaces and has  $N(\lambda) = \emptyset$ , so the union of all proper submodules is a maximal proper submodule. Hence, each reducible  $M^{\lambda}$  has a unique maximal proper submodule  $N^{\lambda}$  and unique irreducible quotient  $S^{\lambda}$  of highest weight  $\lambda$ . We therefore refer to  $M^{\lambda}$  as the Verma (or universal highest weight) module of highest weight  $\lambda$  and we have the following proposition by standard arguments:

**Proposition 3.3.3.**  $V \in \mathcal{C}$  is irreducible iff  $V \cong S^{\lambda}$  for some  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ .

It is clear that every module in  $\mathcal{C}$  is a module over  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$  and since the  $H_i$  act semi-simply,  $M^{\lambda}$  is irreducible iff it is irreducible as a  $U_q(\mathfrak{g})$ -module. Kac and De Concini defined a Hermitian form H on  $M^{\lambda}$  [DCK, Equation 1.9.2] by

$$H(v_{\lambda}, v_{\lambda}) = 1$$
 and  $H(Xu, v) = H(u, \omega(X)v)$ 

for all  $X \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  and  $u, v \in M^{\lambda}$  where  $\omega$  is the automorphism defined in equation (3.2.12). Let  $\eta \in \Delta^+$  and denote by  $\det_{\eta}(\lambda)$  the determinant of the Gram matrix of H restricted to  $M^{\lambda}(\lambda - \eta)$  in the basis consisting of elements  $F_{\beta_1}^{k_1} \cdots F_{\beta_N}^{k_N} v_{\lambda}$  with  $\vec{k} = (k_1, ..., k_N) \in \operatorname{Par}(\eta) := \{\vec{k} \in \mathbb{Z}^N \mid \sum k_i \beta_i = \eta, 0 \leq k_i < r_{\beta_i}\}$ . The determinant of H vanishes precisely on the maximal submodule of  $M^{\lambda}$  and is given on  $M^{\lambda}(\lambda - \eta)$  by [DCK, Equation 1.9.3]

$$\det_{\eta}(\lambda) = \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{+}} \prod_{m=0}^{r_{\alpha}-1} \left( \frac{\{md_{\alpha}\}}{\{d_{\alpha}\}^{2}} \right)^{|\operatorname{Par}(\eta-m\alpha)|} (\lambda(K_{\alpha})q^{\langle\rho,\alpha\rangle-\frac{m}{2}\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle} - \lambda(K_{\alpha}^{-1})q^{-\langle\rho,\alpha\rangle+\frac{m}{2}\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle})^{|\operatorname{Par}(\eta-m\alpha)|}$$

where  $\rho$  is the Weyl vector. It then follows as in [DCK, Theorem 3.2] that we have the following:

**Proposition 3.3.4.**  $M^{\lambda}$  is irreducible iff  $q^{2\langle\lambda+\rho,\alpha\rangle-k\langle\alpha,\alpha\rangle} \neq 1$  for all  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$  and  $k = 1, ..., r_{\alpha} - 1$ .

For each  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$  we associate to  $\lambda$  the scalars  $\lambda_{\alpha} \in \mathbb{C}$  defined by

$$\lambda_{\alpha} := \langle \lambda + \rho, \alpha \rangle.$$

Notice that  $M^{\lambda}$  is reducible iff for some  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$  we have

$$2(\lambda_{\alpha} - k_{\alpha}^{\lambda} d_{\alpha}) = n_{\alpha}^{\lambda} \ell \tag{3.3.4}$$

for some  $k_{\alpha}^{\lambda} \in \{1, ..., r_{\alpha} - 1\}, n_{\alpha}^{\lambda} \in \mathbb{Z}$ , where  $d_{\alpha} := \frac{1}{2} \langle \alpha, \alpha \rangle$ . This motivates the following definition:

**Definition 3.3.5.** We call the scalar  $\lambda_{\alpha}$  typical if  $2(\lambda_{\alpha}-kd_{\alpha}) \neq 0 \mod \ell$  for all  $k = 1, ..., r_{\alpha}-1$ and atypical otherwise. We call  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  typical if  $\lambda_{\alpha}$  is typical for all  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$  and atypical otherwise.

Clearly,  $M^{\lambda}$  is irreducible iff  $\lambda$  is typical. We can rewrite the atypicality condition into a more convenient form, which will be useful in the next subsection:

**Proposition 3.3.6.**  $\lambda_{\alpha}$  is typical iff  $\lambda_{\alpha} \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}_{\alpha}$  where

$$\ddot{\mathbb{C}}_{\alpha} := \begin{cases} (\mathbb{C} \setminus g_{\alpha}\mathbb{Z}) \cup r\mathbb{Z} & \text{if } \ell \text{ is even} \\ (\mathbb{C} \setminus \frac{g_{\alpha}}{2}\mathbb{Z}) \cup \frac{r}{2}\mathbb{Z} & \text{if } \ell \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$

where  $g_{\alpha} = gcd(d_{\alpha}, r)$ .

*Proof.* By Proposition 3.3.4 and the following comments,  $\lambda_{\alpha}$  is atypical iff  $2(\lambda_{\alpha} - kd_{\alpha}) = 0 \mod \ell$  for some  $k = 1, ..., r_{\alpha} - 1$ . That is, iff

$$\lambda_{\alpha} \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bigcup_{k=1}^{r_{\alpha}-1} \frac{n\ell + 2kd_{\alpha}}{2}$$

Assume now that  $gcd(d_i, r) = 1$  for all *i*. Note that each non-simple root  $\alpha$  lies in the Weyl orbit of some simple root  $\alpha_i$  and that  $d_{\alpha} = d_{\alpha_i}$ , so  $gcd(d_{\alpha}, r) = 1$  for all  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$  (so  $r_{\alpha} = r$  for all  $\alpha$ ). Let  $r = \ell$  be odd, then we have  $\lambda_{\alpha} \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bigcup_{k=1}^{r-1} \frac{nr+2kd_{\alpha}}{2}$  which is clearly a subset of  $\frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ . Suppose  $nr + 2kd_{\alpha} = rm$  for some  $m \in \mathbb{Z}$ . Then  $r(m - n) = 2kd_{\alpha}$  and we have  $gcd(r, 2d_{\alpha}) = 1$  so we must have  $2d_{\alpha}|m - n$ . However, we have  $k \in \{1, ..., r - 1\}$  so  $|r(m - n)| > |2kd_{\alpha}|$ , a contradiction. Hence,  $\lambda_{\alpha} \in \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z} \setminus \frac{r}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ . Let  $x \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus r\mathbb{Z}$ . Since  $gcd(r, 2d_{\alpha}) = 1$ , there exist  $a, b \in \mathbb{Z}$  such that  $2d_{\alpha}a + br = 1$ . Since  $x \notin r\mathbb{Z}$ , we have  $ax \notin r\mathbb{Z}$ , otherwise  $x = 2d_{\alpha}ax + brx \in r\mathbb{Z}$ . Therefore, there exist  $m, k \in \mathbb{Z}$  with k = 1, ..., r - 1 such that ax = mr + k. Then,  $2d_{\alpha}ax = 2d_{\alpha}mr + 2d_{\alpha}k$ , so  $x = 2d_{\alpha}k \mod r$  (since  $2d_{\alpha}a = 1 \mod r$ ) and so  $x \in \bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bigcup_{k=1}^{r-1} rn + 2d_{\alpha}k$ . Hence, we have shown

$$\bigcup_{n\in\mathbb{Z}}\bigcup_{k=1}^{r-1}\frac{nr+2d_{\alpha}k}{2} = \frac{1}{2}\mathbb{Z}\setminus\frac{r}{2}\mathbb{Z}$$

A similar argument shows that  $\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bigcup_{k=1}^{r-1} \frac{n\ell + 2kd_{\alpha}}{2} = \mathbb{Z} \setminus r\mathbb{Z}$  when  $\ell$  is even. Suppose now that  $gcd(d_{\alpha}, r) \neq 0$ . Then we have

$$\bigcup_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} \bigcup_{k=1}^{r_{\alpha}-1} \frac{(nr_{\alpha}+2k)d_{\alpha}}{2} = \begin{cases} d_{\alpha}\mathbb{Z} \setminus r\mathbb{Z} & \ell \text{ even} \\ \frac{d_{\alpha}}{2}\mathbb{Z} \setminus \frac{r}{2}\mathbb{Z} & \ell \text{ odd} \end{cases}$$

**Remark 3.3.7.** The invertible objects in C are clearly the 1-dimensional  $S^{\lambda}$ . Note that we have

$$X_j X_{-i} v_{\lambda} = \delta_{i,j} [\lambda(H_i)]_i v_{\lambda}$$

so  $S^{\lambda}$  is 1-dimensional iff  $2\lambda(H_i)d_i = 0 \mod \ell$  i.e.  $\lambda(H_i) \in \frac{\ell}{2d_i}\mathbb{Z}$  for all *i*. These objects played a crucial role in [CGR] for the construction of certain quasi-Hopf algebras  $\overline{U}_q^{\Phi}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$ whose representation theory related to the triplet VOA. We expect this to remain true in the higher rank case, and will be investigated in future work. We also expect the higher rank analogues of  $\overline{U}_q^{\Phi}(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  to be closely related to those quantum groups which appear in [N, GLO].

### 3.3.1 Categorical Structure

We first remark that it is easily seen (as in [GP1, Subsection 5.6]), that the square of the antipode acts as conjugation by  $K_{2\rho}^{1-r}$ , i.e.

$$S^2(x) = K_{2\rho}^{1-r} x K_{2\rho}^{r-1}$$

for  $x \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  where  $\rho := \frac{1}{2} \sum_{\alpha \in \Delta^+} \alpha$  is the Weyl vector. A Hopf algebra in which the square of the antipode acts as conjugation by a group-like element is pivotal (see [B, Proposition 2.9]), so  $\mathcal{C}$  is pivotal. It is clear from equation (3.3.3) that given any  $v \in V(\lambda)$ , every weight for the submodule  $\langle v \rangle \subset V$  generated by v has the form  $\lambda + \sum_{i=1}^n k_i \alpha_i$  for some  $k_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ . That is, every weight vector in  $\langle v \rangle$  has weight differing from  $\lambda$  by an element of the root lattice Qof  $\mathfrak{g}$ . We can quotient  $\mathfrak{h}^*$  by Q to obtain the group  $\mathfrak{t} := \mathfrak{h}^*/Q$ . We then define  $\mathcal{C}_{\overline{\lambda}}$  for  $\overline{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{t}$  to be the full subcategory of  $\mathcal{C}$  consisting of modules whose weights differ from  $\lambda$  by an element of Q. Clearly,

$$\mathcal{C} = \bigoplus_{\overline{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{t}} \mathcal{C}_{\overline{\lambda}} \tag{3.3.5}$$

and it is easy to see that this gives C a t-grading as in Section 3.1. In fact, we have the following:

**Proposition 3.3.8.** C is generically t-semisimple.

Proof. Let  $\mathcal{X}$  be the subset of  $\mathfrak{t}$  consisting of equivalence classes  $\overline{\lambda}$  corresponding to weights  $\lambda$ such that  $\lambda_{\alpha} \in \frac{(3+(-1)^{\ell})g_{\alpha}}{4}\mathbb{Z}$  for some  $\alpha \in \Delta^+$ . Notice that this implies that  $\mu_{\alpha} \in \frac{(3+(-1)^{\ell})g_{\alpha}}{4}\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\mu \in \overline{\lambda}$  since  $\mu$  being comparable to  $\lambda$  implies that

$$\mu_{\alpha} = \lambda_{\alpha} \mod d_{\alpha} \mathbb{Z}. \tag{3.3.6}$$

Equation (3.3.6) is easy to see for simple roots and for non-simple roots, one uses invariance of  $\langle -, - \rangle$  under the action of the Weyl group.  $\mathcal{X}$  is clearly symmetric. To see  $\chi$  is small, consider the subset

$$A := \{ \overline{\mu^a} \in \mathfrak{t} \mid (\mu^a)_\alpha = ai \text{ for some } a \neq 0 \in \mathbb{R} \text{ and all } \alpha \in \Delta^+ \} \subset \mathfrak{t}.$$

Each  $\overline{\mu^a}$  is distinct since the corresponding weights do not differ by elements of the root lattice. Suppose that  $\overline{\mu^a} + \mathcal{X} = \overline{\mu^b} + \mathcal{X}$  for some  $a \neq b$ , both non-zero. Then  $\overline{\mu^a} - \overline{\mu^b} \in \mathcal{X}$ , a contradiction since any element  $\mu \in \overline{\mu^a} - \overline{\mu^b}$  will have purely imaginary  $\mu_\alpha$  for each  $\alpha$ , so  $\mu$  cannot belong to  $\mathcal{X}$ . Therefore, A cannot be covered by finitely many translations of  $\mathcal{X}$ and  $\mathcal{X}$  is small. Notice that by construction,  $\mathfrak{t} \setminus \mathcal{X}$  consists of equivalence classes  $\overline{\lambda}$  such that every weight of every module  $V \in \mathcal{C}_{\overline{\lambda}}$  is typical.

The argument in [CGP2, Lemma 7.1] can be applied to our setting to show that the irreducibles of typical weight are projective. Recall that  $\{X_{\pm\beta_1}^{k_1}X_{\pm\beta_2}^{k_2}\cdots X_{\pm\beta_N}^{k_N} \mid 0 \leq k_i < r_{\beta_i}\}$  is a basis of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\eta^{\pm})$ . Let  $X_+ := \prod_{k=1}^N X_{\beta_k}^{r_{\beta_k}-1}$  and  $X_- := \prod_{k=1}^N X_{\beta_k}^{r_{\beta_k}-1}$  denote the highest and lowest weight vectors of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . Suppose  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  is of typical weight and that there is a surjection  $f: M \to M^{\lambda}$  for some  $M \in \mathcal{C}$ . Since  $\lambda$  is typical,  $M^{\lambda}$  is irreducible so  $X_+X_-$  acts on the generator  $v_{\lambda}$  of  $M^{\lambda}$  by a scalar, which we denote  $\nu$ . Then there is a vector  $w \in f^{-1}(\frac{1}{\nu}v_{\lambda})$ . The vector  $w' := X_+X_-w$  is maximal since  $X_+$  is maximal in  $\overline{U}_q^H(\eta^+)$  (i.e.  $XX_+ = 0$  for all  $X \in \overline{U}_q^H(\eta^+)$ ) and non-zero since  $f(w') = v_{\lambda}$ . Therefore, by the universal property of Verma modules there is a map  $g: M^{\lambda} \to M$  such that  $g(v_{\lambda}) = w'$  and  $f: M \to M^{\lambda}$  splits. Hence, every  $\mathcal{C}_{\overline{\lambda}}$  with  $\overline{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{t} \setminus \mathcal{X}$  contains only projective irreducible modules and is therefore semisimple.

It is well known (see [GP1, Section 5.6], for example) that the duality morphisms are given by

$$\overrightarrow{\operatorname{coev}}_{V} : \mathbb{1} \to V \otimes V^{*}, \qquad 1 \mapsto \sum_{i \in I} v_{i} \otimes v_{i}^{*},$$

$$\overrightarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_{V} : V^{*} \otimes V \to \mathbb{1}, \qquad f \otimes v \mapsto f(v),$$

$$\overleftarrow{\operatorname{coev}}_{V} : \mathbb{1} \to V^{*} \otimes V, \qquad 1 \mapsto \sum_{i \in I} v_{i}^{*} \otimes K_{2\rho}^{r-1} v_{i}$$

$$\overleftarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_{V} : V \otimes V^{*} \to \mathbb{1}, \qquad v \otimes f \mapsto f(K_{2\rho}^{1-r} v),$$

where  $\mathbb{1}$  is the 1-dimensional module of weight zero and  $\{v_i\}_{i\in I}$ ,  $\{v_i^*\}_{i\in I}$  are dual bases of Vand  $V^*$ . The pivotal structure on  $\mathcal{C}$  is the monoidal natural transformation  $\delta : \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{C}} \to (-)^{**}$ defined by components

$$\delta_V = \psi_V \circ \ell_{K^{1-r}_{2o}} : V \to V^{**}$$

where  $\psi_V : V \to V^{**}$  is the canonical embedding  $\psi_V(v)(f) = f(v)$  and  $\ell_x(v) = xv$  denotes left multiplication. It was shown in [GP1, Subsection 5.8] (see also [GP2, Subsection 4.2]) that the unrolled quantum group  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  is braided. The proof of this statement is given for odd roots, but holds for even roots as well with very minor adjustments. The proof uses a projection map  $p: U_h(\mathfrak{g}) \to U^<$  from the *h*-adic quantum group  $U_h(\mathfrak{g})$  to the  $\mathbb{C}[[h]]$ -module generated by the monomials

$$\prod_{i=1}^{n} H_{i}^{m_{i}} \prod_{j_{1}=1}^{n} X_{\beta_{j_{1}}}^{k_{j_{1}}} \prod_{j_{2}=1}^{n} X_{-\beta_{j_{2}}}^{k_{j_{2}}}$$
(3.3.7)

with  $m_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ ,  $0 \leq k_{j_1}, k_{j_2} < r$ . If we generalize this by defining  $U^<$  to be the  $\mathbb{C}[[h]]$ -module generated by the monomials in equation (3.3.7) with  $m_i \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$  and  $0 \leq k_{j_s} < r_{\beta_{j_s}}$ , then the proof follows verbatim as in [GP1, Subsection 5.8]. This yields an *R*-matrix  $R := \mathcal{HR}$ where

$$\mathscr{H} := q^{\sum_{i,j} d_i (A^{-1})_{ij} H_i \otimes H_j}, \tag{3.3.8}$$

$$\mathscr{R} := \prod_{i=1}^{N} \left( \sum_{j=0}^{r_{\beta_i}-1} \frac{\left( (q_{\beta_i} - q_{\beta_i}^{-1}) X_{\beta_i} \otimes X_{-\beta_i} \right)^j}{[j; q_{\beta_i}^{-2}]!} \right),$$
(3.3.9)

where  $\{\beta_i\}_{i=1}^N$  is the ordered bases for  $\Delta^+$  as described in Subsection 3.2.1, [j;q]! is defined in equation (3.2.2), and  $q_\beta = q^{\langle \beta,\beta \rangle/2}$ . Recall that  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  is the quotient of  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  by the Hopf ideal I generated by the set  $\{X_{\pm i}^{r_{\alpha_i}}\}$  so the braided structure on  $U_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  induces a braided structure on the quotient  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . We then obtain a braiding on  $\mathcal{C}$  given by  $c = \tau \circ R$  where  $\tau: V \otimes W \to W \otimes V$  for any  $V, W \in \mathcal{C}$  is the usual flip map.

Let  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  be simple with maximal vector  $m \in M(\lambda)$ , and define the family of morphisms  $\theta_V : V \to V$  by

$$\theta_V := (Id_V \otimes \overleftarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_V) \circ (c_{V,V} \otimes Id_{V^*}) \circ (Id_V \otimes \overrightarrow{\operatorname{coev}}_V)$$

where  $c_{V,V}$  is the braiding. An easy computation shows that

$$\theta_M(m) = q^{\langle \lambda, \lambda + 2(1-r)\rho \rangle} m.$$

Hence, on any simple module  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  with maximal vector  $m \in M(\lambda)$ ,

$$\theta_M = q^{\langle \lambda, \lambda + 2(1-r)\rho \rangle} Id_M \tag{3.3.10}$$

We then observe, as in [GP2][Subsection 4.4], that  $\theta_{(S^{\lambda})^*} = (\theta_{S^{\lambda}})^*$  for all generic simple modules  $(S^{\lambda} \text{ such that } \overline{\lambda} \in \mathfrak{t} \setminus \chi)$ , where  $f^*$  denotes the right dual. So, by [GP2, Theorem 9],  $\mathcal{C}$  is ribbon.

Corollary 3.3.9. C is a ribbon category.

We also observe here that C has trivial Müger center (recall Definition 3.1.2):

**Proposition 3.3.10.** C has no non-trivial transparent objects (i.e. C has trivial Müger center).

*Proof.* Given a pair of irreducible modules  $S^{\lambda}, S^{\mu} \in \mathcal{C}$ , it is easy to see that the braiding  $c = \tau \circ \mathscr{H} \mathscr{R}$  acts as  $\tau \circ \mathscr{H}$  on the product of highest weights  $v_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu} \in S^{\lambda} \otimes S^{\mu}$ . We therefore see that

$$c_{S^{\mu},S^{\lambda}} \circ c_{S^{\lambda},S^{\mu}}(v_{\lambda} \otimes v_{\mu}) = q^{2\langle\lambda,\mu\rangle} Id.$$

Hence, there is no irreducible object transparent to all other irreducible objects since there is no weight  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  such that  $\langle \lambda, \mu \rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\mu \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . In particular, there are no non-trivial irreducible transparent objects. If some  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  were transparent, then all of its subquotients and, in particular, the factors appearing in its composition series must also be transparent, so any transparent object has composition factors isomorphic to  $\mathbb{1}$ . Any such module has character ch[M] = 0 (recall Equation (3.3.2)), but any module in  $\mathcal{C}$  with vanishing character is a direct sum of dim(M) copies of  $\mathbb{1}$ . Indeed, the elements  $H_1, \ldots, H_n$  act semisimply on M(as they do on all modules in  $\mathcal{C}$ ) so they must act by zero since ch[M] = 0, and it follows from Equation (3.3.3) that  $X_{\pm i}m \in M(\pm \alpha_i) = \emptyset$ , so  $X_{\pm i}m = 0$  for all  $m \in M$ . Recalling that  $K_{\gamma} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} q_i^{k_i H_i}$  as operators on  $\mathcal{C}$ , we see that

$$X_{\pm i}m = H_im = 0$$
 and  $K_{\gamma}m = 1$ 

for all  $m \in M$ . Hence, M a direct sum of dim(M) copies of 1, and C has trivial Müger

center.

### 3.3.2 Duality

Given any  $M \in \mathcal{C}$ , the antipode  $S : \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g}) \to \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  defines a module structure on the dual  $M^* = \operatorname{Hom}_{\mathbb{C}}(M, \mathbb{C})$  by

$$(x \cdot f)(m) = f(S(x)m)$$

for each  $f \in M^*, m \in M$ , and  $x \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . Let  $M_{\omega}^*$  be the module obtained by twisting  $M^*$  by the automorphism  $\omega$  defined in equation (3.2.12), allowing  $x \in \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  to act on  $M^*$  as  $\omega(x)$  and for convenience set  $\check{M} := M_{\omega}^*$ , which is easily seen to lie in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Note that  $\check{M}$  is therefore the dual defined with respect to the anti-homomorphism  $S \circ \omega : \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g}) \to \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ . It is easy to check that this map is an involution, i.e.  $S \circ \omega \circ S \circ \omega = Id$ . We therefore have that the canonical map  $\phi: M \to \check{M}$  is an isomorphism, since

$$X \cdot \phi(v)(f) = \phi(v)(S(w(X)) \cdot f) = \phi(v)(f \circ \Pi(X)) = f(X \cdot v) = \phi(X \cdot v)(f),$$

where  $\Pi : \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g}) \to \operatorname{End}(M)$  is the representation defining the action on M. Hence,  $\check{M} \cong M$ . The (contravariant) functor  $M \mapsto \check{M}$  is exact as the composition of exact functors (taking duals in a tensor category and twisting by automorphisms), and one sees immediately (since  $S(H_i) = -H_i$ ) that  $\dim \check{M}(\lambda) = \dim M(\lambda)$ , so  $\operatorname{ch}[\check{M}] = \operatorname{ch}[M]$ . Exactness implies that M is simple iff  $\check{M}$  is, and then  $\operatorname{ch}[\check{S}^{\lambda}] = \operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}]$  implies  $\check{S}^{\lambda} \cong S^{\lambda}$ . We therefore obtain the following proposition:

#### Proposition 3.3.11.

- The contravariant functor  $M \mapsto \check{M}$  is exact and  $\check{\check{M}} \cong M$ .
- $\operatorname{ch}[\check{M}] = \operatorname{ch}[M]$  for all  $M \in \mathcal{C}$ .
- $\check{M}$  is simple iff M is simple.
- $\check{S}^{\lambda} \cong S^{\lambda}$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ .

Recall that a filtration, or series, for a module M is a family of proper submodules ordered by inclusion

$$0 = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_{n-1} \subset M_n = M.$$

A series for a module M is called a composition series if successive quotients are irreducible modules:  $M_k/M_{k-1} \cong S^{\lambda_k}$  for some  $\lambda_k \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . Similarly, a series is called a Verma (or standard) series if successive quotients are Verma modules:  $M_k/M_{k-1} \cong M^{\lambda_k}$  for some  $\lambda_k \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ .

We have already observed in Proposition 3.3.8 that irreducible modules of typical weight are projective. Given any  $V \in \mathcal{C}$  and  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  typical, we have a surjection

$$\overleftarrow{\operatorname{ev}}_{S^{\lambda}} \otimes Id_{V} : S^{\lambda} \otimes (S^{\lambda})^{*} \otimes V \to \mathbb{1} \otimes V \cong V$$

$$(3.3.11)$$

where  $S^{\lambda} \otimes (S^{\lambda})^* \otimes V$  is projective since projective modules form an ideal in pivotal categories (see [GPV, Lemma 17]), so  $\mathcal{C}$  has enough projectives and since every module in  $\mathcal{C}$  is finite, every module in  $\mathcal{C}$  has a projective cover. We denote by  $P^{\lambda}$  the projective cover of  $S^{\lambda}$ , and it follows easily from the defining property of projective modules that  $P^{\lambda}$  is also the projective cover of  $M^{\lambda}$ . Replacing V in Equation (3.3.11) by an arbitrary Verma module  $M^{\mu}$  and noting  $M^{\lambda} \cong S^{\lambda}$  for typical  $\lambda$  (recall Proposition 3.3.4 and 3.3.6), we obtain a surjection from the projective module  $M^{\lambda} \otimes (M^{\lambda})^* \otimes M^{\mu}$  onto  $M^{\mu}$ . It then follows that  $P^{\mu}$  appears in the decomposition of  $M^{\lambda} \otimes (M^{\lambda})^* \otimes M^{\mu}$  into a direct sum of projective covers. It can be shown that  $M^{\lambda} \otimes (M^{\lambda})^* \otimes M^{\mu}$  has a standard filtration by the argument in [Hu, Theorem 3.6], and  $P^{\mu}$  then has a standard filtration by the argument in [Hu, Theorem it is a summand of a module admitting a standard filtration. We denote by  $(P^{\lambda} : M^{\mu})$  the multiplicity of  $M^{\mu}$  in the standard filtration of  $P^{\lambda}$ , and  $[M^{\mu} : S^{\lambda}]$  the multiplicity of  $S^{\lambda}$  in the composition series of  $M^{\mu}$ . With the existence of the duality functor  $M \to \check{M}$  satisfying the properties in Proposition 3.3.11, BGG reciprocity follows as in [Hu]:

**Proposition 3.3.12.** BGG reciprocity holds in  $\mathcal{C}$ . That is, we have  $(P^{\lambda} : M^{\mu}) = [M^{\mu} : S^{\lambda}]$ .

Let  $P \in \mathcal{C}$  be projective, then P is isomorphic to a direct sum of projective covers of irreducible modules:  $P \cong \bigoplus_{\lambda_k \in \mathfrak{h}^*} c_{\lambda_k} P^{\lambda_k}$  for some  $c_{\lambda_k} \in \mathbb{Z}_+$ . Since unrolling the quantum group gives us additive weights, rather than multiplicative weights, the argument of [Hu, Corollary 3.10] can be used to show that projectives in  $\mathcal{C}$  are determined up to isomorphism by their characters, which we include here for convenience. It is clearly enough to show that the characters determine the coefficients  $c_{\lambda_k}$  of P, since then two projective modules with coinciding characters will both be isomorphic to the same sum of projective covers. We proceed by induction on length of standard filtrations. If P has length 1, it is a Verma module and the statement is trivial. If P has length > 1, let

$$0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_n = P$$

with  $M_k/M_{k-1} \cong M^{\mu_k}$  denote a standard filtration of P, so  $\operatorname{ch}[P] = \sum_{i=1}^n d_{\mu_i} \operatorname{ch}[M^{\mu_i}]$ . Let  $\lambda$  be minimal s.t.  $d_{\lambda} \neq 0$ . By BGG reciprocity,  $(P^{\mu} : M^{\lambda}) \neq 0$  iff  $[M^{\lambda} : S^{\mu}] \neq 0$ , so  $\mu \leq \lambda$  and therefore by minimality of  $\lambda$ ,  $P^{\lambda}$  appears in the decomposition of P with multiplicity  $d_{\lambda}$ , that is,  $P = d_{\lambda}P^{\lambda} \oplus \tilde{P}$  for some projective module  $\tilde{P}$ . By the induction assumption, the coefficients of  $\tilde{P}$  are determined by its character, so P is determined by up to isomorphism by its character.

**Proposition 3.3.13.** Projective modules in C are isomorphic if their characters coincide.

It is apparent from the construction of projective covers in [CGP1] for  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  that the socle and top of projective covers coincide. This is actually a general feature of  $\mathcal{C}$  for any  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ and is a consquence of the following theorem:

## **Theorem 3.3.14.** $P^{\lambda}$ is self-dual $(\check{P}^{\lambda} \cong P^{\lambda})$ .

Proof. We first recall that any indecomposable module is a quotient of a direct sum of projective covers. Indeed, any cyclic indecomposable module M has a unique maximal submodule and irreducible quotient  $S^{\lambda}$ . This gives a surjection  $\phi: M \twoheadrightarrow S^{\lambda}$  and projectivity of  $P^{\lambda}$  guarantees the existence of a map  $\varphi: P^{\lambda} \to M$  such that  $\phi \circ \varphi = q^{\lambda}$  where  $q^{\lambda}: P^{\lambda} \to S^{\lambda}$  is the essential surjection. It follows that there exists a  $v \in P^{\lambda}$  such that  $\phi \circ \varphi(v) = v_{\lambda} \in S^{\lambda}$  and since  $\phi: M \twoheadrightarrow S^{\lambda}$  is the quotient map (by the maximal ideal of M), we see that  $\varphi(v)$  lies in the top of M and therefore generates M (otherwise it lies in the maximal submodule). Hence,  $\varphi: P^{\lambda} \to M$  is surjective. Any indecomposable  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  is finitely generated by some  $\{v_1, ..., v_n\}$ , so there exists a canonical surjection  $\Phi: \bigoplus_{k=1}^n P^{\lambda_k} \to M$  given by mapping each  $P^{\lambda_k}$  onto the cyclic submodules  $\langle v_k \rangle$  of M. We therefore have for each  $\check{P}^{\lambda}$  a short exact

sequence

$$0 \to N^{\lambda} \to \bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} P^{\lambda_k} \to \check{P}^{\lambda} \to 0$$

for some  $\lambda_1, ..., \lambda_m \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  and some submodule  $N^{\lambda}$  of  $\bigoplus_{k=1}^m P^{\lambda_k}$ . Applying the duality functor, we obtain an exact sequence

$$0 \to P^{\lambda} \to \bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} \check{P}^{\lambda_{k}} \to \check{N}^{\lambda} \to 0$$

 $\mathcal{C}$  is pivotal so by [GPV, Lemma 17], projective and injective objects coincide in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Therefore, the sequence splits and  $P^{\lambda}$  is a summand of  $\bigoplus_{k=1}^{m} \check{P}^{\lambda_{k}}$ . Further, it is easy to see that the functor  $X \to \check{X}$  preserves indecomposability since taking duals and twisting by  $\omega$  preserve indecomposability in  $\mathcal{C}$ . Since the  $\check{P}^{\lambda_{k}}$  are indecomposable, we have  $P^{\lambda} \cong \check{P}^{\lambda_{k}}$  for some  $\lambda_{k} \in \mathfrak{h}^{*}$  and  $\operatorname{ch}[\check{P}^{\lambda}] = \operatorname{ch}[P^{\lambda}]$ , so we must have  $\lambda_{k} = \lambda$ . That is,  $\check{P}^{\lambda} \cong P^{\lambda}$ .

Theorem 3.3.14 has the following immediate corollary

Corollary 3.3.15. • Socle $(P^{\lambda}) = S^{\lambda}$ .

- $P^{\lambda}$  is the injective hull of  $S^{\lambda}$ .
- $\mathcal{C}$  is Unimodular.

Unimodularity follows from  $P^0$  being the injective hull of 1 (see [ENO, EGNO]), so by [GKP, Corollary 3.2.1], we see that there exists a right trace on the ideal of projective modules in C (for details on categorical traces see [GP2, Subsection 1.3].). It then follows exactly as in [GP2, Theorem 22] that this right trace is in fact a two-sided trace:

Corollary 3.3.16. C admits a unique non-zero two-sided trace on the ideal Proj of projective modules.

# Chapter 4

# Algebra Objects and Simple Currents in $\operatorname{Rep}\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})^{wt}$

In this Chapter we construct families of commutative (super) algebra objects in the category of weight modules for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  of a simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  at roots of unity, and study their categories of local modules. We determine their simple modules and derive conditions for these categories being finite, non-degenerate, and ribbon. Motivated by numerous examples in the  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_2$  case, we expect some of these categories to compare nicely to categories of modules for vertex operator algebras. We focus in particular on examples expected to correspond to the higher rank triplet vertex algebra  $W_Q(r)$  of Feigin and Tipunin [FT] and the  $B_Q(r)$  algebras of [C1].

# 4.1 Preliminaries

The identification in Proposition 2.1.8 between irreducible  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and  $W_{A_1}^0(r)$ -modules preserved twists. The higher rank singlet  $W_Q^0(r)$  (see [CM2] for details) is a subalgebra of the Heisenberg vertex algebra whose rank is that of Q and for  $\lambda \in \sqrt{rP}$  it is expected that  $F_{\lambda}$  has a simple  $W_Q^0(r)$ -submodule  $M_{\lambda}$  that is a simple current. This Conjecture would follow from [M, Cor. 4.8] together with [Su] if one could prove that  $W_Q(r)$  is a simple vertex algebra and braided tensor category exists on a category of  $W_Q^0(r)$  that contains all the  $M_{\lambda}$ . The twist is determined from the action of  $e^{2\pi i L_0}$  with  $L_0$  the Virasoro zero-mode of the vertex algebra. The twist acts on Fock spaces  $F_{\lambda}$  by the scalar  $\theta_{F_{\lambda}} = e^{\pi i \langle \lambda, \lambda + \frac{2(1-r)}{\sqrt{r}} \rho \rangle}$ . It then follows from Equation 3.3.10, that the twists on  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W_Q^0(r)$  and  $\operatorname{Rep} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})^{wt}$  act on  $F_{\lambda}$  and  $S^{\sqrt{r}\lambda}$ by the same scalar. We therefore make the identification

$$\phi: \operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W^0_Q(r) \mapsto \operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}^H_q(\mathfrak{g}), \qquad M_\lambda \subset F_\lambda \to S^{\sqrt{r}\lambda}$$

$$(4.1.1)$$

for  $\lambda \in \sqrt{rP}$ . Note that the simple currents in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W_Q^0(r)$  are conjecturally precisely the Fock spaces  $M_\lambda \subset F_\lambda$  with  $\lambda \in \sqrt{rP}$  while the simple currents in  $\operatorname{Rep}_{wt} \overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  (for  $\mathfrak{g}$  of ADE type) are the irreducibles  $S^\lambda$  with  $\lambda \in rP$  (see [R, Remark 4.7]), so  $\phi$  identifies simple currents.

### Higher rank Heisenberg vertex operator algebra

One of the examples we are interested in is the Deligne product  $\mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H}$  of the category  $\mathcal{C}$  of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  weight modules with a semi-simple category  $\mathcal{H}$  of modules over the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra. We define and review the category  $\mathcal{H}$  in this section following [DN]. Tensor category structure is due to [CKLR].

Let  $\mathfrak{h}$  be the Cartan subalgebra of  $\mathfrak{g}$  and  $\hat{\mathfrak{h}} = \mathfrak{h} \otimes \mathbb{C}[t, t^{-1}] \oplus \mathbb{C}K$  the corresponding affine Lie algebra. Let  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  and denote by  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}$  the the usual Fock space

$$\mathsf{F}_{\lambda} := U(\mathfrak{h}) \otimes_{U(\mathfrak{h} \otimes \mathbb{C}[t] \oplus \mathbb{C}K)} \mathbb{C}$$

where  $\mathfrak{h} \otimes t\mathbb{C}[t]$  acts trivially on  $\mathbb{C}$ ,  $\mathfrak{h}$  acts as  $\lambda(h)$  for all  $h \in \mathfrak{h}$ , and K acts as 1. For  $h \in \mathfrak{h}$ and  $n \in \mathbb{Z}$  we adopt the notation  $h(n) := h \otimes t^n \in \mathfrak{h} \otimes \mathbb{C}[t, t^{-1}]$  and define

$$h(z) := \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} h(n) z^{-n-1}.$$

The Fock space  $\mathsf{H} := \mathsf{F}_0$  carries the structure of a vertex operator algebra. Set  $1 := 1 \otimes 1$  and for any  $v := h_1(-n_1) \cdots h_m(-n_m) \mathbf{1} \in \mathsf{H}$  where  $h_1, \dots, h_m \in \mathfrak{h}$ , we define the vertex operator Y(-, z) acting on  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}$  by

$$Y(v,z) :=: [\partial^{n_1-1}h_1(z)] \cdots [\partial^{n_m-1}h_m(z)]: ,$$

where  $\partial^k = \frac{1}{n!} (\frac{d}{dz})^k$  and XY: denotes the normal ordering of two fields X, Y. Set  $\omega :=$ 

 $\frac{1}{2}\sum_{k=1}^{n}H_{k}(-1)^{2}\mathbf{1}$  where  $H_{1}, ..., H_{n}$  is an orthonormal basis of  $\mathfrak{h}$  with respect to the Killing form, and we denote  $Y(\omega, z) = \sum_{n \in \mathbb{Z}} L_{n} z^{-n-1}$ . Then,  $\mathsf{H} := \mathsf{F}_{0}$  is a vertex operator algebra and it has vertex tensor categories of Fock modules, but for that one has to ensure that conformal weight is real (see [CKLR, Theorem 2.3], which requires the action of the  $H_{k}$  to be either real or purely imaginary. For us the latter case is relevant, e.g.

**Theorem 4.1.1.**  $(\mathsf{H}, Y, \mathbb{1}, \omega)$  is a simple vertex operator algebra called the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra with vacuum 1, state-field correspondence Y(-, z), and Virasoro element  $\omega$ . We define  $\mathcal{H}$  to be the category of H-modules on which  $\mathfrak{h}$  acts semisimply and  $\lambda(H_k) \in i\mathbb{R}$ for all  $k = 1, \ldots, n$ . This category is semisimple and generated by the Fock modules  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . Tensor products are additive in the index  $(\mathsf{F}_{\lambda_1} \otimes \mathsf{F}_{\lambda_2} \cong \mathsf{F}_{\lambda_1+\lambda_2})$ , so all Fock spaces are simple currents with  $\mathsf{F}_{-\lambda}$  the inverse of  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}$ . The braiding and twist on  $\mathcal{H}$  are given by

Braiding 
$$c_{\mathsf{F}_{\lambda_1},\mathsf{F}_{\lambda_2}} = \tau \circ e^{\pi i \langle \lambda_1, \lambda_2 \rangle}$$
 (4.1.2)

$$\theta_{\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}} = e^{\pi i \langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle} \mathrm{Id}_{\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}} \tag{4.1.3}$$

where  $\tau$  is the usual flip map.

# 4.2 Simple Current Extensions

Twist

We want to construct and study braided tensor categories related to the module categories of the higher rank triplet  $W_Q(r)$  (see [BM, Mi, CM2]) and "Bp"  $B_Q(r)$  (see [C3]) vertex operator algebras associated to the root lattice Q of a simple finite dimensional complex Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  of ADE type. The triplet  $W_Q(r)$  is an infinite order simple current extension of the singlet algebra inside  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W_Q^0(r)^{\oplus}$ , while  $B_Q(r)$  is a simple current extension in the Deligne product  $(\operatorname{Rep} W_Q^0(r) \boxtimes \mathcal{H})^{\oplus}$  where  $\mathcal{H}$  is the category in Definition 4.1.1. In the  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_2$ case (see [CGR, ACKR]), such categories can be constructed from the category of weight modules over the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  through the identification of simple  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and  $W_{A_1}^0(p)$ -modules found in [CMR, Theorem 1]. We therefore study algebra objects in the category  $\mathcal{C}$  of weight modules over  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  and  $\mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H}$ . Both cases can be handled simultaneously by considering categories of a particular form.

Throughout this section, let  $\mathcal{B}$  be a braided tensor category whose simple currents  $\{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \mid \lambda \in \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}\}$ 

 $\mathcal{L}$  are indexed by a normed lattice  $(\mathcal{L}, \langle -, -\rangle)$  such that the braiding on simple currents is given by  $c_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1},\mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2}}(v_{\lambda_1} \otimes v_{\lambda_2}) = q^{\langle \lambda_1,\lambda_2 \rangle}v_{\lambda_2} \otimes v_{\lambda_1}$  for a primitive  $\ell$ -th root of unity q and  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2} \cong \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1+\lambda_2}$ . We assume also that objects in  $\mathcal{B}$  carry vector space structure and dimEnd $(\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}) = 1$  for all  $\lambda \in \mathcal{L}$ . For any lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ , define the object

$$\mathcal{A}_L := \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_\lambda \in \mathcal{B}^\oplus.$$

where  $\mathcal{B}^{\oplus}$  denotes an appropriate direct sum completion of  $\mathcal{B}$  (see [AR]).

**Theorem 4.2.1.**  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is an associative algebra object for all  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ .  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is commutative if and only if  $\sqrt{2/\ell}L$  is an even lattice. That is, if and only if  $\langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  and  $2\langle \lambda, \mu \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda, \mu \in L$ .

*Proof.* To realize  $\mathcal{A}_L$  as a commutative algebra object in  $\mathcal{B}^\oplus$ , we must define a product  $\mu : \mathcal{A}_L \otimes \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{A}_L$  and unit  $\iota : \mathbb{C}_0 \to \mathcal{A}_L$  satisfying the associativity, unit, and commutativity constraints:

$$\mu \circ (\mu \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_L}) = \mu \circ (\mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_L} \otimes \mu) \circ a_{\mathcal{A}_L, \mathcal{A}_L, \mathcal{A}_L}, \qquad (4.2.1)$$

$$\mu \circ (\iota \otimes \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_L}) \circ l_{\mathcal{A}_L}^{-1} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathcal{A}_L}, \tag{4.2.2}$$

$$\mu \circ c_{\mathcal{A}_L, \mathcal{A}_L} = \mu, \tag{4.2.3}$$

where  $a_{\mathcal{A}_L,\mathcal{A}_L,\mathcal{A}_L}$  is the associativity constraint,  $l_{\mathcal{A}_L}$  the left unit constraint, and  $c_{\mathcal{A}_L,\mathcal{A}_L}$ the braiding. Denote by  $1_{\lambda}$  a generator of  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$ . We may assume that  $\iota(1) = 1_0$ . Since dimEnd( $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$ ) = 1, we have

$$\mu(1_{\lambda_1} \otimes 1_{\lambda_2}) = t_{\lambda_1, \lambda_2} 1_{\lambda_1 + \lambda_2} \tag{4.2.4}$$

for some  $t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} \in \mathbb{C}$  and it is easy to see that  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is a commutative algebra object if and only if these scalars satisfy

$$t_{\lambda_1+\lambda_2,\lambda_3}t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} = t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2+\lambda_3}t_{\lambda_2,\lambda_3},$$
  

$$t_{\lambda,0} = t_{0,\lambda} = 1,$$
  

$$t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} = t_{\lambda_2,\lambda_1}q^{\langle\lambda_1,\lambda_2\rangle}.$$
  
(4.2.5)

Let  $\mathcal{A}'_L$  denote the same object with algebra structure given by structure constants  $t'_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$ . It is easy to see that  $\mathcal{A}_L$  and  $\mathcal{A}'_L$  are isomorphic if and only if there exist scalars  $\phi_{\lambda}, \lambda \in L$  such that

$$t'_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} = \frac{\phi_{\lambda_1+\lambda_2}}{\phi_{\lambda_1}\phi_{\lambda_2}} t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}.$$
(4.2.6)

Denote by  $\{\gamma_i\}_{i=1}^m$  the generators of L. Then we can write any  $\lambda \in L$  as  $\lambda = \sum_{i=1}^m n_i \gamma_i$  for some  $n_i \in \mathbb{Z}$ , and we fix the notation

$$\lambda^{>k} = \sum_{i>k} n_i \gamma_i, \qquad \lambda^{\geq k} = \sum_{i\geq k} n_i \gamma_i, \qquad \lambda^k = n_k \gamma_k.$$
(4.2.7)

with  $\lambda^{\leq k}, \lambda^{\leq k}$  defined similarly. Fix non-zero scalars  $\phi_{\gamma_i}$  and define the scalar  $\phi_{\lambda}$  for any  $\lambda \in L$  recursively by the relations

$$\phi_0 = 1 \qquad \qquad \phi_{n\gamma_i} = \frac{\phi_{(n-1)\gamma_i}\phi_{\gamma_i}}{t_{(n-1)\gamma_i,\gamma_i}} \qquad \qquad \phi_{\lambda} = \frac{\phi_{\lambda < m}\phi_{\lambda^m}}{t_{\lambda < m,\lambda^m}}$$

and let  $t'_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$  be the scalars determined by equation (4.2.6). We have the following:

$$t_{0,\lambda}' = t_{\lambda,0}' = 1, \quad t_{n\gamma_i,\gamma_i}' = \frac{\phi_{(n+1)\gamma_i}}{\phi_{n\gamma_i}\phi_{\gamma_i}} t_{n\gamma_i,\gamma_i} = 1, \quad t_{\lambda< k,n\gamma_{k'}}' = \frac{\phi_{\lambda< k+n\gamma_{k'}}}{\phi_{\lambda< k}\phi_{n\gamma_{k'}}} t_{\lambda< k,n\gamma_{k'}} = 1, \quad (4.2.8)$$

for all  $n \in \mathbb{Z}, i = 1, ...m, k' \ge k$ . By associativity, we then have

$$t'_{n\gamma_i,m\gamma_i} = \frac{t'_{(n+m-1)\gamma_i,\gamma_i}t'_{n\gamma_i,(m-1)\gamma_i}}{t'_{(m-1)\gamma_i,\gamma_i}} = t'_{n\gamma_i,(m-1)\gamma_i}.$$

We therefore see that  $t'_{n\gamma_i,m\gamma_i} = 1$  for all  $n, m \in \mathbb{Z}$  and i = 1, ..., m. We can translate this and equation (4.2.8) into the notation of (4.2.7) as

$$t_{\lambda^k,\mu^k} = 1 \qquad \qquad t_{\lambda^{< k},\mu^k} = 1$$

for all  $\lambda, \mu \in L$  and k = 1, ..., m. We then see that

$$t'_{\lambda \le k,\mu^{k}} = \frac{t'_{\lambda^{k},\mu^{k}} t'_{\lambda \le k,\lambda^{k} + \mu^{k}}}{t'_{\lambda \le k,\lambda^{k}}} = 1$$
(4.2.9)

for any  $\lambda, \mu \in L$ . It follows again by associativity and equation (4.2.9) that for any k,

 $t'_{\lambda,\mu^{\leq k}} = t'_{\lambda+\mu^{\leq k-1},\mu^{k-1}}t'_{\lambda,\mu^{\leq k-1}}.$  Then,

$$t'_{\lambda,\mu} = t'_{\lambda+\mu^{  
=  $t'_{\lambda+\mu^{ (4.2.10)  
=  $\cdots = \prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda+\mu^{$$$$

Then, for any  $\lambda, \mu \in L$  and any k = 1, ..., m we have

$$\begin{split} t'_{\lambda \leq k, \mu^{>k}} &= \prod_{s=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda \leq k+(\mu^{>k}) < s, (\mu^{>k})^{s}} \\ &= \prod_{s=k+1}^{m} t'_{\lambda \leq k+(\mu^{>k}) < s), \mu^{s}} \\ &= \prod_{s=k+1}^{m} t'_{(\lambda \leq k+\mu^{>k}) < s, \mu^{s}} = 1 \end{split}$$

where we have used equation (4.2.8) and (4.2.9), and the fact that s > k in the last line. So, we have  $t'_{\lambda,\mu^k} = t'_{\lambda \le k,\lambda > k,\mu^k} t'_{\lambda \le k,\lambda > k} = t'_{\lambda \le k,\lambda > k+\mu^k} t'_{\lambda > k,\mu^k} = t'_{\lambda > k,\mu^k}$  for any  $\lambda, \mu \in L$ . In particular,  $t'_{\lambda+\mu \le k,\mu^k} = t'_{\lambda > k,\mu^k}$ , so equation (4.2.10) can be rewritten as

$$t'_{\lambda,\mu} = \prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda^{>k},\mu^{k}} = \prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle \lambda^{>k},\mu^{k} \rangle} t'_{\mu^{k},\lambda^{>k}} = \prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle \lambda^{>k},\mu^{k} \rangle}$$
(4.2.11)

We are now ready to evaluate equations 4.2.5. Let  $\lambda_i = \sum_{j=1}^m n_j^i \gamma_j \in L$  (i = 1, 2, 3). Then, we have

$$\begin{aligned} t'_{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}}t'_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}} &= t'_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}+\lambda_{3}}t'_{\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}} \\ \Leftrightarrow \qquad \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda_{1}+\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}^{k}}\right)\left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}^{k}}\right) &= \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}^{k}+\lambda_{3}^{k}}\right)\left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda_{2},\lambda_{3}^{k}}\right) \\ \Leftrightarrow \qquad \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k}+\lambda_{2}^{>k},\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle}\right)\left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{2}^{k}\rangle}\right) &= \left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{2}^{k}+\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle}\right)\left(\prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{2}^{>k},\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle}\right) \\ \Leftrightarrow \qquad \prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle}q^{\langle\lambda_{2}^{>k},\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle}q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{2}^{k}\rangle} &= \prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{2}^{k}\rangle}q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle}q^{\langle\lambda_{2}^{>k},\lambda_{3}^{k}\rangle} \end{aligned}$$

which is trivially true for all  $\lambda_i \in L$ . Therefore,  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is an algebra object for all  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ . For commutativity, we obtain the following:

$$\begin{aligned} t'_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}} &= t'_{\lambda_{2},\lambda_{1}}q^{\langle\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}\rangle} \\ \Leftrightarrow & \prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}^{k}} = q^{\langle\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}\rangle} \prod_{k=1}^{m} t'_{\lambda_{2},\lambda_{1}^{k}} \\ \Leftrightarrow & \prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{1}^{>k},\lambda_{2}^{k}\rangle} = q^{\langle\lambda_{1},\lambda_{2}\rangle} \prod_{k=1}^{m} q^{\langle\lambda_{2}^{>k},\lambda_{1}^{k}\rangle} \\ \Leftrightarrow & q^{\sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j>k} n_{j}^{1}n_{k}^{2}\langle\gamma_{j},\gamma_{k}\rangle} = q^{\sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j>k} (n_{k}^{1}n_{j}^{2} + n_{j}^{1}n_{k}^{2})\langle\gamma_{j},\gamma_{k}\rangle + \sum_{k=1}^{m} n_{k}^{1}n_{k}^{2}\langle\gamma_{k},\gamma_{k}\rangle} q^{\sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j>k} n_{j}^{2}n_{k}^{1}\langle\gamma_{j},\gamma_{k}\rangle} \\ \Leftrightarrow & 1 = q^{\sum_{k=1}^{m} n_{k}^{1}n_{k}^{2}\langle\gamma_{k},\gamma_{k}\rangle} q^{\sum_{k=1}^{m} \sum_{j>k} 2n_{k}^{1}n_{j}^{2}\langle\gamma_{j},\gamma_{k}\rangle}. \end{aligned}$$

Clearly, this holds for all  $n_k^1, n_j^2 \in \mathbb{Z}$  if  $\langle \gamma_k, \gamma_k \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  for all k, and  $2\langle \gamma_j, \gamma_k \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  whenever  $j \neq k$ . It is also easy to see that we can choose appropriate coefficients to obtain the equations  $q^{\langle \gamma_k, \gamma_k \rangle} = 1$  and  $q^{2\langle \gamma_j, \gamma_k \rangle} = 1$ . Hence, commutativity holds if and only if

$$\langle \gamma_i, \gamma_j \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$$
 if  $i = j$   
 $2 \langle \gamma_i, \gamma_j \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  if  $i \neq j$ 

It is easy to check that this conditions implies

$$\langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$$
$$2 \langle \lambda, \mu \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$$

for all  $\lambda, \mu \in L$ .

We have the following useful corollary of the proof of Theorem 4.2.1:

**Corollary 4.2.2.** The scalars  $t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$  of equation (4.2.4) defining the product  $\mu : \mathcal{A}_L \otimes \mathcal{A}_L \to \mathcal{A}_L$  are non-zero.

Let  $L^{\mu}$  be the lattice defined by adding a generator  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}$  to a lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$ , and let

$$\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}} = igoplus_{\lambda \in L^{\mu}} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$$

be the corresponding algebra object. Note that if  $\mu = 0$ , we recover the usual algebra objects defined above. If  $\mu \notin L$  and  $2\mu \in L$ , then every element in  $L^{\mu}$  is in L or  $\mu + L$ , so we can decompose  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  as  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\bar{0}} \oplus \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\bar{1}}$  where

$$\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\bar{0}} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} = \mathcal{A}_{L}, \qquad \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\bar{1}} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\mu+\lambda},$$

and it is easy to show that  $\mu(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\overline{i}} \otimes \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\overline{j}}) \subset \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}^{\overline{i+j}}$  since dimHom $(\mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1}, \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2}) = \delta_{\lambda_1, \lambda_2}$ . Hence,  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is a superalgebra object, and we have shown the first part of the following proposition:

**Proposition 4.2.3.** Let  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_L$  is commutative and  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}$  such that  $\mu \notin L$ and  $2\mu \in L$ , then  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is a superalgebra.  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is supercommutative if and only if

$$2\langle \mu, \mu \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z} \setminus 2\ell \mathbb{Z}$$
 and  $2\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$ 

for all  $\lambda \in L$ .

*Proof.* It follows from the proof of Theorem 4.2.1 that  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is isomorphic to an algebra object with structure constants  $t_{\lambda,\mu}$  as in equation (4.2.4) satisfying equation (4.2.11). Recall that

$$\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \oplus \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\mu+\lambda}$$

where  $\bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$  and  $\bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\mu+\lambda}$  are the  $\bar{0}$  and  $\bar{1}$  components of the  $\mathbb{Z}_2$ -grading respectively. For  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  to be supercommutative,  $\mathcal{A}_L$  must be commutative which holds if and only if  $\langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  and  $2\langle \lambda, \lambda' \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$  by Theorem 4.2.1. It then follows from equation (2.1.8) that to show  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is supercommutative, we need to show that

$$t_{\mu+\lambda_1,\mu+\lambda_2} = -q^{\langle \mu+\lambda_1,\mu+\lambda_2 \rangle} t_{\mu+\lambda_2,\mu+\lambda_1}$$
(4.2.12)

$$t_{\mu+\lambda_1,\lambda_2} = q^{\langle \mu+\lambda_1,\lambda_2 \rangle} t_{\lambda_2,\mu+\lambda_1} \tag{4.2.13}$$

$$t_{\lambda_1,\mu+\lambda_2} = q^{\langle\lambda_1,\mu+\lambda_2\rangle} t_{\mu+\lambda_2,\lambda_1} \tag{4.2.14}$$

for all  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in L$ . Let  $\gamma_1, ..., \gamma_m$  be a generating set for L, and  $\gamma_{m+1} = \mu$ . We can apply Equation (4.2.11) to obtain the following relations

$$t_{\mu+\lambda_1,\mu+\lambda_2} = q^{\langle\mu,\lambda_2\rangle} t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2},$$
  
$$t_{\mu+\lambda_1,\lambda_2} = q^{\langle\mu,\lambda_2\rangle} t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2},$$
  
$$t_{\lambda_1,\mu+\lambda_2} = t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2},$$

for all  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in L$ . It then follows from an easy computation using the fact that  $t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2} = q^{\langle \lambda_1,\lambda_2 \rangle} t_{\lambda_2,\lambda_1}$  (from the proof of Theorem 4.2.1) that  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is supercommutative if and only if

$$2\langle \mu, \mu \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z} \setminus 2\ell \mathbb{Z}$$
 and  $2\langle \mu, \lambda \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z}$ 

for all  $\lambda \in L$ .

The categories C and  $C \boxtimes \mathcal{H}$  consist of finite length modules and therefore all indecomposables have simple submodules. If we assume this property for  $\mathcal{B}$ , then we have the following proposition which was proven in [CKM, Proposition 4.4] for module categories of vertex operator algebras, but holds more generally:

**Proposition 4.2.4.** Suppose every indecomposable object in  $\mathcal{B}$  has a simple subobject. Then  $N \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is simple if and only if  $N \cong \mathscr{F}(M)$  for a simple object  $M \in \mathcal{B}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $M \in \mathcal{B}$  be simple and suppose  $\mathscr{F}(M) \in \operatorname{Rep}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is reducible with proper subobject X. We then have a  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ -morphism  $X \hookrightarrow \mathscr{F}(M)$  which gives a  $\mathcal{B}$ -morphism

$$\mathcal{G}(X) \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}(\mathscr{F}(M)) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L^{\mu}} M^{\lambda} \in \mathcal{B}^{\oplus}$$

by Frobenius reciprocity, where we have adopted the notation  $M^{\lambda} := \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \otimes M$ . Since every  $M^{\lambda} \in \mathcal{B}$  is simple, we have that

$$\mathcal{G}(X) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in T} M^{\lambda}$$

for some non-empty subset  $T \subset L^{\mu}$ . By Corollary 4.2.2, the scalars  $t_{\lambda_1,\lambda_2}$  defining the product

on  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are non-zero, so we see that the action of  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  on  $\mathscr{F}(M)$  satisfies

$$\mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \cdot M^{\gamma} \cong M^{\lambda + \gamma}.$$

In particular, any summand  $M^{\gamma}$  generates  $\mathscr{F}(M)$ , so  $X = \mathscr{F}(M)$  and we see that  $\mathscr{F}(M)$  has no non-trivial proper subobjects. It follows that the induction  $\mathscr{F}(M)$  of a simple object  $M \in \mathcal{B}$  is always simple.

Let  $N \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0} \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  be simple and N' an indecomposable summand in  $\mathcal{G}(N) \in \mathcal{B}^{\oplus}$  (so  $N' \in \mathcal{B}$ ). Then N' contains a simple submodule M and we therefore have a non-zero map  $f : M \to N' \hookrightarrow \mathcal{G}(N)$ . By Frobenius reciprocity, we obtain a non-zero  $\operatorname{Rep} \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ -morphism  $g : \mathscr{F}(M) \to N$ , which is an isomorphism because N and  $\mathscr{F}(M)$  are both simple.  $\Box$ 

Given any superalgebra object  $A = A^{\bar{0}} \oplus A^{\bar{1}}$ , it is easy to check that  $A^{\bar{1}} \in \operatorname{Rep} A^{\bar{0}}$  with action given by the restriction  $\mu|_{A^{\bar{0}} \otimes A^{\bar{1}}} : A^{\bar{0}} \otimes A^{\bar{1}} \to A^{\bar{1}}$  of the product  $\mu : A \otimes A \to A$ . Suppose A is supercommutative and a direct sum of simple currents such that  $A^{\bar{0}} = \mathcal{A}_L$  for some lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$  and  $A^{\bar{1}}$  is a non-trivial simple object in  $\operatorname{Rep} A^{\bar{0}}$ . Since A is supercommutative,  $A^{\bar{0}} = \mathcal{A}_L$  is commutative and because  $A^{\bar{1}}$  is simple in  $\operatorname{Rep} A^{\bar{0}}$ , we know  $A^{\bar{1}} \cong \mathscr{F}(M)$  for some simple module  $M \in \mathcal{B}$  by Proposition 4.2.4. Since A is a direct sum of simple currents,  $A^{\bar{1}} \cong \mathscr{F}(M) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \otimes M$  is a direct sum of simple currents, so we must have  $M \cong \mathbb{C}_{\mu}$  for some  $\mu \in \mathcal{L}$ . Hence, we have

$$A = A^{\overline{0}} \oplus A^{\overline{1}} \cong \mathcal{A}_L \oplus \mathcal{G}(\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{C}_\mu)) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_\lambda \oplus \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_{\mu+\lambda} = \mathcal{A}_{L^\mu}.$$

Since  $m(\mathbb{C}_{\mu} \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\mu}) \subset \mathcal{A}_{L}$  we have  $2\mu \in L$ , and  $\mu \notin L$  otherwise  $A^{\overline{1}} = \mathcal{G}(\mathscr{F}(\mathbb{C}_{\mu})) = \mathcal{A}_{L}$  is trivial in Rep $\mathcal{A}_{L}$ . We therefore have the following:

**Corollary 4.2.5.** Let  $A = A^{\bar{0}} \oplus A^{\bar{1}}$  be a supercommutative superalgebra which is a direct sum of simple currents such that  $A^{\bar{0}} = \mathcal{A}_L$  for some lattice  $L \subset \mathcal{L}$  and  $A^{\bar{1}}$  is a non-trivial simple object in Rep $A^{\bar{0}}$ . Then  $A = \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  for some lattice  $L^{\mu} \subset \mathcal{L}$  is of the type described in Proposition 4.2.3.

## 4.3 Examples

Recall from Definition 3.3.1 that a  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$ -module V is called a weight module if the  $H_i$  act semi-simply on V and we have  $K_{\gamma} = q^{\sum_{i=1}^n k_i d_i H_i}$  as operators on V for  $\gamma = \sum_{i=1}^n k_i \alpha_i \in \mathsf{L}$ , and  $\mathcal{C}$ denotes the category of weight modules for  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  at  $\ell$ -th root of unity. We denote by  $M^{\lambda}$ and  $S^{\lambda}$  the Verma and irreducible modules of highest weight  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  in  $\mathcal{C}$ , and by  $P^{\lambda}$  the projective cover of  $S^{\lambda}$ . As noted in [R, Remark 4.6], the simple-currents in  $\mathcal{C}$  are given by the set

$$\left\{S^{\lambda} \,|\, \lambda \in \mathcal{L}\right\} \tag{4.3.1}$$

where  $\mathcal{L} := \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^* \mid \lambda(H_i) \in \frac{\ell}{2d_i}\mathbb{Z}\}$ . Throughout this section, we will denote by  $\Gamma(X)$  the set of weights of a module  $X \in \mathcal{C}$ , and we adopt the notation  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda} := S^{\lambda}$  when  $\lambda \in \mathcal{L}$ .

**Lemma 4.3.1.** For any  $\lambda \in \mathcal{L}$ , the braiding  $c_{-,-}$  acts as  $\tau \circ \mathscr{H}$  (recall Equation 3.3.8) on  $X \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}, \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \otimes X \in \mathcal{C}$  for all  $X \in \mathcal{C}$ .

Proof. Recall that the braiding in  $\mathcal{C}$  is given by  $\tau \circ \mathscr{H}\mathscr{R}$  where  $\tau$  is the flip map and  $\mathscr{H}$  and  $\mathscr{R}$  are defined by Equation 3.3.8 and 3.3.9. It follows immediately from equation (3.3.9) that action of the braiding coincides with that of  $\tau \circ \mathscr{H}$  on  $X \otimes \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$  and  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \otimes X \in \mathcal{C}$  since for all  $i, X_{\pm i}$  acts as zero on  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$ .

**Theorem 4.3.2.** •  $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$  if and only if  $\lambda \in \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^{*}$ .

- Let  $X \in \mathcal{C}$  and let  $P_X \in C$  be the projective cover of X. Then  $\mathscr{F}(X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$  if and only if  $\mathscr{F}(P_X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ .
- $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda})$  is the projective cover of  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})$  in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ .
- The distinct irreducible objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are given by the set  $\{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})\}$ where  $\Lambda(L^{\mu}) := \frac{\ell}{2} (L^{\mu})^* / \frac{\ell}{2} (L^{\mu})^* \cap L^{\mu}$ .  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is finite if and only if  $\operatorname{rank}(L^{\mu}) = \operatorname{rank}(P)$ .

*Proof.* Recall from Definition 2.1.12 that  $\mathscr{F}(X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$  if and only if  $M_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda},X} = c_{X,\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}} \circ$ 

 $c_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda},X} = \text{Id for all } \lambda \in L^{\mu}$ . It follows from Lemma 4.3.1 and equation (3.3.8) that for any vector  $w_{\gamma} \in X$  of weight  $\gamma \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  we have

$$M_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda},X}(v_{\lambda} \otimes w_{\gamma}) = q^{2\langle\lambda,\gamma\rangle} \mathrm{Id}$$

$$(4.3.2)$$

We therefore have X local if and only if  $2\langle\lambda,\gamma\rangle \in \ell\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma(X)$  and  $\lambda \in L^{\mu}$ , which holds if and only if  $\gamma \in \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^*$  for all  $\gamma \in \Gamma(X)$ . Recall, however, that  $L^{\mu} \subset \mathcal{L}$ , so it is easy to see that  $\alpha \in \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^*$  for all  $\alpha \in Q$ . For any cyclic indecomposable  $X \in \mathcal{C}$ , all of the weights of X differ by an element of Q, so  $\mathscr{F}(X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  if and only if any one of its weights  $\gamma \in \Gamma(X)$  satisfies equation (4.3.2). In particular,  $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  if and only if  $\lambda \in \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^*$  and  $\mathscr{F}(X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  if and only if  $\mathscr{F}(P_X) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  as their weights dif and only ifer by elements in Q.

Define  $G := \{\gamma \in \mathfrak{h}^* | 2\langle \lambda, \gamma \rangle \in \ell \mathbb{Z} \quad \forall \lambda \in L^{\mu}\} = \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^*$ , so  $\mathscr{F}(P^{\gamma}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$  if and only if  $\gamma \in G$ . It is easy to see that two irreducible modules  $S^{\gamma_1}, S^{\gamma_2}$  induce to the same module if and only if  $\gamma_1 - \gamma_2 \in L^{\mu}$ . In particular, the set of distinct  $\mathscr{F}(L^{\gamma})$  is in bijective correspondence with the quotient of free abelian groups  $G/(G \cap L^{\mu})$ , which is finite if and only if  $\operatorname{rank}(G) = \operatorname{rank}(G \cap L^{\mu})$ , which holds if and only if  $L^{\mu}$  has full  $\operatorname{rank}(\operatorname{rank}(L^{\mu}) = \operatorname{rank}(P))$ .

It follows immediately from Frobenius reciprocity that  $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is projective, and the surjection  $f: P^{\lambda} \twoheadrightarrow S^{\lambda}$  induces to a surjection  $\mathscr{F}(f) = Id_{\mathcal{A}_{L}} \otimes f: \mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda}) \to \mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})$ . If  $\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda})$  is not the projective cover of  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})$ , then  $\mathscr{F}(f)$  must not be essential. That is, there exists a proper submodule  $A \subset \mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda})$  such that  $\mathscr{F}(f)(A) = \mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})$ . Note that

$$\mathscr{F}(P^{\lambda}) \cong \bigoplus_{\gamma \in L} P^{\lambda + \gamma} \qquad \qquad \mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}) \cong \bigoplus_{\gamma \in L} S^{\lambda + \gamma}$$

and we must have  $\mathscr{F}(f)|_{P^{\lambda+\gamma}}: P^{\lambda+\gamma} \to S^{\lambda+\gamma}$ . Therefore, if f is not essential, there exists a  $P^{\gamma}$  with a submodule A' which surjects onto  $S^{\gamma}$ , contradicting the fact that  $P^{\gamma}$  is the projective cover of  $S^{\gamma}$ .

Recall that  $r = \ell$  if  $\ell$  is odd and  $r = \ell/2$  if  $\ell$  is even. We have the following:

**Lemma 4.3.3.** If  $r \nmid 2d_i$  for all i, then  $\operatorname{Ext}^1(\mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1}, \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2}) = 0$  for all  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathcal{L}$ .

*Proof.* Let  $N \in \text{Ext}^1(\mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1}, \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2})$ , that is,

$$0 \to \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2} \to N \to \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1} \to 0. \tag{4.3.3}$$

If  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2$ , then the sequence splits since  $X_{\pm i}$  acts as zero for all i as  $\operatorname{ch}[N] = 2z^{\lambda}$  and the  $H_i$  act semisimply. Suppose now that  $\lambda_1 > \lambda_2$ . If the sequence does not split, we must have  $\lambda_1 = \lambda_2 - \alpha_i$  for some i (otherwise,  $X_{\pm i}v_{\lambda_1} = 0$  for all i and the sequence splits as above). Any vector  $n_{\lambda_1} \in N(\lambda_1)$  is highest weight and generates N. We therefore have a quotient map  $\phi : M^{\lambda_1} \to N v_{\lambda_1} \mapsto n_{\lambda_1}$ , from the Verma module  $M^{\lambda_1}$  of highest weight  $\lambda_1$  onto N. However,  $\lambda_1 \in \mathcal{L}$ , so it follows from equation (3.2.5) that we have

$$X_i X_{-i}^2 v_{\lambda_1} = [\lambda_1(H_i) - 2]_i v_{\lambda_1} = -[2]_i X_{-i} v_{\lambda_1}$$

 $[2]_i = 0$  if and only if  $r|2d_i$ . We then see that  $X_{-i}^2 v_{\lambda_1} \neq 0$ , a contradiction, so the module N cannot exist if  $r \nmid 2d_i$  for all *i*. If  $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ , then the above argument tells us that the dualized sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_1} \to \tilde{N} \to \mathbb{C}_{\lambda_2} \to 0$$

splits, where (-) is the exact contravariant functor defined in [R, Subsection 4.2], hence the original sequence splits.

Let  $L^{\mu} \subset \mathcal{L}$  such that  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is a supercommutative superalgebra object. Recall from Equation (3.3.10), that the twist acts on  $\mathbb{C}_{\gamma}$  as

$$\theta_{\mathbb{C}_{\gamma}} = q^{\langle \gamma, \gamma + 2(1-r)\rho \rangle} \mathrm{Id} = q^{\langle \gamma, \gamma \rangle + 2(1-r)\langle \gamma, \rho \rangle} \mathrm{Id}.$$

It then follows from [CKM, Proposition 2.86] and Proposition 4.2.3 that  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is ribbon if  $2(1-r)\langle\lambda,\rho\rangle \in \ell\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda \in L$  and  $2(1-r)\langle\mu,\rho\rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ . This gives us the first statement of the following proposition, where we recall that  $\Lambda(L^{\mu}) := \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^*/\frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^* \cap L^{\mu}$ .

**Proposition 4.3.4.** Let  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  be a supercommutative superalgebra. Then

• Rep<sup>0</sup> $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is ribbon if  $2(1-r)\langle\lambda,\rho\rangle \in \ell\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda \in L$  and  $2(1-r)\langle\mu,\rho\rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$ .

• If  $r \nmid 2d_i$  for all i, then  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  has non-trivial Müger center if and only if there exists a  $\lambda \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})$  such that  $\langle \lambda, \gamma \rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\gamma \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})$ .

Proof. As the braiding on induced modules (hence all simple modules) in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  descends from that of  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  [CKM, Theorem 2.67] (i.e. acts by the same scalar), an irreducible module  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is transparent to all other irreducible modules  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda'}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  if and only if it satisfies

$$c_{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}),\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda'})} \circ c_{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda'}),\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})} = q^{2\langle\lambda,\lambda'\rangle} \mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})\otimes\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda'})} = \mathrm{Id}_{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda})\otimes\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda'})}$$

for all  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda'}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ . Recall from Theorem 4.3.2 that irreducibles in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are given by the set  $\{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}) \mid \lambda \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})\}$  where  $\Lambda(L^{\mu}) = \frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^{*}/\frac{\ell}{2}(L^{\mu})^{*} \cap L^{\mu}$ . Hence,  $\mathscr{F}(L^{\lambda})$ is transparent if and only if  $\langle \lambda, \lambda' \rangle \in \frac{\ell}{2}\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda' \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})$ . It follows that if there is no such  $\lambda \in \Lambda(L^{\mu})$ , then the only transparent irreducible object is the unit object  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ . If an indecomposable module  $X \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  is transparent, then all of the irreducible factors in its composition series are. Therefore, all transparent objects in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are extensions of  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ . Suppose now that we have an object  $N \in \operatorname{Ext}^{1}_{\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L}^{\mu}}(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}, \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}})$ , that is,

$$0 \to \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}} \to N \to \mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}} \to 0.$$

This sequence splits if and only if dim Hom $(\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}, N) = 2$ . The restriction functor  $\mathcal{G}$ : Rep $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}} \to \mathcal{C}$  then yields a corresponding sequence

$$0 \to \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L^{\mu}} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \xrightarrow{\iota} \mathcal{G}(N) \xrightarrow{\pi} \bigoplus_{\lambda \in L^{\mu}} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \to 0$$

in  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$ . Let  $\iota_{\gamma} := \iota|_{\mathbb{C}_{\gamma}}$  and  $N^{\gamma}$  the indecomposable factor in  $\mathcal{G}(N)$  containing  $\operatorname{Im}(\iota_{\gamma})$ . Then we have an exact sequence

$$0 \to \mathbb{C}_{\gamma} \xrightarrow{\iota_{\gamma}} N^{\gamma} \xrightarrow{\pi|_{N^{\gamma}}} \bigoplus_{\lambda \in T} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \to 0$$

for some finite  $T \subset \mathcal{L}$ . It follows from Lemma 4.3.3 that this sequence splits for all  $\gamma$ , so dim Hom<sub> $\mathcal{C}$ </sub>( $\mathbb{C}_{\gamma}, \mathcal{G}(N)$ )  $\geq 2$ . By Frobenius reciprocity, we have dim Hom( $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}, X$ )  $\geq 2$ , so the original sequence splits. It follows that all transparent objects in Rep<sup>0</sup> $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$  are trivial (direct sums of  $\mathcal{A}_{L^{\mu}}$ ).

## **4.3.1** Braided Tensor Categories for $W_Q(r)$

The triplet vertex operator algebra  $W_Q(r)$  associated to the root lattice Q of a finite dimensional complex simple Lie algebra  $\mathfrak{g}$  of ADE type can be written as a simple current extension of the singlet as

$$W_Q(r) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in \sqrt{r}Q} F_\lambda \in (\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W_Q^0(r))^{\oplus}.$$

The algebra object in  $\mathcal{C}^{\oplus}$  corresponding to the triplet vertex operator algebra under the map  $\phi : \operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W^0_Q(r) \to \operatorname{Rep} \overline{U}^H_q(\mathfrak{g})^{wt}$  of Equation (4.1.1) is

$$\mathcal{A}_{rQ} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in rQ} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda}$$

It follows from Theorem 4.3.2 that the irreducible modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}^0 \mathcal{A}_L$  are

$$\{\mathscr{F}(S^{\lambda}) \,|\, \lambda \in P/rQ\}$$

Recall that the order |P/rQ| is equal to the determinant of the change of basis matrix  $A_{rQ\leftarrow P}$ , which is easily seen to be rA where A is the Cartan matrix of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , so  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  has  $\operatorname{Det}(A) \cdot r^{\operatorname{rank}(\mathfrak{g})}$  distinct irreducible objects. Further, we have  $\langle \rho, \alpha \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\alpha \in Q$ , so it follows from Proposition 4.3.4 that  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  is ribbon. Suppose  $\lambda \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{L}$  is transparent, i.e.  $\langle \lambda, \gamma \rangle \in r\mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\gamma \in P/rQ$ . It follows that  $\langle \lambda, \omega_k \rangle \in r\mathbb{Z}$  for all fundamental weights  $\omega_k \in P$ , so  $\lambda \in Q/rQ$  and we can write  $\lambda = \sum_{k=1}^n m_i \alpha_i$  where  $\sum_{k=1}^n m_i \in r\mathbb{Z}$  and  $0 \leq m_i < r$ . Then, if  $\langle \lambda, \rho \rangle \in r\mathbb{Z}$ , choose j such that  $n_j \neq 0$ , then  $\langle \lambda, \rho + \omega_j \rangle = \langle \lambda, \rho \rangle + m_j \notin r\mathbb{Z}$ . Hence,  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  has trivial Müger center by Proposition 4.3.4.

**Proposition 4.3.5.** Rep<sup>0</sup> $\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  is a finite non-degenerate ribbon category (i.e. Log-Modular) with det(A)  $\cdot r^{\text{rank}(\mathfrak{g})}$  distinct irreducible modules.

We expect that  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{rQ}$  and the category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle}W_{Q}(r)$  generated by irreducible  $W_{Q}(r)$ modules are ribbon equivalent.

## **4.3.2** Braided Tensor Categories for $B_Q(r)$

Let H denote the Heisenberg vertex operator algebra of Subsection 4.1 whose rank coincides with that of  $\mathfrak{g}$ , and  $\mathcal{H}$  the category of modules on which the zero-mode  $L_0$  of the Virasoro element acts semi-simply. This category is semisimple with irreducible modules  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda}$ ,  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ and fusion rules

$$\mathsf{F}_{\lambda} \otimes \mathsf{F}_{\mu} \cong \mathsf{F}_{\lambda+\mu}.$$

We see then every object  $\mathsf{F}_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{H}$  is a simple current with tensor inverse  $\mathsf{F}_{-\lambda}$ . Hence, any object  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma} \in \mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H}$  in the Deligne product of  $\mathcal{C} \mathcal{H}$  with  $\gamma \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  and  $\lambda \in \mathcal{L} = \{\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^* \mid \lambda(H_i) \in \frac{\ell}{2d_i}\mathbb{Z}\}$  is a simple current. We can therefore define a family  $\mathfrak{B}_L^a$  of objects in  $(\mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H})^{\oplus}$  where  $a \in \mathbb{C}$  as:

$$\mathfrak{B}^a_L := igoplus_{\lambda \in L} \mathbb{C}_\lambda oxtimes \mathsf{F}_{a\lambda}$$

It follows from Lemma 4.3.1 and Equation (4.1.2) that the braiding in  $\mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H}$  acts on simple currents as  $c_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}\boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{a\lambda},\mathbb{C}_{\mu}\boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{a\mu}} = q^{(1+pa^2)\langle\lambda,\mu\rangle}Id$ . We then have the following corollary of Theorem 4.2.1:

**Corollary 4.3.6.**  $\mathfrak{B}_L^a \in (\mathcal{C} \boxtimes \mathcal{H})^{\oplus}$  is a commutative algebra object if and only if

$$(1 + pa^2) \langle \lambda, \lambda' \rangle \in p\mathbb{Z},$$
  
$$(1 + pa^2) \langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle \in 2p\mathbb{Z},$$

for all  $\lambda, \lambda' \in L$ .

The higher rank  $B_Q(r)$  vertex operator algebras of ADE type can be realized as (see [C3, Section 3])

$$B_Q(r) = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in P} M_{\sqrt{r\lambda}} \otimes \mathsf{F}_{\sqrt{-r\lambda}} \in \operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} \mathcal{W}^0(r)_{\mathfrak{g}} \otimes \mathcal{H}$$

$$(4.3.4)$$

where  $M_{\sqrt{r\lambda}}$  is a simple current for  $W_Q^0(r)$ , which corresponds to  $\mathbb{C}_{r\lambda}$  under the correspondence in equation (4.1.1).  $B_Q(r)$  therefore corresponds to the object

$$\mathfrak{B}^{a_r}_{rP} := \bigoplus_{\lambda \in P} \mathbb{C}_{r\lambda} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\sqrt{-r}\lambda} = \bigoplus_{\lambda \in rP} \mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{a_r\lambda}$$

where  $a_r = \sqrt{-1/r}$ , which clearly satisfies the conditions of Corollary 4.3.6 since  $1 + ra_r^2 = 0$ .

It follows from Equations (3.3.10) and (4.1.3) that the twist acts on  $\mathbb{C}_{\lambda} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{a_r\lambda}$  as

$$\theta_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}\boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{a_{r}\lambda}} = \theta_{\mathbb{C}_{\lambda}}\boxtimes \theta_{\mathsf{F}_{a_{r}\lambda}} = q^{\langle \lambda, \lambda + 2(1-r)\rho \rangle - \langle \lambda, \lambda \rangle} = q^{2(1-r)\langle \lambda, \rho \rangle}$$

Hence, by [CKM, Proposition 2.86]  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$  is ribbon if and only if  $(1-r)\langle\lambda,\rho\rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$ for all  $\lambda \in P$ .  $\rho \in \frac{1}{2}Q$ , so this holds if r is odd, or  $\rho \in Q$ . The irreducible modules in  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$  are  $\{\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}) \mid \langle \lambda, \mu + ra_r\gamma \rangle \in \mathbb{Z} \text{ for all } \lambda \in P\}$  with relations  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}) \cong$  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu+\lambda} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma+a_r\lambda})$  for all  $\lambda \in rP$ . The monodromy (double braiding) acts on pairs of irreducible modules  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}), \mathscr{F}(S^{\mu'} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma'})$  as  $M_{\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}), \mathscr{F}(S^{\mu'} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma'})} = q^{2\langle\mu,\mu'\rangle+2r\langle\gamma,\gamma'\rangle}$ , so  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma})$  is transparent if and only if

$$2\langle \mu, \mu' \rangle + 2r \langle \gamma, \gamma' \rangle \in 2r\mathbb{Z}$$

$$(4.3.5)$$

for all  $\mu', \gamma' \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  such that  $\langle \lambda, \mu' + ra_r \gamma' \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda \in P$ . It is easy to see that  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$  implies  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu+\alpha} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma+\frac{1}{ra_r}\beta}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathcal{A}_{rP}$  for all  $\alpha, \beta \in Q$ . It then follows from Equation (4.3.5) that  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma})$  is transparent if and only if  $\mu \in rP$  and  $\gamma \in ra_r P$ . Let  $\mu = r\tilde{\mu}$  and  $\gamma = ra_r\tilde{\gamma}$  where  $\tilde{\mu}, \tilde{\gamma} \in P$ . Then,

 $\begin{aligned} & 2\langle \mu, \mu' \rangle + 2r \langle \gamma, \gamma' \rangle \in 2r\mathbb{Z} \\ \Leftrightarrow & 2r \langle \tilde{\mu}, \mu' \rangle + 2r^2 a_r \langle \tilde{\gamma}, \gamma' \rangle \in 2r\mathbb{Z} \\ \Leftrightarrow & \langle \tilde{\mu}, \mu' \rangle + \langle \tilde{\gamma}, \mu' \rangle - \langle \tilde{\gamma}, \mu' \rangle + r a_r \langle \tilde{\gamma}, \gamma' \rangle \in \mathbb{Z} \\ \Leftrightarrow & \langle \tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\gamma}, \mu' \rangle + \langle \tilde{\gamma}, \mu' + r a_r \gamma' \rangle \in \mathbb{Z} \\ \Leftrightarrow & \langle \tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\gamma}, \mu' \rangle \in \mathbb{Z} \end{aligned}$ 

where we have used the fact that  $\langle \lambda, \mu' + ra_r \gamma' \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\lambda \in P$  and  $\gamma' \in P$ . Hence,  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma})$  is transparent if and only if  $\langle \tilde{\mu} - \tilde{\gamma}, \mu' \rangle \in \mathbb{Z}$  for all  $\mu'$  such that  $\mathscr{F}(S^{\mu'} \boxtimes \mathsf{F}_{\gamma'}) \in \operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$  for some  $\gamma' \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . This clearly never holds as we can always choose a  $\mu'$  not in the root lattice Q. Hence, there are no transparent objects and the argument in Proposition 4.3.4 can be applied to show that the Müger center is trivial. We therefore make the following conjecture for the full subcategory  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} B_Q(r)$  of  $B_Q(r)$ -modules generated by irreducibles:

**Proposition 4.3.7.** Rep<sup>0</sup> $\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$  is non-degenerate, ribbon if r is odd or  $\rho \in Q$ , and the
irreducible modules can be indexed as

$$\{S^{\mu}_{\gamma} \mid \mu, \gamma \in \mathfrak{h}^*, \text{ and } \mu + ra_r \gamma \in Q \}$$

with relations  $S^{\mu}_{\gamma} \cong S^{\mu+\lambda}_{\gamma+a_r\lambda}$  for all  $\lambda \in rP$ , where  $a_r = \sqrt{-1/r}$ .

We expect that  $\operatorname{Rep}^{0}\mathfrak{B}_{rP}^{a_r}$  and the category  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle}B_Q(r)$  generated by irreducible  $B_Q(r)$ -modules are ribbon equivalent.

## Chapter 5

# Projective modules for $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$

In this Chapter we consider the special case of  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ , which is the easiest case beyond rank 1. The category of weight modules for  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$  is expected to be ribbon equivalent to the category of modules generated by irreducibles for the singlet vertex algebra  $W_{A_2}^0(2)$ ,  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W_{A_2}^0(2)$ . The corresponding triplet  $W_{A_2}(2)$  and  $B_{A_2}(2)$  algebras can be constructed from this category.  $B_{A_2}(2)$  is particularly interesting because it is isomorphic to the simple affine vertex algebra  $L_{-\frac{3}{2}}(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . Our primary focus is to study the structure of projective modules in the category of weight modules for  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . To reach this goal, we determine the structure and characters of all irreducible modules, and the Loewy diagrams for Verma modules. Combining these results with the self-duality of projective covers (Theorem 3.3.14) allows us to determine the Loewy diagrams of all projective covers. Knowing the Loewy diagrams also allows us to compute all tensor product  $S^\lambda \otimes M^\mu$  between irreducible modules and projective Verma modules. The results of this chapter will appear in a future paper coauthored with Thomas Creutzig and David Ridout, along with the construction of braided tensor categories for  $W_{A_2}(2)$  and  $B_{A_2}(2)$ , and a comparison with the known properties of  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} W_{A_2}(2)$  and  $\operatorname{Rep}_{\langle s \rangle} L_{-\frac{3}{4}}(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ .

### 5.1 Irreducible and Verma modules

Throughout this chapter we consider the category of weight modules C for the unrolled restricted quantum group  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ . Recall from Propositions 3.3.4 and 3.3.6 that the ir-

reducibility of a Verma module  $M^{\lambda}$  is determined by the typicality  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . This can be translated into the  $\mathfrak{g} = \mathfrak{sl}_3$  case as follows:

**Definition 5.1.1.** For  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ , let  $\lambda_j := \langle \lambda + \rho, \alpha_j \rangle$  for j = 1, 2 and  $\lambda_3 = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2$ . We call  $\lambda_k$  ( $k \in \{1, 2, 3\}$ ) typical if  $\lambda_k \in \mathbb{C} := \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z} \cup 2\mathbb{Z}$ . We call a weight  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  typical if  $\lambda_k$  is typical for k = 1, 2, 3, and semi-typical if some, but not all  $\lambda_k$  are typical. Note that

$$\lambda_k = \langle \lambda + \rho, \alpha_k \rangle = \langle \lambda, \alpha_k \rangle + 1 = \lambda(H_k) + 1.$$
(5.1.1)

It is easy to check that there are five distinct cases:

- 1.  $\lambda$  typical,
- 2.  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,
- 3.  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,
- 4.  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  or  $\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{Z} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,
- 5.  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

Each case yields a different structure for  $S^{\lambda}$ , as described in the following proposition:

**Proposition 5.1.2.** • If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 1$  and ch $[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda}$ .

• If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  with  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 4$  with

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$$

• If  $\lambda$  is semi-typical with atypical index  $\lambda_i$   $(i \in \{1, 2\})$ , then if  $j \neq i \in \{1, 2\}$ ,

$$\dim(S^{\lambda}) = 3 \qquad \operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_j} + z^{\lambda - (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)} \qquad \qquad \text{if } \lambda_j \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$

$$\dim(S^{\lambda}) = 4 \qquad \operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_j} + z^{\lambda - (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_i - 2\alpha_j} \qquad \text{if } \lambda_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$$

• If  $\lambda$  is typical, then dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 8$  and

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda}] = z^{\lambda} \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{-}} \left( \frac{z^{2\alpha} - 1}{z - 1} \right)$$

Proof. Let  $v_{\lambda} \in S^{\lambda}$  be a vector of weight  $\lambda$ . If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$  and  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  are maximal since  $X_k X_{-k'}v_{\lambda} = \delta_{k,k'}[\lambda(H_k)]v_{\lambda} = 0$  by Equation (5.1.1), and are therefore contained in the maximal submodule of  $M^{\lambda}$ . Hence,  $S^{\lambda}$  is one-dimensional with character  $z^{\lambda}$ .

Suppose that  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_3 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then we have  $\lambda(H_1) + \lambda(H_2) = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 - 2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  by Equation (5.1.1). We have the following relation:

$$\begin{aligned} X_1([\lambda(H_2) - 1]X_{-1}X_{-2}v_\lambda + [\lambda(H_2)]X_{-2}X_{-1}v_\lambda) &= ([\lambda(H_2) - 1][\lambda(H_1) + 1] + [\lambda(H_2)][\lambda(H_1)])X_{-2}v_\lambda \\ &= 2(i^{\lambda(H_1 + H_2)} + i^{-\lambda(H_1 + H_2)})X_{-2}v_\lambda \\ &= 2(i^{\lambda(H_1 + H_2)} + (-1)^{\lambda(H_1 + H_2)}i^{\lambda(H_1 + H_2)})X_{-2}v_\lambda \\ &= 2(i^{\lambda(H_1 + H_2)} - i^{\lambda(H_1 + H_2)})X_{-2}v_\lambda = 0 \end{aligned}$$

where the second line follows by expanding terms and the final line follows from  $\lambda(H_1) + \lambda(H_2) \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . We also have the relation

$$\begin{aligned} X_2([\lambda(H_2) - 1]X_{-1}X_{-2}v_\lambda + [\lambda(H_2)]X_{-2}X_{-1}v_\lambda) &= [\lambda(H_2)]([\lambda(H_2) - 1] + [\lambda(H_2) + 1])X_{-1}v_\lambda \\ &= \frac{[\lambda(H_2)]}{\{1\}}(i^{\lambda(H_2)}(i + i^{-1}) - i^{-\lambda(H_2)}(i + i^{-1})) = 0 \end{aligned}$$

since  $i^{-1} = -i$ . We therefore see that  $v = [\lambda(H_2) - 1]X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda} + [\lambda(H_2)]X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda} \in M^{\lambda}(\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)$  is maximal and generates a proper submodule which must also contain  $X_{-1}v, X_{-2}v$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v$ . Further, since  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ , we easily check that  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}, X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  are not in the maximal submodule of  $M^{\lambda}$ . Hence,  $S^{\lambda}$  has dimension 4 and character  $z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$ .

Let  $\lambda_1 \in \ddot{\mathbb{C}}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then,  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  is maximal since  $X_k X_{-2}v_{\lambda} = \delta_{k,2}[\lambda(H_2)]v_{\lambda} = 0$ . Therefore,  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ ,  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ ,  $X_{-2}X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  are all contained in the maximal submodule of  $M^{\lambda}$ . We have the following:

$$\begin{aligned} X_1 X_{-1} v_\lambda &= [\lambda(H_1)] v_\lambda, \\ X_2 X_{-2} X_{-1} v_\lambda &= [\lambda(H_2) + 1] X_{-1} v_\lambda, \\ X_1 X_{-1} X_{-2} X_{-1} v_\lambda &= [\lambda(H_1) - 1] X_{-2} X_{-1} v_\lambda + [\lambda(H_1)] X_{-1} X_{-2} v_\lambda \\ X_2 X_{-1} X_{-2} X_{-1} v_\lambda &= 0. \end{aligned}$$

We therefore see that  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$  and  $X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$  are not contained in the maximal submodule of  $M^{\lambda}$  since  $[\lambda(H_1)]$  and  $[\lambda(H_2)+1]$  are non-zero, and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$  is contained in the maximal submodule iff  $\lambda(H_1) - 1 = \lambda_1 - 2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , so the result follows. The case  $\lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C}, \lambda_1 \notin 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  is similar.

If  $\lambda$  is typical, then  $S^{\lambda} = M^{\lambda}$ . The Verma module  $M^{\lambda}$  is a free  $\overline{U}_{q}^{H}(\eta^{-})$ -module, so by Proposition 3.2.4 has a basis given by  $\{X_{-1}^{n_1}X_{-3}^{n_3}X_{-2}^{n_2}v_{\lambda} \mid n_k = 0, 1\}$  where  $X_{-3} := -X_{-2}X_{-1} + qX_{-1}X_{-2}$  is the vector associated to the root  $-\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$ . Therefore, dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 2^3 = 8$  and the character is given by

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda}] = \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda}] = \sum_{\substack{n_{\alpha}=0\\\alpha\in\Delta^{+}}}^{1} z^{\lambda-\sum_{\alpha\in\Delta^{+}}n_{\alpha}\alpha} = z^{\lambda} \prod_{\alpha\in\Delta^{+}} \left(\sum_{n_{\alpha}=0}^{1} z^{n_{\alpha}\alpha}\right) = z^{\lambda} \prod_{\alpha\in\Delta^{+}} \left(\frac{z^{2\alpha}-1}{z-1}\right).$$

where we have adopted the notation  $n_k = n_{\alpha_k}$  for k = 1, 2 and  $n_3 = n_{\alpha_1 + \alpha_2}$ 

We are now ready to begin constructing Loewy diagrams, which we now define. Recall that a filtration, or series, for a module M is a family of proper submodules ordered by inclusion as

$$0 = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_{n-1} \subset M_n = M.$$

Such a series is a composition (standard) series if successive quotients are irreducible (Verma) modules:  $M_k/M_{k-1} \cong S^{\lambda_k} (M_k/M_{k-1} \cong M^{\lambda_k})$  for some  $\lambda_k \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . Loewy diagrams are defined in terms of socle filtrations.

**Definition 5.1.3.** The socle filtration of M is the filtration defined by  $M_1 = Socle(M)$ 

(the socle of a module is its largest semi-simple submodule) and we inductively define  $M_k$ to be the largest submodule of M such that  $M_k/M_{k-1}$  is semi-simple. We define the Loewy diagram of M to be the diagram whose k-th layer from the bottom consists of composition factors of the semisimple module  $M_k/M_{k-1}$  with downward arrows indicating submodule inclusion.

Knowing the structure of irreducibles in each case is sufficient for determining the Loewy diagrams of Verma modules.

**Proposition 5.1.4.** The Loewy diagrams for the reducible  $M^{\lambda}$  are as follows:





Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ .







Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ .  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}.$ 







Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ 

Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

where left superscripts indicate the dimension of  $S^{\lambda}$ .

Proof. Let  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . It follows from Proposition 5.1.2 that the top of  $M^{\lambda}$  is a 3 dimensional irreducible module spanned by  $v_{\lambda}$ ,  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$ . One easily checks that  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  are maximal. Each of these vectors generate submodules of  $M^{\lambda}$ and we have

$$(\lambda - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + 1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z} \qquad (\lambda - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 - 2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$(\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 - 1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z} \qquad (\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 - 1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$(\lambda - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 - 3 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z} \qquad (\lambda - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$$

Therefore by Proposition 5.1.2  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  generates submodule whose irreducible quotient is one dimensional, and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  generates an irreducible 3-dimensional submodule spanned by  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}, X_{-2}X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ . We therefore see that  $X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ generates the socle of  $M^{\lambda}$ , and it is easy to check that the image of  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$  is maximal in  $M^{\lambda}/Soc(M^{\lambda})$  and generates a 1-dimensional irreducible submodule of  $M^{\lambda}/Soc(M^{\lambda})$  of weight  $\lambda - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$ . The Loewy diagram then follows:



Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ .

where the left superscript indicates dimension. Let  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then by Proposition 5.1.2, the irreducible quotient of  $M^{\lambda}$  is 4-dimensional with basis given by the images of  $v_{\lambda}$ ,  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$ ,  $X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$ . We also have that  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  is maximal and

$$(\lambda - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + 1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \qquad (\lambda - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 - 2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}.$$

Therefore, it follows again from Proposition 5.1.2 that  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  generates an irreducible submodule with highest weight  $\lambda - \alpha_2$  and dimension 4. The  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  case is similar. We therefore have the following Loewy diagrams:



Let  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ , then it is easy to check as above that  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}, X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ , and  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$ are maximal and generate submodules whose irreducible quotients have dimension 3, 3, and 1 respectively by Proposition 5.1.2, while the irreducible quotient of  $M^{\lambda}$  is also dimension 1. It is clear then that  $X_{-1}X_{-2}X_{-1}X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  generates the socle of  $M^{\lambda}$  and it is easy to check that the submodule generated by  $X_{-1}v_{\lambda}$  does not contain  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}$  and vice versa. We therefore have the following Loewy diagram:



Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ .

If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then it follows from Proposition 5.1.2 that the irreducible quotient  $S^{\lambda}$  of  $M^{\lambda}$  has character  $z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$ . It was observed in the proof of Proposition 5.1.2 that there exists a maximal vector v of weight  $\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$ . It is easily seen that  $\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  is of the same weight type as  $\lambda$  and therefore v generates a 4-dimensional irreducible submodule. The result follows.

#### 5.2 **Projective Modules**

Recall from Theorem 3.3.14 that projective covers in the category of weight modules of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{g})$  are self-dual under the exact contravariant duality functor (-) of Subsection 3.3.2. It turns out that for  $\overline{U}_i^H(\mathfrak{sl}_3)$ , with a few additional observations, this constrains the projective covers enough to determine their Loewy diagrams. We begin by establishing two necessary lemmas.

**Lemma 5.2.1.** For  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  such that  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , there does not exist a module with a Loewy diagram of the form



*Proof.* Suppose there exists such a module M. Then by Proposition 5.1.2, we have  $ch[M] = 2(z^{\lambda}+z^{\lambda-\alpha_1}+z^{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2})+z^{\lambda+\alpha_2}+z^{\lambda-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$ . Let  $\{v_{\lambda}^1, v_{\lambda}^2, v_{\lambda-\alpha_1}^1, v_{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}^1, v_{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}^1, v_{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}^2, v_{\lambda+\alpha_2}, v_{\lambda-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2}\}$  be a basis for M where the  $v_{\mu}^1$  generate the top  $S^{\lambda}$  and  $v_{\mu}^2$  generate the socle. We immediately see that  $X_{-2}v_{\lambda}^i = 0$  since  $\lambda - \alpha_2$  is not a weight of M, and from the form of the Loewy diagram we have  $X_2v_{\lambda}^1 = av_{\lambda+\alpha_2}, X_{-2}v_{\lambda+\alpha_2} = bv_{\lambda}^2$  for some non-zero scalars a, b. It follows from the identity  $X_2X_{-2} = X_{-2}X_2 + \frac{K_2-K_2^{-1}}{q-q^{-1}}$  that

$$0 = X_2 X_{-2} v_{\lambda}^1 = X_{-2} X_2 v_{\lambda}^1 + [\lambda(H_2)] v_{\lambda}^1 = X_{-2} X_2 v_{\lambda}^1 = a b v_{\lambda}^2,$$

a contradiction.

**Lemma 5.2.2.** Suppose the socle filtration of  $P^{\lambda}$  has length *n*. Then we have the following:

- An irreducible module  $S^{\mu}$  appears in the k-th row of the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  iff it also appears in the (n + 1 k)-th row.
- There is an arrow from  $S^{\mu_1}$  in the (k-1)-st row to  $S^{\mu_2}$  in the k-th row of the Loewy

diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  iff there is an arrow from  $S^{\mu_2}$  in the (n+1-k)-th row to  $S^{\mu_1}$  in the (n+2-k)-th row.

*Proof.* We first establish the isomorphism  $\operatorname{Socle}(M) \cong \operatorname{Top}(\check{M})$  for any module  $M \in \mathcal{C}$ , where  $\operatorname{Top}(N)$  is the largest semisimple quotient of N. Suppose  $S^{\mu}$  is an irreducible factor appearing in  $\operatorname{Socle}(M)$ . Then we have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to S^{\mu} \to M \to M/S^{\mu} \to 0.$$

The duality functor is involutive and preserves irreducibles by [R, Proposition 4.11], so this short exact sequence holds if and only if the short exact sequence

$$0 \to (M/S^{\mu}) \to M \to S^{\mu} \to 0.$$

holds as well. Hence,  $S^{\mu}$  appears in Socle(M) if and only if it appears in  $Top(\tilde{M})$  with the same multiplicity. Now, let

$$0 = M_0 \subset M_1 \subset \cdots \subset M_n = P^{\lambda}$$

be a socle filtration for  $P^{\lambda}$  as defined in Subsection 5.1.3. If  $S^{\mu}$  appears in the (n+1-k)-th row of the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$ , then by definition it appears in  $\text{Top}(M_k)$  and therefore appears in  $\text{Socle}(\check{M}_k)$ . We have a short exact sequence

$$0 \to M_k \to P^\lambda \to P^\lambda/M_k \to 0$$

which yields another exact sequence

$$0 \to (P^{\lambda}/M_k) \to P^{\lambda} \to \check{M}_k \to 0,$$

where we have used Theorem 3.3.14, so  $\check{M}_k$  is a quotient of  $P^{\lambda}$  whose socle filtration has length k (since  $M_k$  has length k). In particular, this means that the irreducible factors appearing in the socle of  $\check{M}_k$  must appear in the k-th row of the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$ , hence  $S^{\mu}$  appears there. The other direction is given by replacing k with n + 1 - k above.

Suppose now that there is an arrow from  $S^{\mu_2}$  in the (n+1-k)-th row to  $S^{\mu_1}$  in the (n+2-k)-

th row. In particular, this means that there exist cyclic submodules  $N_1 \,\subset N_2 \,\subset P^{\lambda}$  whose socle filtrations have length have length k-1 and k respectively and  $\operatorname{Top}(N_1) = S^{\mu_1}$  and  $\operatorname{Top}(N_2) = S^{\mu_2}$ . In particular,  $N_1 \subset N_2$  implies that  $\check{N}_1$  is a quotient of  $\check{N}_2$ . Since  $\check{N}_1$  has socle filtration length k-1,  $\operatorname{Socle}(\check{N}_1) = S^{\mu_1}$  appears in the (k-1)-st row of the Loewy diagram of  $\check{N}_2$  and has an arrow to  $\operatorname{Socle}(\check{N}_2) = S^{\mu_1}$  in the k-th row of the diagram since by definition all factors in the second last row of a diagram must have an arrow to the socle in the final row (otherwise they would be irreducible, and hence in the socle i.e. the final row). The statement then follows since  $\check{N}_2$  is a quotient of  $P^{\lambda}$ . The other direction follows by replacing n + 1 - k and n + 2 - k with k and k - 1 above.

With these two Lemma's, we are now ready to prove the main theorem for this section.

**Theorem 5.2.3.** The Loewy diagrams and Verma factors (in the standard filtration) for the projective covers are:



Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ Verma factors:  $M^{\lambda}, M^{\lambda+\alpha_1}$  Verma factors:  $M^{\lambda}, M^{\lambda+\alpha_2}$ 



Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ Verma factors:  $M^{\lambda}, M^{\lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2}$ 



The diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  can be obtained by swapping  $\alpha_1 \leftrightarrow \alpha_2$  in the simple factors.



*Proof.* We first need to determine the Verma factors of  $P^{\lambda}$  for any  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$ . By BGG reciprocity (Proposition 3.3.12), it is sufficient to determine which Verma modules  $M^{\mu}$  contain  $S^{\lambda}$  in their standard filtrations. Recall that  $M^{\mu}$  has a basis  $\{X_{-1}^{n_1}X_{-3}^{n_3}X_{-2}^{n_2}v_{\mu} \mid n_k \in \{0,1\}\},\$ so the weights of  $M^{\mu}$  are

$$\{\mu, \mu - \alpha_1, \mu - \alpha_2, \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2, \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2, \mu - \alpha_1 - 2\alpha_2, \mu - 2(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)\}.$$

We therefore see that the only possibilities for  $\mu$  such that  $[M^{\mu}: S^{\lambda}] \neq 0$  are those in the set

$$\Gamma(\lambda) := \{\lambda, \lambda + \alpha_1, \lambda + \alpha_2, \lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2, \lambda + 2\alpha_1 + \alpha_2, \lambda + \alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2, \lambda + 2(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)\}.$$

The corresponding scalars for the weights in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$  are

$$(\lambda + \alpha_1)_1 = \lambda_1 + 2 \qquad (\lambda + \alpha_1)_2 = \lambda_2 - 1 \qquad (5.2.1)$$

$$(\lambda + \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 - 1 \qquad (\lambda + \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + 2 \qquad (5.2.2)$$

$$(\lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + 1$$
  $(\lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + 1$  (5.2.3)

$$(\lambda + 2\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + 3$$
  $(\lambda + 2\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2$  (5.2.4)

$$(\lambda + \alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 \qquad (\lambda + \alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + 3 \qquad (5.2.5)$$

$$(\lambda + 2\alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + 2 \qquad (\lambda + 2\alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + 2 \qquad (5.2.6)$$

Suppose that  $\lambda_1 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ . Then each weight  $\mu \in \Gamma(\lambda)$  satisfies  $\mu_1 \in \mathbb{Z}, \mu_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ . Since we are looking for those  $M^{\mu}$  such that  $[M^{\mu}, S^{\lambda}] \neq 0$ ,  $\mu$  must be atypical, hence  $\mu_1 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ . It then follows from Equations (5.2.1)-(5.2.6) that the only weights in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$  of this type are  $\lambda, \lambda + \alpha_1, \lambda + \alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2$ , and  $\lambda + 2(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)$ . It then follows from Proposition 5.1.4 that the only weights in this list whose corresponding Verma module contains  $S^{\lambda}$  as an irreducible factor is  $\lambda$  and  $\lambda + \alpha_1$ . Hence,  $P^{\lambda}$  has Verma length two with factors  $M^{\lambda}$  and  $M^{\lambda+\alpha_1}$ , and that the irreducible factors of  $P^{\lambda}$  are  ${}^{(4)}S^{\lambda}$  with multiplicity two and  ${}^{(4)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_1}, {}^{(4)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}$  with multiplicity one. It follows immediately from Lemma 5.2.2 that the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  is:



Loewy Diagram for  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ 

The argument for  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  is identical. Suppose that  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then every  $\mu \in \Gamma(\lambda)$  has  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ , and we easily check using Equation (5.2.1)-(5.2.6) that only  $\mu = \lambda, \lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2$ , and  $\lambda + 2(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)$  satisfy  $\mu_1 + \mu_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . By Proposition 5.1.4,  $S^{\lambda}$  does not appear in the Loewy diagram of  $M^{\lambda+2(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}$ , but does appear in the diagrams for  $M^{\lambda}$  and  $M^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$ . So, the Verma factors of  $P^{\lambda}$  are  $M^{\lambda}$  and  $M^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$  and the irreducible factors are  ${}^{(4)}S^{\lambda}$  with multiplicity two and  ${}^{(4)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$ ,  ${}^{(4)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$  with multiplicity 1. It again follows immediately from Lemma 5.2.2 that the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  is given by



Suppose now that  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then, one checks again using Equations (5.2.1)-(5.2.6) that the atypical weights in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$  are  $\lambda, \lambda + \alpha_2, \lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2, \lambda + 2\alpha_1 + \alpha_2, \lambda + 2\alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2$ . It then follows from Proposition 5.1.4 and BGG reciprocity in the usual way that the Verma factors are  $M^{\lambda}, M^{\lambda+\alpha_1}$ , and  $M^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$  where

$$(\lambda + \alpha_2)_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z} \qquad (\lambda + \alpha_2)_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$(\lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2)_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z} \qquad (\lambda + \alpha_1 + \alpha_2)_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$

and the Loewy diagrams for the Verma factors are therefore given by



We therefore see that the factors in the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  are  ${}^{(3)}S^{\lambda}$  with multiplicity 3,  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}$ ,  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_2}$ , and  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  with multiplicity 2, and  ${}^{(3)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_2-\alpha_1}$ ,  ${}^{(3)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$ , and  ${}^{(3)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  with multiplicity 1. It then follows immediately from Lemma 5.2.2 that the Loewy diagram for  $P^{\lambda}$  (possibly with missing arrows) is given by



Partial Loewy diagram for  $P^{\lambda}$ 

where we have filled in the arrows we get for free from the Loewy diagrams of Verma modules and the dual arrows from Lemma 5.2.2. It remains only to determine if there exist arrows from the second to third row in the diagram which are currently missing (arrows from the third to fourth row are then determined by Lemma 5.2.2). Suppose there exists a module  $M \in \mathcal{C}$  such that  $0 \to {}^{(3)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \to M \to {}^{(1)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_2} \to 0$  holds. It follows from Proposition 5.1.2 that  $ch[M] = z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - 2\alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - 2(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)} + z^{\lambda + \alpha_2}$ . Hence,  $X_{\pm i} \cdot M(\lambda + \alpha_2) \subset M(\lambda + \alpha_2 \pm \alpha_i) = \emptyset$  for i = 1, 2 and therefore  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda + \alpha_2}$  must be a summand. That is,  $\operatorname{Ext}^{1}({}^{(3)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}},{}^{(1)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_{2}}) = \emptyset$  and an identical argument shows that  $\operatorname{Ext}^{(3)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}, {}^{(1)}S^{\lambda-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2} = \emptyset$ . Therefore, there are no arrows from  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_2}$  to  $^{(3)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  or from  $^{(1)}S^{\lambda-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  to  $^{(3)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_1+\alpha_2}$ . Hence, the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  is given by the partial diagram above with an additional arrow from  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}$  in the second row to  $^{(3)}S^{\lambda}$  in the third row, and an arrow from  $^{(3)}S^{\lambda}$  in the third row to  $^{(1)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}$  in the fourth. We must now determine the arrows originating from  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}$  in the second row. However, by the same argument as above we easily find that  $\operatorname{Ext}^{(3)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_2-\alpha_1}, {}^{(1)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}) = \emptyset$ . To complete the proof, we observe that Lemma 5.2.1 implies the existence of an arrow from  $^{(1)}S^{\lambda-\alpha_2}$  in the second row to  ${}^{(3)}S^{\lambda}$  in the third, since if such an arrow does not exist, there would be a quotient of  $P^{\lambda}$  whose Loewy diagram contradicts the Lemma.

To determine the Verma length of totally atypical  $P^{\lambda}$  ( $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ ), one checks by

the usual method that the atypical weights in  $\Gamma(\lambda)$  are  $\lambda, \lambda + \alpha_1, \lambda + \alpha_2, \lambda + 2\alpha_1 + \alpha_2, \lambda + \alpha_1 + 2\alpha_2, \lambda + 2(\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)$ . All corresponding Verma modules contain  $S^{\lambda}$  with multiplicity one in their Loewy diagrams by Proposition 5.1.4. Therefore  $P^{\lambda}$  has Verma length 6. It follows again from Proposition 5.1.4 that the irreducible factors for  $P^{\lambda}$  are  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda+2(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}$ ,  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda+2(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}, {}^{(1)}S^{\lambda\pm2\alpha_1}, {}^{(1)}S^{\lambda\pm2\alpha_2}$  with multiplicity 1,  ${}^{(3)}S^{\lambda+\alpha_1+2\alpha_2}, {}^{(3)}S^{\lambda+2\alpha_1+\alpha_2}, {}^{(3)}S^{\lambda\pm\alpha_1}, {}^{(3)}S^{\lambda\pm\alpha_2}$  with multiplicity 2, and  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda}$  with multiplicity 6. By Lemma 5.2.2, the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  must have an odd number of rows (since otherwise all factors would have even multiplicity), and therefore the multiplicity one factors must all lie in the center row. Further, we know that  $M^{\lambda+2(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}$  is a submodule of  $P^{\lambda}$  by the argument in [Hu, Proposition 3.7 (a)] since  $\lambda + 2(\alpha_2 + \alpha_2)$  is maximal among the weights of  $P^{\lambda}$ , so the irreducible submodule  ${}^{(1)}S^{\lambda}$  of  $M^{\lambda+2(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}$  is the socle of  $P^{\lambda}$ . Note that  $S^{\lambda+2(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}$  has multiplicity 1 in  $P^{\lambda}$  and therefore lies in the center row, so the socle filtration of  $P^{\lambda}$  has length 5. It therefore follows from Lemma 5.2.2 that the Loewy diagram of  $P^{\lambda}$  must take the following form:



Here, we have filled in the arrows we get for free from the Loewy diagrams in Proposition 5.1.4 of the Verma factors of  $P^{\lambda}$  (red arrows), Lemma 5.2.2 (blue arrows), and the definition of Loewy diagram (green arrows). One can easily check using the same character argument as the previous case that there are no missing arrows from the second row to the third row,

and hence no missing arrows from the third row to the fourth row by Lemma 5.2.2.

#### **Tensor Structure** 5.3

 $(\lambda$ 

Here we compute all tensor products  $S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}$  when  $M^{\mu}$  is projective. To do this, we use Proposition 3.3.13 and the fact that projectives form a tensor ideal in  $\mathcal{C}$  since  $\mathcal{C}$  is pivotal (see [GPV, Lemma 17]). The argument in [CGP2, Lemma 7.1] can be easily adapted to our setting to show that  $M^{\mu}$  is projective iff  $\mu$  is typical. Recall from Proposition 5.1.2 that the character of  $M^{\mu}$  is given by

$$\operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda}] = \sum_{\substack{n_{\alpha}=0\\\alpha\in\Delta^{+}}}^{1} z^{\lambda-\sum_{\alpha\in\Delta^{+}}n_{\alpha}\alpha} = z^{\lambda} \prod_{\alpha\in\Delta^{-}} \left(\frac{z^{2\alpha}-1}{z-1}\right).$$

where  $\Delta^{\pm}$  are the sets of positive and negative roots. It follows from the above equation that the character of tensor product of Verma modules is given by

$$\operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \sum_{n_1=0}^{1} \sum_{n_2=0}^{1} \sum_{n_3=0}^{1} \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-n_1\alpha_1-n_2\alpha_2-n_3(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}]$$
(5.3.1)

To determine tensor products, we must determine the typicality of the weights appearing in the character formula. We first note the following identities:

$$(\lambda + \mu)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 - 1 \qquad (\lambda + \mu)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 1 \qquad (5.3.2)$$

$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 - 3 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 \qquad (5.3.3)$$
$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 3 \qquad (5.3.4)$$

$$-\alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 3 \qquad (5.3.4)$$

$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 - 2 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 2 \qquad (5.3.5)$$

$$(\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 - 4 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 1 \qquad (5.3.6)$$

$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - 2\alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 - 1 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - 2\alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 4 \qquad (5.3.7)$$

$$(\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - 2\alpha_2)_1 = \lambda_1 + \mu_1 - 3 \qquad (\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - 2\alpha_2)_2 = \lambda_2 + \mu_2 - 3 \qquad (5.3.8)$$

If all of the above weights are typical, then we have

$$M^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong \bigoplus_{\substack{n_i=0\\i=1,2,3}}^{1} M^{\lambda+\mu-n_1\alpha_1-n_2\alpha_2-n_3(\alpha_1+\alpha_2)}$$
(5.3.9)

by Proposition 3.3.13. Let  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  be such that  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ , so  $S^{\lambda}$  has dimension 3 and character  $z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1} + z^{\lambda - (\alpha_1 + \alpha_2)}$  by Proposition 5.1.2. Then, we have

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \left(z^{\lambda+\mu} + z^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}} + z^{\lambda+\mu-(\alpha_{1}+\alpha_{2})}\right) \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{-}} \left(\frac{z^{2\alpha}-1}{z-1}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}}]$$

Therefore, if  $\mu_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then by equations (5.3.2), (5.3.3), and (5.3.5),  $\lambda + \mu$ is typical and  $\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1, \lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  are atypical with  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ . It follows from Theorem 5.2.3 that the Verma factors of  $P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$ are  $M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  and  $M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1}$ . Hence, we have  $\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}]$ . It then follows from Proposition 3.3.13 that

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}.$$

If  $\mu_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mu_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ , then by equations (5.3.2), (5.3.3), and (5.3.5),  $\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  is typical and  $\lambda + \mu, \lambda + \mu - \alpha_1$  are atypical. By the same argument above, we see that

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1}$$

If  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then in the same way as before, we see that  $\lambda + \mu, \lambda + \mu - \alpha_1$ , and  $\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$ are all atypical and  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . It then follows from Theorem 5.2.3 that the Verma factors of  $P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$  are  $M^{\lambda + \mu}, M^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1}$ , and  $M^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$ . We therefore have  $\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \operatorname{ch}[P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}]$ , so we see that

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}.$$

Letting  $\lambda_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , and performing the same analysis, we obtain the following

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \qquad \text{when } \mu_{1} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \, \mu_{2} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$$
$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{2}} \qquad \text{when } \mu_{1} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \, \mu_{2} \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$$
 when  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ 

Now, let  $\lambda \in \mathfrak{h}^*$  with  $\lambda_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . Then by Proposition 5.1.2, dim $(S^{\lambda}) = 4$  and has character  $z^{\lambda} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1} + z^{\lambda - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2} + z^{\lambda - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$ . We then have

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \left(z^{\lambda+\mu} + z^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}} + z^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} + z^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}}\right) \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{-}} \left(\frac{z^{2\alpha}-1}{z-1}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}}].$$

If  $\mu_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mu_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ , then the highest weights of the Verma modules appearing in the character are all typical, so their direct sum is projective and we have

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2}.$$
 (5.3.10)

If  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then it follows from equations (5.3.2), (5.3.3), (5.3.5), and (5.3.6) that  $\lambda + \mu$ and  $\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  are typical, while  $\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1$  and  $\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  are atypical with  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . It follows from Theorem 5.1.4 that  $P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$  has Verma factors  $M^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}$  and  $M^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1}$ . Hence,  $\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2}] + \operatorname{ch}[P^{\lambda_{\mu} - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}]$  so we have

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}.$$

If  $\mu_1 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  and  $\mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then we have three distinct cases:  $\lambda_1 + \mu_1 \notin \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_1 + \mu_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , and  $\lambda_1 + \mu_1 \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$ . In the first case, the highest weights of the Verma modules appearing in the character of  $S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}$  are again typical, so the tensor product is given by equation (5.3.10). In the second case, use equations (5.3.2)-(5.3.8) again to determine that  $\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2$  is typical while the other weights are atypical and  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . It follows from Proposition 5.2.3 that  $\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2}] + \operatorname{ch}[P^{\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2}]$ , so we have

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}.$$

In the third case of  $\lambda_1 + \mu_1 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , by the usual argument we see that  $\lambda + \mu$  is the only typical weight while  $(\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $(\lambda + \mu - 2\alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , so we get an

equivalence of characters from Theorem 5.2.3 and

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$$

Suppose now that  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ . If  $\lambda_1 + \mu_1 \notin \mathbb{Z}$ , all highest weights of the Verma modules appearing in the character of  $S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}$  are typical and the tensor product is again given by equation (5.3.10). If  $\lambda_1 + \mu_1 \in \mathbb{Z}$ , then an analysis identical to the analogous cases above gives

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}} \qquad \text{if } \lambda_{1}+\mu_{1} \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \qquad \text{if } \lambda_{1}+\mu_{1} \in 1+2\mathbb{Z}$$

The cases for  $\lambda_1 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  are symmetric. If  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then  $S^{\lambda}$  is one dimensional and we have  $S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu}$ . We are therefore left only with the case  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ . By Proposition 5.1.2, we have

$$\operatorname{ch}[S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}] = (z^{\lambda+\mu} + z^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}} + z^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{2}} + z^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}}) \prod_{\alpha \in \Delta^{-}} \left(\frac{z^{2\alpha}-1}{z-1}\right)$$
$$= \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{2}}] + \operatorname{ch}[M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}}].$$

If  $\mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then we see immediately from equations (5.3.2)-(5.3.8) that  $\gamma_1, \gamma_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$  for  $\gamma = \lambda + \mu, \lambda + \mu - \alpha_1, \lambda + \mu - \alpha_2, \lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2$ . Further, we have

$$(\lambda + \mu)_3 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1)_3 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_2)_3 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$(\lambda + \mu - \alpha_1 - \alpha_2)_3 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$$

so we know  $\lambda + \mu - \alpha_k$ , k = 1, 2 are typical. It follows from Theorem 5.2.3 that  $P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$ has Verma factors  $M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  and  $M^{\lambda+\mu}$ , so the characters of  $S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu}$  and  $M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$  coincide and the modules are isomorphic. In the same way, one can show that in the other cases for  $\mu$  typical, all weights are typical and

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_2} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2}$$

**Proposition 5.3.1.** Let  $i, j \in \{1, 2\}$  with  $i \neq j$ . If  $\lambda_i \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_j \in 2\mathbb{Z}$ , then

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \qquad \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \mu_{j} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$$
$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{j}} \qquad \text{when } \mu_{i} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \ \mu_{j} \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \qquad \text{when } \mu_{1}, \mu_{2} \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$

For  $\lambda_i \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$  and  $\lambda_j \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ , we get

$$\begin{split} S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{j}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{i}-2\alpha_{j}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}, \ \mu_{j} \in 2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{i}-2\alpha_{j}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} & \text{when } \mu_{i}, \mu_{2} \in 2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{j}-\alpha_{i}} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j} \in 2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-2\alpha_{j}-\alpha_{i}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j} \in 1+2\mathbb{Z} \\ S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} &\cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{j}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{1}-\alpha_{2}} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_{i}-2\alpha_{j}} & \text{when } \mu_{i} \in 2\mathbb{Z}, \ \lambda_{j} + \mu_{j} \notin \mathbb{Z} \end{split}$$

For  $\lambda_1, \lambda_2 \in \mathbb{C} \setminus \mathbb{Z}$ ,  $\lambda_3 = \lambda_1 + \lambda_2 \in 1 + 2\mathbb{Z}$ , we have

$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_2} \oplus P^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \qquad \text{If } \mu_1, \mu_2 \in 2\mathbb{Z}$$
$$S^{\lambda} \otimes M^{\mu} \cong M^{\lambda+\mu} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_2} \oplus M^{\lambda+\mu-\alpha_1-\alpha_2} \qquad \text{Otherwise}$$

## Bibliography

- [A1] D. Adamović, Classification of irreducible modules of certain subalgebras of free boson vertex algebra, J. Algebra 270 (2003) 115-132.
- [A2] D. Adamović, A construction of admissible  $A_1^{(1)}$ -modules of level -4/3, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, 196, 2-3, 2005, 119-134.
- [A3] D. Adamovic, A realization of certain modules for the N=4 superconformal algebra and the affine Lie algebra A2(1), Transformation Groups, Vol. 21, No. 2 (2016) 299-327.
- [Ara] T. Arakawa, Introduction to W-algebras and their representation theory, In: Callegaro F., Carnovale G., Caselli F., De Concini C., De Sole A. (eds) Perspectives in Lie Theory. Springer INdAM Series, vol 19. Springer.
- [Ara2] T. Arakawa, Rationality of W-algebras: Principal nilpotent cases. Annals of Mathematics, 182(2), second series, 565-604.
- [ACGY] D. Adamovic, T. Creutzig, N. Genra and J. Yang, The vertex algebras  $\mathcal{R}^{(p)}$  and  $\mathcal{V}^{(p)}$ , [arXiv:2001.08048].
- [ACKR] J. Auger, T. Creutzig, S. Kanade, M. Rupert, Braided Tensor Categories related to Bp Vertex Algebras, Commun. Math. Phys. (2020).
- [ACR] J. Auger, T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, Modularity of logarithmic parafermion vertex

algebras, Lett. Math. Phys. 108 (2018) no.12, 2543.

- [AD] P. C. Argyres and M. R. Douglas, New phenomena in SU(3) supersymmetric gauge theory, Nucl. Phys. B448 (1995) 93–126.
- [AKFPP] D. Adamovic, V. Kac, P.M. Frajria, P. Papi, O. Perse, Conformal embeddings of affine vertex algebras in minimal W-algebras II: decompositions, Jpn. J. Math. 12, 261–315 (2017).
- [AM1] D. Adamović, A. Milas, Logarithmic intertwining operators and  $\mathcal{W}(2,2r-1)$ algebras, J. Math. Phys. 48 (2007) 073503.
- [AM2] D. Adamović and A. Milas, On the triplet vertex algebra W(p), Adv. Math. 217 (2008) 2664.
- [AM3] D. Adamović and A. Milas, *Lattice construction of logarithmic modules for certain* vertex algebras, Selecta Mathematica, New Series 15 (2009) 535-561.
- [AM4] D. Adamovic and A. Milas, Some applications and constructions of intertwining operators in LCFT, Contemporary Mathematics, Volume 695, 2017.
- [AP] D. Adamovic and V. Pedic, On fusion rules and intertwining operators for the Weyl vertex algebra, arXiv:1903.10248.
- [APSW] P. C. Argyres, M. R. Plesser, N. Seiberg, and E. Witten, New N=2 superconformal field theories in four-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B461 (1996) 71–84.
- [AR] J. Auger, M. Rupert, On Infinite Order Simple Current Extensions of Vertex Operator Algebras, Contemporary Mathematics (2018) 711.
- [AS] N. Andruskiewitsch and C. Schweigert, On Unrolled Hopf Algebras, Journal of Knot Theory and Its Ramifications Vol. 27, No. 10, 1850053, 2018.
- [ASS] P. Agarwal, A. Sciarappa, and J. Song,  $\mathcal{N} = 1$  Lagrangians for generalized Argyres-

Douglas theories, JHEP 10 (2017) 211.

- [B] J. Bichon, Cosovereign Hopf Algebras, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra, Volume 157, Issues 2–3, 23 March 2001, Pages 121-133.
- [BCGP] C. Blanchet, F. Costantino, N. Geer, and B. Patureau-Mirand, Non Semi-Simple TQFTs from Unrolled Quantum sl(2), Proceedings of the Gokova Geometry-Topology Conference 2015, International Press of Boston, Inc., 2016 [arXiv:1605.07941].
- [BL] M. Buican and Z. Laczko, Nonunitary Lagrangians and unitary non-Lagrangian conformal field theories, Phys. Rev. Lett. **120** (2018), no. 8 081601.
- [BLN1] M. Buican, Z. Laczko, and T. Nishinaka, *Flowing from 16 to 32 Supercharges*, arXiv:1807.02785.
- [BLN2] M. Buican, Z. Laczko, and T. Nishinaka,  $\mathcal{N} = 2$  S-duality revisited, JHEP 09 (2017) 087.
- [BL+] C. Beem, M. Lemos, P. Liendo, W. Peelaers, L. Rastelli, and B. C. van Rees, Infinite Chiral Symmetry in Four Dimensions, Commun. Math. Phys. 336 (2015), no. 3 1359–1433.
- [BM] K. Bringmann and A. Milas, W-algebras, higher rank false theta functions, and quantum dimensions, Sel. Math. New Ser. (2017) 23: 1249.
- [BN1] M. Buican and T. Nishinaka, On Irregular Singularity Wave Functions and Superconformal Indices, JHEP 09 (2017) 066.
- [BN2] M. Buican and T. Nishinaka, On the superconformal index of Argyres-Douglas theories, J. Phys. A49 (2016), no. 1 015401.
- [BN3] M. Buican and T. Nishinaka, Conformal Manifolds in Four Dimensions and Chiral Algebras, J. Phys. A49 (2016), no. 46 465401.

- [C1] T. Creutzig, Fusion categories for affine vertex algebras at admissible levels. Sel. Math. New Ser. (2019) 25: 27.
- [C2] T. Creutzig, W-Algebras for Argyres-Douglas Theories, European Journal of Mathematics (2017) 3: 659.
- [C3] T. Creutzig, Logarithmic W-algebras and Argyres-Douglas theories at higher rank,J. High Energ. Phys. (2018) 2018: 188.
- [CCG] K. Costello, T. Creutzig and D. Gaiotto, *Higgs and Coulomb branches from vertex* operator algebras, JHEP **1903** (2019) 066.
- [CFK] T. Creutzig, J. Frohlich and S. Kanade, Representation theory of  $L_k(\mathfrak{osp}(1|2))$  from vertex tensor categories and Jacobi forms, Proc. Am. Math. Soc. **146** (2018) no.11, 4571.
- [CG1] T. Creutzig and T. Gannon, Logarithmic conformal field theory, log-modular tensor categories and modular forms, J. Phys. A **50** (2017) no.40, 404004.
- [CG2] T. Creutzig and D. Gaiotto, Vertex Algebras for S-duality, arXiv:1708.00875.
- [CG3] K. Costello and D. Gaiotto, Vertex Operator Algebras and  $3d \mathcal{N} = 4$  gauge theories, arXiv:1804.06460.
- [CGL] T. Creutzig, D. Gaiotto and A. R. Linshaw, S-duality for the large N = 4 superconformal algebra, Commun. Math. Phys. **374** (2020) no.3, 1787-1808.
- [CGP1] F. Costantino, N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, Some Remarks on the Unrolled Quantum Group of sl(2). J. Pure Appl. Algebra 219 (2015), no. 8, 3238–3262.
- [CGP2] F. Costantino, N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, Quantum invariants of 3-manifolds via link surgery presentations and non-semi-simple categories, Journal of Topology, Volume 7, Issue 4, December 2014, Pages 1005–1053,.

- [CGR] T. Creutzig, A. M. Gainutdinov, I. Runkel, A quasi-Hopf algebra for the triplet vertex operator algebra. Communications in Contemporary Mathematics. arXiv:1712.07260.
- [CGS1] C. Cordova, D. Gaiotto, and S.-H. Shao, Surface Defects and Chiral Algebras, JHEP 05 (2017) 140.
- [CGS2] C. Cordova, D. Gaiotto, and S.-H. Shao, Surface Defect Indices and 2d-4d BPS States, JHEP 12 (2017) 078.
- [CHJRY] T. Creutzig, C. Jiang, F. O. Hunziker, D. Ridout and J. Yang, Tensor Categories arising from the Virasoro Algebra, arXiv:2002.03180 [math.RT].
- [CHY] T. Creutzig, Y.-Z. Huang, and J. Yang. Braided tensor categories of admissible modules for affine Lie algebras. Comm. Math. Phys., 362:827-854, 2018.
- [CKL] T. Creutzig, S. Kanade, A. Linshaw, Simple Current Extensions Beyond Semi-Simplicity, Commun. Contemp. Math. arXiv:1511.08754.
- [CKLR2] T. Creutzig, S. Kanade, T. Liu and D. Ridout, Cosets, characters and fusion for admissible-level osp(1|2) minimal models, Nucl. Phys. B 938 (2019) 22.
- [CKLR] T. Creutzig, S. Kanade, A. Linshaw, and D. Ridout. Schur-Weyl duality for Heisenberg cosets. Transform. Groups. arXiv:1611.00305.
- [CKM] T. Creutzig, S. Kanade, R. McRae, *Tensor categories for vertex operator superal*gebra extensions, arXiv:1705.05017.
- [CLRW] T. Creutzig, T. Liu, D. Ridout and S. Wood, Unitary and non-unitary N = 2minimal models, arXiv:1902.08370.
- [CM1] T. Creutzig and A. Milas, False Theta Functions and the Verlinde formula, Adv. Math. 262 (2014) 520.

- [CM2] T. Creutzig and A. Milas, *Higher rank partial and false theta functions and repre*sentation theory, Adv. Math. **314** (2017) 203.
- [CMR] T.Creutzig, A. Milas, M. Rupert, Logarithmic Link Invariants of  $\overline{U}_q^H(\mathfrak{sl}_2)$  and Asymptotic Dimensions of Singlet Vertex Algebras, Journal of Pure and Applied Algebra 222, 10, (2018), 3224-3247.
- [CMW] T. Creutzig, A. Milas, and S. Wood, On Regularised Quantum Dimensions of the Singlet Vertex Operator Algebra and False Theta Functions, International Mathematics Research Notices, Volume 2017, Issue 5, 1 March 2017, Pages 1390–1432.
- [CN] J. Choi and T. Nishinaka, On the chiral algebra of Argyres-Douglas theories and S-duality, JHEP 04 (2018) 004.
- [CP] V. Chari, A. Pressley, A Guide to Quantum Groups, pp. 667. ISBN 0521558840.Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press, October 1995.
- [CR1] T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, Logarithmic Conformal Field Theory: Beyond an Introduction, J. Phys. A 46 (2013) 4006.
- [CR2] T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, Modular Data and Verlinde Formulae for Fractional Level WZW Models I, Nucl. Phys. B 865 (2012) 83.
- [CR3] T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, Modular Data and Verlinde Formulae for Fractional Level WZW Models II, Nucl. Phys. B 875 (2013) 423.
- [CR4] T. Creutzig and D. Ridout, Relating the Archetypes of Logarithmic Conformal Field Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 872 (2013) 348.
- [CRu] T. Creutzig and M. Rupert, Uprolling Unrolled Quantum Groups, [arXiv:1910.05922].
- [CRW] T. Creutzig, D. Ridout and S. Wood, Coset Constructions of Logarithmic (1,p)-Models, Lett. Math. Phys. 104, 5 (2014) 553-583.

- [CY] T. Creutzig and J. Yang, Tensor categories of affine Lie algebras beyond admissible level, arXiv:2002.05686 [math.RT].
- [D] M. De Renzi, Non-Semisimple Extended Topological Quantum Field Theories [arXiv:1703.07537].
- [DCK] C. De Concini and V. Kac, Representations of Quantum Groups at Roots of 1, In Operator algebras, unitary representations, enveloping algebras, and invariant theory. (Paris, 1989), 471-506, Progr. Math., 92, Birkhauser Boston, 1990.
- [DGGPR] M. De Renzi, A. Gainutdinov, N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, I. Runkel, 3-Dimensional TQFTS from Non-Semisimple Modular Categories [arXiv:1912.02063].
- [DGP] M. De Renzi, N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, Non-Semisimple Quantum Invariants and TQFTS from Small and Unrolled Quantum Groups, [arXiv:1812.10685].
- [DN] C. Dong, K. Nagatomo, Classification of Irreducible Modules for the Vertex Operator Algebra M(1)+: II. Higher Rank, Journal of Algebra Volume 240, Issue 1, 1 June 2001, Pages 289-325.
- [EGNO] P. Etingof, S. Gelaki, D. Nikshych, V. Ostrik, *Tensor Categories*, American Mathematical Society, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 205, 2015.
- [EHIY] T. Eguchi, K. Hori, K. Ito, and S.-K. Yang, Study of N=2 superconformal field theories in four-dimensions, Nucl. Phys. B471 (1996) 430–444.
- [ENO] P. Etingof, D. Nikshych, V. Ostrik, An analogue of Radford's S<sup>4</sup> formula for finite tensor categories, International Mathematics Research Notices, Volume 2004, Issue 54, 2004, Pages 2915–2933.
- [FB] E. Frenkel, D. Ben-Zvi, *Vertex Algebras and Algebraic Curves*, American Mathematical Society, Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, Vol. 88, 2001.

- [FG] B. Feigin and S. Gukov, VOA/M<sub>4</sub>/, arXiv:1806.02470.
- [FGR] V. Farsad, A. M. Gainutdinov and I. Runkel, SL(2,Z)-action for ribbon quasi-Hopf algebras, J. Algebra 522 (2019) 243.
- [FGST1] B. L. Feigin, A. M. Gainutdinov, A. M. Semikhatov and I. Y. Tipunin, Kazhdan-Lusztig correspondence for the representation category of the triplet W-algebra in logarithmic CFT, Theor. Math. Phys. 148 (2006) 1210 [Teor. Mat. Fiz. 148 (2006) 398]
- [FGST2] B. L. Feigin, A. M. Gainutdinov, A. M. Semikhatov and I. Y. Tipunin, Modular group representations and fusion in logarithmic conformal field theories and in the quantum group center, Commun. Math. Phys. 265 (2006) 47
- [FGST3] B. Feigin, A. Gainutdinov, A. Semikhatov and I. Tipunin, Logarithmic extensions of minimal models: Characters and modular transformations, Nucl. Phys. B 757 (2006), 303-343.
- [FGST4] B. Feigin, A. Gainutdinov, A. Semikhatov and I. Tipunin, Kazhdan-Lusztig-dual quantum group for logarithmic extensions of Virasoro minimal models, J. Math. Phys. 48 (2007), 032303.
- [Fi] M. Finkelberg, An equivalence of fusion categories, Geom. Funct. Anal. 6 (1996), 249-267.
- [FL] I. Flandoli and S. Lentner, Logarithmic conformal field theories of type  $B_n, \ell = 4$ and symplectic fermions, J. Math. Phys. **59** (2018) no.7, 071701
- [FPYY] L. Fredrickson, D. Pei, W. Yan, and K. Ye, Argyres-Douglas Theories, Chiral Algebras and Wild Hitchin Characters, JHEP 01 (2018) 150.
- [FrGa] E. Frenkel and D. Gaiotto, Quantum Langlands dualities of boundary conditions, D-modules, and conformal blocks, Commun. Num. Theor. Phys. 14 (2020) no.2, 199-313.

- [FS] M. Fluder and J. Song, Four-dimensional Lens Space Index from Two-dimensional Chiral Algebra, JHEP 07 (2018) 073.
- [FT] B. L. Feigin and I. Y. Tipunin, Logarithmic CFTs connected with simple Lie algebras, arXiv:1002.5047.
- [FZ] I. B. Frenkel and Y.Zhu, Vertex operator algebras associated to representations of affine and Virasoro algebras. Duke Math. J. 66 (1992), no. 1, 123–168.
- [Ga] M. R. Gaberdiel, Fusion rules and logarithmic representations of a WZW model at fractional level, Nucl. Phys. B 618 (2001) 407.
- [Gia] S. Giacomelli, *RG flows with supersymmetry enhancement and geometric engineering*, *JHEP* **06** (2018) 156.
- [GKP] N. Geer, J. Kujawa, B. Patureau-Mirand, Ambidextrous Objects and Trace Functions for NonSemisimple Categories, Proceedings of the AMS, Volume 141, No.9, September 2013, Pages 2963–2978.
- [GLO] A. Gainutdinov, S. Lentner, T. Ohrmann, Modularization of small quantum groups, [arXiv:1809.02116v2].
- [GP1] N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, Topological invariants from non-restricted quantum groups, Algebraic & Geometric Topology 13 (2013) 3305–3363.
- [GP2] N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, The trace on projective representations of quantum groups, Lett Math Phys (2018) 108: 117.
- [GPT1] N. Geer B. Patureau-Mirand, V. Turaev, Modified quantum dimensions and renormalized link invariants, Compositio Mathematica, Volume 145, Issue 1, January 2009, pp. 196-212
- [GPT2] N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, V. Turaev, Modified 6j-Symbols and 3-manifold invariants. Advances in Mathematics Volume 228, Issue 2, (2011), 1163-1202.

- [GPV] N. Geer, B. Patureau-Mirand, A. Virelizier, Traces on ideals in pivotal categories, Quantum Topol. 4 (2013), 91-124.
- [GR1] A. M. Gainutdinov and I. Runkel, *The non-semisimple Verlinde formula and pseudo-trace functions*, J. Pure Appl. Algebra **223** (2019) 660.
- [GR2] A. Gainutdinov and I. Runkel, Symplectic fermions and a quasi-Hopf algebra structure on  $\overline{U}_i sl(2)$ , J. Algebra **476** (2017), 415-458.
- [H1] Y. Z. Huang, Vertex operator algebras and the Verlinde conjecture, Communications in Contemporary Mathematics Vol. 10, No. 01, pp. 103-154 (2008).
- [H2] Y. Z. Huang, Vertex operator algebras, the Verlinde conjecture and modular tensor categories, Proc. Nat. Acad. Sci. **102** (2005) 5352.
- [H3] Y. Z. Huang, *Rigidity and modularity of vertex tensor categories*, Communications in Contemporary Mathematics Vol. 10, No. 01, pp. 871-911 (2008).
- [H4] Y. Z. Huang, On the applicability of logarithmic tensor category theory, arXiv: 1702.00133.
- [H5] Y. Z. Huang, Affine Lie algebras and tensor categories, arXiv:1811.05123.
- [HKL] Y.-Z. Huang, A. Kirillov Jr. and J. Lepowsky, *Braided tensor categories and extensions of vertex operator algebras.* Comm. Math. Phys. 337 (2015), no. 3, 1143-1159.
- [Hu] J. Humphreys, Representations of Semisimple Lie Algebras in the BGG Category O, Graduate Studies in Mathematics, Volume 94, American Mathematical Society, 2008.
- [IS] K. Ito and H. Shu, ODE/IM correspondence and the Argyres-Douglas theory, JHEP
   08 (2017) 071.
- [J] M. Jimbo, A q-difference analogue of  $U(\mathfrak{g})$  and the Yang-Baxter equation, Lett

Math Phys (1985) 10: 63.

- [Kau] H. G. Kausch, Extended conformal algebras generated by a multiplet of primary fields, Phys. Lett. B 259 4 (1991) 448.
- [Kau2] H. G. Kausch, Symplectic fermions, Nucl. Phys. B **583** (2000), 513-541.
- [KL1] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig, Tensor structures arising from affine Lie algebras I, J. Amer. Math. Soc. (1993), 905-947.
- [KL2] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig, Tensor structures arising from affine Lie algebras II,
   J. Amer. Math. Soc. (1993), 949-1011.
- [KL3] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig, Tensor structures arising from affine Lie algebras III, J. Amer. Math. Soc. (1994), 335-381.
- [KL4] D. Kazhdan and G. Lusztig, Tensor structures arising from affine Lie algebras IV,
   J. Amer. Math. Soc. 7 (1994), 383-453 7.
- [KO] A. Kirillov Jr., V. Ostrik, On a q-analogue of the McKay correspondence and the ADE classification of sl2 conformal field theories. Adv. Math. 171 (2002), no. 2, 183-227.
- [KS] H. Kondo and Y. Saito, Indecomposable decomposition of tensor products of modules over the restricted quantum universal enveloping algebra associated to \$, Journal of Algebra, Volume 330, Issue 1, 15 March 2011, Pages 103-129.
- [KlS] A. Klimyk, K. Schmüdgen, Quantum Groups and Their Representations, Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg, 1997.
- [KSY] C. Kozaz, S. Shakirov, and W. Yan, Argyres-Douglas Theories, Modularity of Minimal Models and Refined Chern-Simons, arXiv:1801.08316.
- [KW] V. G. Kac and M. Wakimoto, A remark on boundary level admissible representa-

tions, arXiv:1612.07423.

- [L] G. Lusztig, Quantum groups at roots of 1, Geometriae Dedicata, Volume 35, pages 89–113(1990).
- [Le] S. D. Lentner, Quantum groups and Nichols algebras acting on conformal field theories, arXiv:1702.06431 [math.QA].
- [M] R. McRae, On the tensor structure of modules for compact orbifold vertex operator algebras, Math. Z. (2019).
- [Mi] A. Milas, Characters of Modules of Irrational Vertex Algebras, Kohnen W., Weissauer R. (eds) Conformal Field Theory, Automorphic Forms and Related Topics. Contributions in Mathematical and Computational Sciences, vol 8. Springer, Berlin, Heidelberg (2014).
- [Miy] M. Miyamoto, Modular invariance of vertex operator algebras satisfying C(2) cofiniteness, Duke Math. J., Volume 122, Number 1 (2004), 51-91.
- [MS] G. W. Moore and N. Seiberg, *Polynomial Equations for Rational Conformal Field Theories*, Phys. Lett. B **212** (1988) 451.
- [N] C. Negron Log-modular quantum groups at even roots of unity and the quantum Frobenius I, [arXiv:1812.02277].
- [NT] K. Nagatomo and A. Tsuchiya, The triplet vertex operator algebra W(p) and the restricted quantum group at root of unity, Adv. Studies in Pure Math. 61 (2011), "Exploring new structures and natural constructions in mathematical physics", K. Hasegawa et al. (eds.) [arXiv:0902.4606].
- [NY] A. Neitzke, F. Yan, Line defect Schur indices, Verlinde algebras and  $U(1)_r$  fixed points, J. High Energ. Phys. (2017) 2017: 35.
- [O] T. Ohtsuki Quantum invariants. A study of knots, 3-manifolds and their sets,

Series on Knots and Everything, 29. World Scientific Publishing Co. Inc. River Edge, NJ, 2002.

- [R] M. Rupert, Categories of Weight Modules for Unrolled Restricted Quantum Groups at Roots of Unity, [arXiv:1910.05922].
- [Ri] D. Ridout, Fusion in Fractional Level sl(2)-Theories with k = -1/2, Nucl. Phys. B 848 (2011) 216.
- [Ri2] D. Ridout, *sl*(2)(-1/2): A Case Study, Nucl. Phys. B **814** (2009) 485.
- [Ri3] D. Ridout,  $sl(2)_{-1/2}$  and the Triplet Model, Nucl. Phys. B 835 (2010) 314
- [Ru] M. Rupert, Logarithmic Hopf Link Invariants for the Unrolled Restricted Quantum Group of  $\mathfrak{sl}(2)$ , Masters Thesis, University of Alberta.
- [Run] I. Runkel, A braided monoidal category for free super-bosons, J. Math. Phys. 55 (2014), 041702.
- [RW1] D. Ridout and S. Wood, The Verlinde formula in logarithmic CFT, J. Phys. Conf. Ser. 597 (2015) no.1, 012065.
- [RW2] D. Ridout and S. Wood, Bosonic Ghosts at c = 2 as a Logarithmic CFT, Lett. Math. Phys. **105** (2015) no.2, 279.
- [S] K. Shimizu, Non-degeneracy conditions for braided finite tensor categories, Advances in Mathematics Volume 355, 15 October 2019, 106778.
- [S2] K. Shimizu, Recent developments of the categorical Verlinde formula, [arXiv:1708.09063]
- [So] J. Song, Superconformal indices of generalized Argyres-Douglas theories from 2d TQFT, JHEP **1602** (2016) 045.

- [Su] S. Sugimoto, On the Feigin-Tipunin conjecture, [arXiv:2004.05769].
- [SXY] J. Song, D. Xie and W. Yan, Vertex operator algebras of Argyres-Douglas theories from M5-branes, JHEP **1712** (2017) 123.
- [TW] A. Tsuchiya and S. Wood, The tensor structure on the representation category of the  $W_p$  triplet algebra, J. Phys. A **46** (2013) 445203.
- [V] E. P. Verlinde, Fusion Rules and Modular Transformations in 2D Conformal Field Theory, Nucl. Phys. B 300 (1988) 360.
- [XY1] D. Xie and W. Yan, W algebra, Cosets and VOAs for  $4d \mathcal{N} = 2 SCFT$  from M5 branes, arXiv:1902.02838.
- [XY2] D. Xie and W. Yan, Schur sector of Argyres-Douglas theory and W-algebra, arXiv:1904.09094.
- [XYY] D. Xie, W. Yan, and S.-T. Yau, Chiral algebra of Argyres-Douglas theory from M5 brane, arXiv:1604.02155.
- [XZ] D. Xie and P. Zhao, Central charges and RG flow of strongly-coupled N=2 theory, JHEP **03** (2013), 006.
- [Zha] Lin Zhang, Vertex tensor category structure on a category of Kazhdan-Lusztig, New York J. Math. 14 (2008) 261-284.
- [Zhu] Y. Zhu. Modular invariance of characters of vertex operator algebras, Journal of the American Mathematical Society, vol. 9, no. 1, 1996, pp. 237–302.